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OUR VISION IS TO ENSURE A GLOBAL IMPACT
FOR A SAFE AND SUSTAINABLE FUTURE
FOR OUR CUSTOMERS AND, ULTIMATELY,
SOCIETY AT LARGE.

DNV IN BRIEF

MAIN SERVICES

DNV was established in 1864 and is an independent,
autonomous foundation with the purpose of safeguarding life, property and the environment. With 300
offices in 100 countries, DNV serves customers in the
maritime and oil and gas industries worldwide, as well
as other business segments such as the food and beverage industry, automotive and IT and telecoms sector
DNV is an international organisation, and more than
70% of its revenue arises from activities outside Norway.
DNV’s total income in 2007 was approximately 8 billion
NOK. Considerable growth was registered, particularly
in Asia; total operating profit for 2007 was satisfactory
and above the level for the previous year
Staff: 7 691 employees of 98 nationalities
Investment in research and development in 2007:
550 million NOK
DNV secured 19% of the world order book in 2007,
equal to 741 ships. A total of 5 400 trading vessels,
representing 121 million gross tons, were classed by
DNV at year-end – an all-time high for DNV

177 mobile offshore units to DNV class
Projects completed or under way at more than
40 refineries around the world
More than 70 000 certificates issued worldwide
DNV’s system for safety rating (ISRS) is being used
by 65 corporations in 20 countries covering 93 000
employees

CLASSIFICATION
DNV Classification Rules including IMO Regulations
– Ships of all types
– Mobile and fixed offshore units
– Submarine pipelines
Classification/certification of materials, equipment
and marine systems

Over 100 000 samples of ships’ bunker fuel analysed
by DNV Petroleum Services in 2007
DNV is focused on enhancing the positive impacts our
core business activities have on society. This is manifested
both in how we conduct our business and how the
company is managed

(figures in mill. NOK)

Personnel Certification
Climate change
Corporate responsibility
CONSULTING SERVICES
Enterprise risk management

Safety Management Certification

Information and communication technology

Fuel testing

Safety, health and environmental risk management
Operations excellence

CERTIFICATION
Certification of offshore installations

Verification, inspection and testing
Emergency response services

Accredited quality management system certification to ISO
standards and industry sector specific quality standards such
as ISO/TS 16949 (automotive), TL 9000 (telecom), ISO 13485
(medical devices), AS 9100 (aerospace), ISO 22000 (food)
and others

DNV has strengthened its position in all its main areas
of activity in 2007. Considerable growth in the number
of employees, turnover and profitability ensures a sound
financial foundation, which is required to secure the
independence and integrity of DNV’s operations.

KEY FIGURES

Product Certification

Accredited environmental management system certification
(ISO 14001 and EMAS), occupational health and safety
(OHSAS 18001) and information security (ISO 27001)

EMPLOYEES

Loss control management
Performance measurement
Training and competence building
DNV performs its services in a truly independent manner.
As a self-owned foundation, there are no shareholders or
government representatives in any of its decision making
bodies. All profit is reinvested in the foundation.

WORLDWIDE PRESENCE
3% 5%

4%

Operating revenue
Net profit
Equity
Equity ratio (%)
Return on assets (%)
Cash flow
Employees as at 31 Dec

2007
8 126
536
4 492
64.9%
14.4%
749
7 691

2006
7 297
546
3 895
61.0%
15.3%
710
6 765

2005
6 683
528
3 239
59.3%
16.4%
678
6 095

2004
5 945
223
2 699
62.5%
11.9%
397
6 236

2003
5 753
402
2 169
50.8%
15.2%
485
5 989

I

37%

18%

Master 37%
I Bachelor 35%
I Doctorate 4%
I Technical 2%
I 2-year college 4%
I Other 18%

4%
2%

35%

29%

I

Norway 29%
24%
I Americas 12%
I Africa 1%
I Asia and Oceania 26%
I Europe 24%
I Middle East 3%
I Nordic and Baltic countries 5%

1%
12%
26%
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BUSINESS AREAS
DNV operates in a wide range of industries internationally
and is organised into four business areas:
DNV MARITIME
DNV is one of the world’s leading classification societies. We
help the maritime industry manage risk in all phases of a ship’s
life, through ship classification, statutory certification, fuel testing
and a range of technical, business risk and competency-related
services.
DNV INDUSTRY
DNV is a world-leading certification body and a global provider
of solutions for managing risk. We work to create trust and
confidence and help our customers achieve and maintain
sustainable performance.

DNV IT GLOBAL SERVICES
DNV helps finance, telecommunications, government, defence,
aerospace and automotive sector organisations to achieve more
effective IT risk management, encompassing greater efficiency
and predictability of IT-dependent processes and software.
INDEPENDENT BUSINESS UNITS
In addition to our four business areas, DNV has two independent
business units: DNV Research and Innovation ensures the development of knowledge, technology and prototypes of future
tools and services. DNV Software develops innovative software
solutions for the maritime, offshore and process industries.

DNV ENERGY
DNV provides advanced cross-disciplinary competence within
technology, operations, management and risk for companies
across the energy sector. We deliver cutting-edge solutions for
managing business risks, enhancing business performance and
improving safety and environmental performance.

DNV GROWTH
1966 804
1975 1 513

51
301

1985 3 184
1995 3 681

1 591
3 071

2005 6 095

6 683

2006 6 765

7 297

2007 7 691
I

Number of employees: 7 691

8 126
I

Revenue in million NOK: 8 126

DNV in brief

Our purpose
To safeguard life, property, and the environment

Our values
We build trust and confidence
We never compromise on quality or integrity
We are committed to teamwork and innovation
We care for our customers and each other

Our vision
Global impact for a safe and sustainable future

DNV in brief

Concern for the environment
DNV’s environmental principles are marked by:
Environmental awareness and commitment
throughout the organisation
Exercising environmental leadership and
goal-setting beyond compliance with laws,
regulations and requirements
Emphasis on research and development to improve
environmental aspects of our products and services
Environmentally friendly operation of all DNV
offices and laboratories, on a level corresponding
to ISO 14000 standards. DNV will give preference
to environmentally friendly products,
promote energy conservation, minimise waste
generation and strive for the reduction of pollution
and green house gas emissions.
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Making a difference
Long trusted for our competence and integrity, DNV works to have a positive global impact on some of the
world’s most pressing concerns, such as safeguarding the environment and balancing the needs of business
and society.
Indeed, we are publishing this report at a time of intense debate
about the role of business in tomorrow’s society, particularly in
relation to climate change. There has been an emergence of
new economies. Media interest in sustainable development has
never been so high. The financial markets are beginning to act
on and reflect this. The world’s population is growing and people
in emerging economies are rightfully demanding their lives to
improve. All in all, there is a growing sense of urgency.
However, the general consensus seems to be that we are not
moving fast enough. So the big question is: how are we going
to respond?
As a member of the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, DNV agrees with the view that companies must
address this major issue as part of their business strategies, not
least because it makes business sense. A business’s long-term
competitiveness will increasingly depend on how it embraces
societal challenges.

over the past few decades, it should be that we are all inextricably
linked and that our actions all impact upon one another. Nowhere
is this truer than for climate change.
Rising to the challenge will therefore require coordinated efforts.
This will be a huge task, but we remain committed to making a
positive difference. Strong growth in the global economy throughout the year helped strengthen our position in all our core areas
in 2007. The high level of activity, sharp rise in the number of
employees and considerable increase in revenues and profits
ensure we have a sound financial basis for the future. Our focus,
as ever, is on building a sustainable future for our customers
and, ultimately, society at large.
I hope you find our 2007 report both interesting and informative.
We are all on a sustainability journey. There is a long way to go,
but we hope that our customers and business partners will read
this report and feel secure that our vision to ensure a ‘global
impact for a safe and sustainable future’ remains at the centre
of everything we do.

In terms of DNV’s role in this critical, global issue, we have over
the past 10 years developed a range of services that assist companies, organisations and governments in their efforts to fight,
mitigate and adapt to climate change. We have established an
industry position in this field, and believe that our services will
become even more important in the future as companies push
to become climate neutral or even aim to be climate positive.
However, in spite of increasing evidence that more and more
companies are adhering to responsible environmental practices,
challenges still remain. If globalisation has taught us anything
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HENRIK O. MADSEN
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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THE DNV MANAGEMENT TEAM:
1. President and Chief Executive Officer Henrik O. Madsen
2. COO DNV Energy Remi Eriksen
3. Director of Corporate HR and Competence Cecilie B. Heuch
4. Chief Financial Officer Jostein Furnes
5. COO DNV Industry Peter Bjerager
6. COO DNV Maritime Tor E. Svensen
7. COO DNV IT Global Services Annie Combelles
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Report of the
Board of Directors 2007
Strong growth in the world economy throughout 2007, combined with an increasingly complex risk environment, makes it vital to manage technical, societal and business risks. Society is adopting a zero tolerance for
failure, and companies are expected to run safe, reliable and sustainable operations. DNV is in a unique position to meet these demands. The growth in the company’s turnover of 11% in 2007 demonstrates the need
for services to identify, assess and manage risk.

DNV has strengthened its position in all its main areas of activity
in 2007. Considerable growth in the number of employees, turnover and profitability ensures a sound financial foundation. This
is required to secure the competence, independence and integrity
of DNV’s operations.
Close to 19% of all contracted ship newbuildings worldwide
in 2007, measured in gross tons, have been ordered to DNV class.
This represents a strong position in a period of unprecedented
newbuilding activity. DNV’s focus on quality and its relentless
fight against substandard vessels and operations have attracted
leading shipping companies to DNV, both in the newbuilding
phase and for the follow-up of their fleets during operation.
Risk-based technology and management services are in great
demand in the oil and gas industry, ensuring a high level of
activity for DNV in the energy sector. High oil prices have made
it more sustainable to develop front-end technologies in pursuit
of new resources. The qualification of new technologies is a
stronghold for DNV. Brazil, China, India and North America
represent important areas of growth, while the North Sea is still
DNV’s largest single market for services to the oil and gas industry.
Accredited management system certification in the fields of
quality, environment, safety and health represents close to 25%
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of DNV’s total revenue. As DNV is one of the three leading certification bodies worldwide, management system certification is a
key element in the global DNV brand.
The increased international focus on climate change has led to
strong growth in DNV’s services supporting the quota trading
mechanisms under the Kyoto Protocol and other regional and
local schemes.
TRULY INDEPENDENT
DNV produced strong financial results in 2007, with a total
revenue growth of 11% and a net profit of NOK 536 million.
At year-end 2007, DNV’s equity ratio reached 65%. A sound
financial basis is a prerequisite for the independence and
integrity required to serve the purpose of “Safeguarding Life,
Property and the Environment.” The number of employees
increased by net 926 to a total of 7 691.
DNV is committed to reporting on environmental and social
aspects in addition to its financial accounts. The Global Reporting
Initiative (GRI) forms the basis for the triple-bottom-line reporting. DNV’s main environmental contribution is through the
improvement of customers’ environmental footprints by using
DNV’s environmental services.

>
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DNV’S BOARD OF DIRECTORS:
1. AXEL C. EITZEN Member of the Board since 2004. Chairman of the Board, Gard AS. Chairman of the Board of
the Executive Committee, Gard P&I Club. Chairman of the Board, Eitzen Chemical ASA. Chairman of the Board,
Eitzen Maritime Services ASA
2. YAN MA Member of the Board since 2007. Elected by the employees of DNV. Senior Surveyor, Site & Project
Manager, newbuilding management in DNV North China. Joined DNV in 1996.
3. ATLE BERGSHAVEN Chairman of the Board of Directors. Member of the Board since 2003. Chairman and
CEO of the Bergshav Group. Chairman of the Board of Sea4 AS and Member of the Boards of the Norwegian
Hull Club, North of England P&I Club and Fosen Mekaniske Verksteder. Council member of Intertanko.
4. C. MAURY DEVINE Member of the Board since 2000. Former President and Managing Director, Mobil
Exploration Norway, Inc. Former Fellow of Harvard University. Member of the Board of FMC Technologies Inc.
and the National Foreign Language Center. Member of the Council on Foreign Relations.
5. AUDUN BRANDSÆTER Member of the Board since 2002. Elected by the employees of DNV. Principal Engineer/
Head of Section, Information Quality Management. Joined DNV in 1982.
6. MARY GRACE ANDERSON Member of the Board since 2005. Location Manager – Europe, Shell Exploration
and Production International B.V. Member of the Board of A/S Norske Shell. Former Member of the Board of
Shell UK Ltd. Former Member of the Board of Enterprise Oil Ltd.
7. JOHN H. WIIK Member of the Board since 2003. Managing Director of the Norwegian Hull Club. Chairman
of the Board of Fana Sparebank.
8. TOM RUUD Member of the Board since 2002. Group Executive Vice President of Nordea Bank AB (publ),
Stockholm and member of the Group Executive Management. Chairman of the Board of NCSD AB, Stockholm.
Member of the Board of Total E&P Norge AS, Stavanger. Member of the Supervisory Board of Norske Skog
ASA, Oslo.
9. NIKSA PADOVAN Member of the Board since 2007. Elected by the European employees of DNV. Principal
Surveyor/ Project Manager, Marseille station, DNV France. Joined DNV in 1982.
10. SILLE GRJOTHEIM Member of the Board since 2007. Elected by the employees of DNV. Principal Engineer,
International Affairs, Maritime. Joined DNV in 1993.
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Corporate responsibility is high on the public agenda and a
growing concern for businesses. DNV has developed a concept
for Ethical Behaviour, which represents a valuable tool for companies to improve their ability to perform responsibly. DNV has
used the tool in own operations, and the Profile identified
improvement areas, enabling DNV to further reduce its exposure
to possible misconduct.
The Board of Directors regards DNV’s market position as strong
and financial status as satisfactory. This gives the company a robust
platform on which to base its efforts to achieve the newly formulated vision of “Global impact for a safe and sustainable future”.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Changes to the Norwegian Foundation Act have led to the transfer of approval of the annual accounts from the Council to the
Board of Directors.
The Board of Directors has been extended by one member, from
nine to ten. This extension represents a strengthening of the
employee representation from three to four board members.
The employees’ representatives now truly represent the diversity
of the DNV staff. Two of the employee representatives are elected
from the staff in Norway, one is elected from the rest of Europe
and one from the rest of the world, i.e. Asia and the Americas.
STRATEGY
The strategy approved in June 2006 was reviewed by the Board
in 2007, leading to only minor adjustments. The increased focus
on industry sectors lies firm. DNV concentrates on capital intensive and high risk industry sectors where the company has, or
intends to develop, an in-depth industry knowledge, and thus
have an impact. The two most important industry sectors are the
maritime industry and the energy sector. In June 2007, the food
and beverage industry was added as a priority sector for DNV.
Risk-based services have been developed to enhance food safety
and help global companies in this industry to manage their
demanding international supply chains. Certification schemes
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are also important elements in managing risk in the food and
beverage industry. DNV’s ambition is to develop a position in
this industry, where trust and confidence among consumers is
paramount.
Society and business are increasingly vulnerable to failures in
software and IT systems. DNV spends considerable resources
building an organisation to help customers manage risks related
to business and safety-critical software systems. This expertise
is relevant to all industries and organised as a separate business
area in DNV. However, one of DNV’s major objectives is to
introduce these new services to customers in the maritime and
energy sectors.
Risk and safety are the overriding features of the various research
programmes run by the strategic research unit, DNV Research
and Innovation. Technology qualification for carbon capture
and storage and cleaner and renewable energies are among
the prioritised areas in the energy sector. There is also a special
focus on fuel cell technology and the production and storage
of hydrogen. New challenges in the Arctic include evacuation
methodology and the need for more knowledge about ice loading and icing. Multifunctional materials and surfaces represent
another field of research, where the use of nanotechnology has
resulted in improved coatings.
MARITIME INDUSTRY
DNV Maritime’s strategic objective is to be the leading classification society in terms of quality, profitability and size. Regulatory
bodies and the public at large expect classification societies to
represent an effective safety net in the shipping industry. A strong
focus on quality has helped to maintain DNV’s position as one
of the classification societies with the lowest ratio of detentions
in the Port State Control regimes worldwide. This is one of the
main elements in DNV Maritime’s quality index, and represents
an important means of measuring the results of efforts to eradicate substandard shipping.

Report of the Board of Directors

The maritime industry is facing a major challenge to maintain
its safety level as capacity is being fully stretched both at shipyards and in many shipping companies. At the same time, new
players are entering the shipping scene. The lack of experience
at some shipyards, on board vessels and in organisations onshore
represents a risk that might lead to an increase in the number
of accidents.
Attracting and retaining people with the right competence is
a great challenge for all organisations in the maritime industry,
including classification societies. Due to society’s zero tolerance
for failure, all the international maritime industry’s stakeholders
need to play their part in the process of continuously improving
operations.
Deputy CEO and Head of DNV Maritime, Mr Tor E. Svensen, is
serving as chairman of the International Association of Classification Societies (IACS) for one year as from July 2007. This
gives DNV a strong influence on the development of the class
concept of the self-regulatory regime in international shipping.
The role of class and an increased focus on the environmental
performance of the maritime industry are topics that are high
on IACS’ agenda.
DNV and IACS both strongly support the IMO as the regulator
of the international maritime industry. The development of Goal
Based Standards by the IMO represents an important basis for
the class rules. Decisions on detailed technical standards need
to reside with the classification societies and not the IMO, which
has a higher level responsibility to set policy and safety goals and
to verify that class rules meet these goals.
In late January, 2008, the EFTA Surveillance Agency (ESA) carried out an unannounced inspection at DNV’s headquarters outside Oslo. According to ESA, the inspection was initiated to provide facts related to information given to the EU Commission of
activity among members of IACS, sought to reduce the level of
competition in the classification industry. A similar inspection
was made at the headquarters of Lloyd’s Register, Germanischer
Lloyd, RINA, Bureau Veritas and at the IACS secretariat in
London. If the inspections reveal IACS practices that are in conflict with EU competition regulations, DNV will work to change
IACS practices to bring them in line with EU expectations.
The DNV-classed share of the world fleet, measured in gross
tons, is approximately 16%. Of the newbuildings contracted
during 2007, DNV’s share of the world market was 19%. This
represents 741 ships. A total of 5 400 trading vessels, representing
121 million gross tons, were classed by DNV at year-end, which is
an all-time high for DNV.
ENERGY SECTOR
DNV Energy’s strategic objective is to become a leading provider
of solutions that integrate business risk management and technology expertise. The aim is to help customers safely and
responsibly improve their business performance.

Continued high oil prices and a growing demand for energy are
reasons for the high level of activity in the oil and gas sector.
This is also reflected in the high level of activity in DNV Energy,
demonstrating the need for risk-based services and qualification
of new technologies. DNV’s turnover related to upstream and
downstream activities, pipeline transport, utilities and cleaner
and renewable energies have shown an unprecedented growth
of 15%. The financial performance has been sound. A limiting
factor for further growth is the availability of competent and
experienced people.
DNV has achieved an increased number of projects with national oil companies as a result of a strategic shift in focus from primarily serving the international oil majors to more dedicated
efforts aimed also at national oil companies in countries with
significant oil and gas resources. Much of the future oil and gas
developments are expected to take place in regions with more
unstable political conditions and demanding business environments. This requires a strong focus on business ethics from all
levels in the DNV organisation.
Extraordinary efforts have been made to build an organisation
to serve the offshore classification segment for mobile offshore
units. These efforts have led to a sharp increase in DNV’s share
of the classification market for FPSOs and mobile rigs. DNV has
a market share of well above 40% of the new generation of
advanced drilling semis and -ships now under construction,
including most units intended for operation in harsh environment like the North Sea and offshore Canada.
DNV has also strengthened its leading position in the certification of offshore wind farms and in qualification of technologies
to enable carbon capture and storage.
KEY INDUSTRY SECTORS
Services to industries other than the maritime and energy industries are organised in DNV Industry. Its operations are based on
DNV’s global position as a leading provider of certification
services and strong expertise in risk management. Extensive
related training is provided worldwide. DNV’s increased focus on
industry sectors has led to priority being given to the food and
beverage, automotive, IT and telecom, transportation and healthcare industries.
The food and beverage industry has been selected as an industry
where DNV intends to build a global position as a provider of
risk management services. The leading companies in the food
and beverage industry are truly international and are all challenged by complex supply chain risks. They are dependent on
credibility in the consumer markets, and DNV’s services aim at
building trust and confidence in the sensitive food sector.
The market for accredited management system certification,
where DNV enjoys a position as one of the world’s three largest
certification bodies, is gradually maturing. One clear trend in
management system certification is the development of industryspecific certification schemes. This requires an in-depth knowledge and understanding of the individual industries.
>
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DNV is heavily engaged in making the emission trading mechanism of the Kyoto Protocol and other regional and local schemes
operational and credible. Quota trading has become an important way of fighting climate change by facilitating investments
being made where the emission reductions can be achieved
most cost-effectively and in a sustainable manner. This also contributes to sharing of relevant environmental technology worldwide. Services where DNV has a strong international position
within validation of emission reduction projects and verification
of actual emission reductions in specific projects, carbon inventory assessments and has furthermore an emerging position
within voluntary schemes.
Corporate responsibility has become an aspect of most companies’ increasingly complex risk reality. The verification of sustainability reports is part of DNV’s portfolio of services in this
area. Other services are within ethical supply chain management,
corporate governance assessment, and fraud and corruption
resistance.
DNV Industry deployed a worldwide customer and production
management system ConCert during 2007 covering key business
processes. The system represents the single, largest IT investment in DNV outside the maritime and energy areas.
IMPROVING IT PROCESSES
2007 was a year of integration for the four acquired companies
which make up the new business area DNV IT Global Services.
Its aim is to help large organisations improve the efficiency of
their IT-related processes and systems by assuring the safety and
integrity of business critical operations as well as maximising
returns on IT investments.
This is achieved through an in-depth knowledge of the software
and systems disciplines, business environment and IT-leading
technologies. An ability to effectively help customers to improve
competences and introduce robust solutions to business- and
safety-critical issues is crucial.
DNV IT Global Services targets specific market sectors, such as
the finance, telecom, automotive, aerospace, maritime and energy industries. DNV IT Global Services started to develop business
in cooperation with DNV Maritime and DNV Energy in early
2007 and has completed its first successful projects and gained
experience. The revised strategy has a special focus on global
customers where DNV’s competence portfolio is a key differentiator to bring value to the business.
ORGANISATION
Changes to the DNV organisation were introduced at the beginning of 2007 as a consequence of the new strategy. The business
area structure was changed, introducing DNV Energy, DNV
Industry and DNV IT Global Services as separate organisational
entities with new management teams. In this period of change,
DNV has seen a growth in revenue of 11% while maintaining a
satisfactory level of profitability. The Board appreciates the dedicated and hard work carried out by all the employees to achieve
these results.
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At year-end 2007, DNV had 7 691 employees, compared to
6 765 the previous year. The total number of employees includes
7 245 permanent staff and 446 employees on long-term contracts.
98 nationalities are represented in the staff.
The turnover of personnel during 2007 was 9.7%, compared to
9.4% in 2006, and the sickness absence rate was 2.0%. An international Attraction and Retention project has contributed to an
increase in systematic recruitment efforts worldwide, leading to
the achievement of ambitious growth targets in most parts of
DNV. The Board has encouraged an active and targeted recruitment policy, and realises that talented new staff needs efficient
induction programmes and continuous competence development
opportunities.
DNV makes great efforts to improve diversity in the organisation
and has an equal opportunity policy for all employees, irrespective of their nationality, gender or age. 67% of the managers are
from countries outside Scandinavia. The number of women in
management training programmes is rising, and the ratio of
female managers is now at 16%, an all-time high.
CORPORATE FOCUS AREAS
DNV’s most substantial contribution to environmental improvement is the improvements achieved by customers when using
DNV’s environmental services. Projects have been initiated to map
the environmental impact DNV’s services have on the customers’
environmental footprints. As part of its environmental commitment, DNV is further developing its environmental management
system based on the ISO 14001 standard. An environmental initiative has been established which makes NOK 40 million available
for DNV employees in 2008 to introduce initiatives that can
improve their and their families’ environmental footprint.
DNV’s own activities do not have significant negative impact on
the environment. Procedures for waste handling and energy
savings have been introduced in the international network of
offices as part of DNV’s Environmental Management System.
A survey has been initiated to identify in further detail and
subsequently improve DNV’s own environmental performance
with regard to areas such as emissions, energy consumption and
waste handling.
Procedures have been further developed for a country analysis to
enable decision support when establishing presence in countries
with difficult political conditions and business environments,
including widespread corruption. A training scheme has been
introduced as part of raising employees’ awareness of ethical
business conduct. “Dealing with dilemmas” is an interactive
workshop programme that introduces dilemmas from wellknown work environments and has dialogue training and recommends conduct. In addition, DNV has developed guidelines
“Crossing the line”, which displays practical cases where ethical
dilemmas need decisions based on international law and supported by the company’s value system.
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
The continued and strong growth in the world economy, with a
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high level of activity in most industries, has also resulted in good
financial performance and a solid and long-term order reserve
for DNV. DNV achieved operating revenue of NOK 8 126 million in 2007, NOK 829 million or 11% higher than in 2006. All
the business areas achieved growth in 2007, with the strongest
growth coming from DNV Maritime and DNV Energy.
The operating profit increased from NOK 794 million in 2006
to NOK 873 million in 2007, representing an operating margin
of 11%. The improvement in operating profit from 2006 to 2007
is NOK 79 million or 10%, reflecting a sound underlying financial performance in the business areas.
DNV does business in 70 currencies, and has subsidiaries and
branch offices in close to 100 countries. During 2007, the NOK
has strengthened more than 7% compared to DNV’s basket of
currencies, and the USD has weakened substantially, adversely
affecting the 2007 financial performance. The negative currency
effects are partly offset by the return on short-term financial
investments and a positive development of the hedging costs,
leading to net financial expenses of NOK 1 million in 2007.

unused available credit lines were NOK 750 million. DNV has
a strong balance sheet with a total equity of NOK 4 492 million,
or 65% of its total assets.
The accounts for the parent company, Stiftelsen Det Norske
Veritas, show a profit after tax of NOK 494 million, of which
NOK 500 million is dividend paid from Det Norske Veritas
Holding AS. The profit after tax has been allocated to Other
Equity. The Board of Directors confirms that the going concern
assumption applies and that the financial statement has been
prepared under this assumption.
OUTLOOK
DNV believes that the demand for its services will continue to
be high in 2008. This is based on the assumption of a continued
growth of the world economy, high energy prices and a high
level of activity in all our main markets.
The financial risks are primarily related to currency fluctuations,
and in particular related to a potential further strengthening of
the NOK against the US Dollar. More volatile bond and stock
markets can also have negative effects.

The tax cost in 2007 of NOK 336 million gives an average tax
cost of 38%, an increase from 34% in 2006, mainly caused by
non tax-deductible goodwill depreciations. The net profit after
tax for 2007 is NOK 536 million, which can be compared to
NOK 546 million in 2006 and NOK 528 million in 2005.

DNV is in a strong financial position with a 65% equity ratio and
no interest bearing debt. This represents a unique strength and
gives DNV a considerable freedom to pursue new future opportunities.

DNV has a sound cash flow and no interest-bearing debt. Shortterm financial investments in equity funds and in the money
market amount to NOK 1 529 million, and by year-end the

The order reserve is satisfactory at the start of 2008 for all
business areas, and DNV expects a sound growth in revenue
throughout 2008.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF STIFTELSEN DET NORSKE VERITAS
Høvik, 17. April 2008

ATLE BERGSHAVEN
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C. MAURY DEVINE

TOM RUUD

AUDUN BRANDSÆTER

AXEL C. EITZEN

YAN MA

MARY GRACE ANDERSON

JOHN H. WIIK

SILLE GRJOTHEIM

HENRIK O. MADSEN
President and Chief Executive Officer
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AN INCREASING NUMBER OF COMPANIES
SEE OPPORTUNITIES IN DEVELOPING PRODUCTS AND SERVICES
TO BOTH MITIGATE AND ADAPT TO CLIMATE CHANGE
BECAUSE ULTIMATELY IT MAKES GOOD BUSINESS SENSE.
Björn Stigson,
President of the World Business Council for Sustainable Development

Climate change

The degradation of ecosystems and the services they provide is already having a seriously detrimental impact on human well-being and the
economies of both nations and businesses.

The climate challenge
Climate change is currently one of the most pressing environmental issues facing the international community,
the business world and individual citizens. Responding to this challenge requires efforts on many fronts.

There is a broad scientific consensus on the gravity of climate
change caused by global warming: the majority of the world’s
research community predicts that the global mean temperature
will rise by 1.4 to 5.8 degrees Celsius over the next 100 years.
Even the lower figure will have dramatic effects: melting glaciers,
increased precipitation, more frequent and stronger hurricanes,
rising sea levels and desertification. Severe disruptions to land
usage and food and water supplies, the spread of diseases and
migration of people and animals will inevitably follow.
Researchers agree that human activities are the main cause of
global warming, as we annually release billions of tonnes of
carbon dioxide (CO2) and other greenhouse gases through
burning huge volumes of oil, natural gas and coal and venting
industrial gases. In order to stabilise the concentration of CO2
in the atmosphere and prevent accelerated temperature
increase, global CO2 emissions need to be cut by 70–80%.
Our activities not only have an impact on environmental and
social aspects. Economic growth will also be damaged if the
climate challenge is ignored. The latest research concludes that
‘Climate change presents a unique challenge for economics;
it is the greatest and widest-ranging market failure ever seen.’
Reducing emissions can be seen as an investment and must be

viewed with economies of risk in mind. Acting now instead of
waiting for the problem to escalate will, in the long run, reduce
the total costs and also provide a number of opportunities for
innovation, growth and development as we move towards a
carbon-constrained future.
Responding to the challenge requires efforts on many fronts.
Based on its independent status, technology competence, risk
management expertise and industry knowledge, DNV provides
climate change services within three main areas: clean energy,
emission reductions and adaptation.
CLEAN ENERGY
The urgent need for a clean, low CO2 energy future creates
a unique challenge for everybody. However, most clean energy
solutions suffer from a lack of maturity in terms of technology,
economy, infrastructure and common acceptance criteria.
EMISSION REDUCTIONS
Switching to clean energy sources will not happen overnight.
The energy supply will depend heavily on oil, gas and coal for
many years to come. Emission reduction activities will therefore
be important to mitigate climate change.
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INDEPENDENT VERIFICATION SERVICES WILL BECOME EVEN MORE IMPORTANT IN THE FUTURE BECAUSE
THERE IS A GROWING UNDERSTANDING AMONG COMPANIES THAT THEY HAVE TO BE RECOGNISED AS BEING
ENVIRONMENTALLY FRIENDLY IF THEY WANT TO OPERATE.
Björn Stigson
This includes oil and gas production with minimum emissions.
It also includes efforts to make electricity production from gas
and coal cleaner through energy efficiency measures, new power
plant technology and carbon capture and storage.
MITIGATION AND ADAPTATION
Due to past emissions, certain impacts of climate change are
unavoidable, calling for adaptation measures in addition to
emission reductions.
In DNV we have initiated efforts to help our customers adapt to
the challenges caused by global warming. The expected increase
in extreme weather events has, for example, made us focus on
a possible revision of design and operational criteria for marine
structures that will lead to less structural damage and loss. The
frequency of severe sea state conditions for ship traffic and
marine structures is likely to grow in the future.
Present-day technology allows worldwide monitoring of wind,
wave, current and seawater levels. Data collected during the
past decade by satellites and more traditional instruments indicate that extremely severe sea states occur more often than

commonly assumed. New surveys show that extreme waves have
become even higher – especially in the North Atlantic. At the
same time we also know that, for example, the seabed under
the Ekofisk field is sinking due to petroleum activities. This is
not a good combination with higher extreme waves than those
for which the engineers designed the structures more than 30
years ago. Global warming will certainly affect the design of, and
operational criteria for, offshore installations in the future.
RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES
The implications of climate change for different business sectors
are multi-faceted, and both business risks and opportunities
have been indentified by, among others, the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development. While the effects of
climate change will alter existing business models and change
current risk structures, there are also opportunities for businesses to introduce new processes, products and services to
respond to the changing climate and to protect their existing
assets. With our risk-based approach and technology base, we
aim to help businesses and society to focus on the critical need
for change due to global warming.

DNV’s key climate change related services
DNV’s climate change services can assist companies, organisations and governments in their efforts to mitigate emissions.
They range from those associated with the Kyoto Protocol mechanisms and voluntary emission reduction efforts to other
related services that can help interested parties face the climate challenge. Key services include:
I

I

I

I

I

I

I
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CDM PROJECTS
The Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) allows greenhouse gas emissions to be reduced cost-efficiently.
JOINT IMPLEMENTATION (JI) PROJECTS
Emission reduction initiatives carried out jointly by industrialised countries that have signed the Kyoto Protocol.
EMISSIONS TRADING
Emissions trading is a means for industrialised countries to fulfil their emission reduction commitments.
VOLUNTARY EMISSION REDUCTION
Voluntary programmes and efforts outside the Kyoto Protocol are emerging to offset corporate and individual
carbon footprints.
ENERGY MANAGEMENT
A process to minimise fuel consumption by improving operational procedures.
CARBON CAPTURE & STORAGE
Carbon capture, transport and long-term storage (CCS) is one of the technologies that could bring the world into
a decarbonised energy future.
WIND, WAVE AND TIDAL ENERGY
DNV is helping the industry manage the risk involved throughout the entire lifecycle of wind, wave and tidal
energy projects.
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MAIN INDUSTRIES
DNV’s increased focus on industry sectors lies firm. It is concentrating on capitalintensive and high risk industry sectors where the company has, or intends to
develop, an in-depth industry knowledge, and thus help companies and organisations
manage their risks in a sustainable way.
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Enhancing maritime safety
Rapid expansion in global shipbuilding and shipping activities, springing from sustained economic growth,
is providing new opportunities and challenges for DNV. As always, quality is key to the continuation of DNV’s
strong market growth and our efforts to further enhance maritime safety.

The growth in the world economy in 2007
led to international shipping reaching
unprecedented heights. While the average annual growth of the world tonnage
in previous years was less than 2.5%, it
was more than 6% in 2007.
With growth like this, quality in all parts
of the shipping industry is the key to
ensuring safety at sea. This is in line with
DNV’s focus on quality and technology
throughout the shipping industry –
including the people onboard and ashore.
As a measure of this continued focus, we
are proud to once again in 2007 be the
classification society whose client portfolio
has the best port state control performance.
2007 was a year in which society intensified the spotlight on the environment
and in particular on global warming.
Maritime transport is very efficient compared to other transport modes, but we
are all expected to reduce our environmental impact. Shipping is no exception
to this, and DNV has taken action to
support the industry in its actions.
FOCUSING ON THE ENVIRONMENT
Statistics show that the focus in recent
years on discharges to sea, both accidental and operational, has produced positive results. The shipping industry now
faces the challenge of reducing air emissions – and particularly CO2 emissions.
Proactive steps to curb CO2 emissions
and other greenhouse gases must now
be taken by the industry itself or we risk
being overtaken by outside legislation.
In future newbuilding designs, it is feasible to reduce the energy consumption
by 30–40%, for example by optimising

the hull design, introducing new coating
systems, installing heat recovery systems
and improving the operational logistics,
thereby allowing speeds to be reduced.
More efficient transportation using larger vessels will also reduce the emissions
per ton-mile.
There are also more options remaining
for the existing fleet. By reducing energy
consumption through slow steaming or
switching to alternative fuels like distillates
and gas, harmful emissions to air will be
reduced. On the more long-term horizon,

various shipping companies, such as
Odfjell, which had inventories prepared
for its vessels. This service is expected to
grow when the new IMO Convention on
Ship Recycling is finalised in 2009. In line
with its objective of safeguarding life,
property and the environment, DNV has
actively participated in developing this
convention.
HOLISTIC APPROACH
In 2007, with a growth of 12%, DNV
Petroleum Services (DNVPS) breached
the one-million mark in its accumulated

GREENHOUSE GASES SUCH AS CARBON DIOXIDE AND
THEIR CONTRIBUTION TOWARDS CLIMATE CHANGE HAVE BECOME
THE PRESSING ISSUE, MEANING THE SHIPPING INDUSTRY
NEEDS TO ADDRESS ITS CARBON FOOTPRINT
BEFORE OUTSIDE REGULATORS DO SO FOR IT.
DNV Research’s joint industry project
involving major fuel cell suppliers is
expected to benefit ships in the future.
CLEANER FUTURE
Cleaner fuels like LNG are available and
are being used. An example is the use of
LNG to run ferries plying the west coast of
Norway and LPG for supply ships in the
North Sea. LNG/LPG helps reduce CO2,
SOx and NOx emissions. The first of five
new DNV-classed LNG-propulsion ferries,
each of which will reduce CO2 emissions
by 20% compared to similar traditional
diesel ferries, was delivered in 2007.
DNV was the first classification society to
conduct an inventory check to identify
potentially hazardous materials onboard
a vessel. In 2007, this service was used by

volume of tested fuel samples from contracted business.
DNVPS also intensified its involvement
in marine fuel management consulting,
which is based on the Total Fuel Management (TFM) model. This service delivers
optimised fuel consumption efficiency,
cost savings and improved environmental
performance to ship operators.
A very important key to success in shipping is the quality of the people working
onboard the ships. DNV is continuing its
SeaSkill initiative, which defines competence requirements linked to specific
trades and operations and certifies training that complies with these requirements.
Major ship owners are now establishing
>
their own competence management
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systems in accordance with the SeaSkill
requirements.
In the Spring of 2007, the Maersk
Training Centre in Denmark was the first
recipient of the DNV SeaSkill award for
excellent performance. Based on valuable
co-operation between Maersk and DNV,
the centre has attained a high standard
of performance in all the functions of a
training centre.
RECORD ORDERS
2007 proved to be a successful year in
terms of newbuilding orders, with 740
vessels (corresponding to almost 30 million gross tons) ordered to DNV class –
an all-time high.
In particular, the high oil price created
a boom market for offshore support and
service vessels. Due to the state-of-the-art,
costly equipment onboard, these are
among the most advanced and expensive
vessels in operation. Over the past two
years, more than 300 new offshore supply
vessels have been contracted to DNV class
– maintaining our leading position with
regard to all types of offshore support
vessels.
DNV also holds a leading position when
it comes to classifying tankers. Some 30%
of the record high order book for oil
tankers are to be classed by DNV. Most of
the large crude oil tankers are still going
to be built in Korea, but in 2007 more and
larger oil tankers were ordered in China.
But 2007 will first of all be remembered
as the ‘bulker year’. Every third ship and
almost every second gross ton that was
contracted to DNV class in 2007 was a
bulk carrier. In addition, the size of the
ships is increasing. In the summer, DNV
announced it will class the world’s largest
ore carriers, the four 388 000 dwt ships
being built for Bergesen Worldwide by
Bohai Shipyard in China.
OUTLOOK
The trend to build larger and more
advanced vessels of all types is expected

to continue. In addition to the environmental and technical challenges this will
bring, the shipping industry must prepare
for continuous strong growth without
compromising on quality.
According to reports from the shipbroker
Clarkson, 2 500 new ships will be delivered
in 2008, while the average number of
annual deliveries over the past ten years
has been 1 500. This has triggered a boom
in demand for officers and seafarers,
leading to increased personnel costs,
steeper career paths and widespread
“contract shopping”. The consequences
are reduced experience, more fatigued
crew and problems recruiting people.
The result, as DNV has previously shared

with the maritime press, is a doubling of
serious navigational accidents (collisions,
groundings and contact incidents) over
the past five years.
The growth within the shipping industry
will also initiate a fight for talent in related technical areas. Shipowners, shipyards,
the supply industry and class societies will
all face challenging times when it comes
to attracting and retaining competent staff.
In 2007, DNV Maritime recruited some
650 new employees. Although our staff
turnover rate is low, we have expanded
our internal training programme to ensure
we have qualified and well trained staff to
meet future challenges.

trends
towards 2015
I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

Stricter environmental regulations are pushing the shipping industry towards
more environmentally-friendly designs, machinery, cleaner fuel types and
operations.
The relatively lower cost of reducing emissions from ships, as compared with
incremental abatement measures in other sectors, will strengthen the
authorities’ focus on ship emissions.
Incentives to reduce emissions from shipping, including emission trading
schemes and tax mechanisms, will increasingly be deployed. A CO2 Emission
Indexing Scheme is under preparation by the IMO and planned for completion
by 2008/2009.
Growth in bunker oil prices will force the shipping industry to focus on
achieving cost- and energy-effective operations.
Alternative fuels and new auxiliary and propulsion systems will contribute
to lowering fuel consumption and emissions per ton-mile.
Ballast water management will be stricter, with new international
requirements from 2009.
Scrapping will continue to predominate in Asia, mainly India, with superior
recycling efficiency. An international convention regulating scrapping is
under preparation.
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) aspects, including environmental
performance, will increasingly come into focus.

For more information: www.dnv.com/research/technology

DNV ANNUAL REPORT 2007

19

Oil and gas

20

DNV ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Oil and gas

Making the industry more sustainable
Energy, and in particular oil and gas, has never been as high on the public agenda as it was in 2007. The reduction
in the world’s known oil and gas reserves, security of supply issues and increased climate change concerns have
spurred investments in cleaner energy concepts. Consequently, the energy future is challenging and the solutions
are not obvious, since conflicting goals must be balanced diligently.

Energy is the ‘fuel’ for growth – an essential requirement for economic and social
development. During the next forty years,
the world’s energy demand could double
or even triple as developing countries
expand their economies and try to overcome poverty. The International Energy
Agency estimates that in 2030 the primary
energies’ relative shares will remain almost
unchanged. Oil, gas and coal will continue to be the dominant energy sources,
with gas replacing part of the oil share.
SURGING ENERGY DEMAND
The surging energy demand and tight
global supply have pushed oil prices to
record heights, with no downturn in
sight. The competition for untapped
energy deposits is fiercer than ever and
national oil companies, which are instruments used by nations to provide secure,
reliable and affordable energy for their
populations, are increasing their control
over the world’s remaining oil and gas
resources. China and India, anxious to
secure sufficient fuel for their growing
economies, are investing large sums
domestically and internationally in oil
and natural gas sources.
Many of the world’s remaining potential
new sources of oil and natural gas are
located in countries with relatively high
levels of political risk or in technically
challenging regions, such as the Arctic,
or in ultra-deep waters. Securing new
supplies of oil and natural gas is therefore a difficult and often risky venture.
Meanwhile, the refining capacity is currently at its limit, and we will see significant investment in existing refineries in
Europe and the USA, as well as in new

refineries in China, India and the Middle
East. It is nonetheless predicted that new
refinery additions will struggle to keep
pace with the growth in demand. As a
result, utilisation rates will remain high
and may even increase. Furthermore,
recent events have focused public and
industry attention on process safety, which
is an area where DNV offers its customers
considerable expertise.

balancing risk and returns in a highly
competitive global arena.
That is why DNV, with its global presence,
technical know-how and holistic approach,
is highly valued in the energy sector. Our
vision is to contribute to a safe and sustainable future by offering assistance in
developing new hydrocarbon-based energy
supplies more efficiently, cleaner fossil
energy and renewable energy.

IN ORDER TO FACE THE ENERGY GROWTH CHALLENGE, MAJOR
CHANGES TO OUR ENERGY INFRASTRUCTURE WILL BE NEEDED –
POTENTIALLY SIMILAR TO THOSE WHICH HAVE TAKEN PLACE OVER
THE PAST 100 YEARS. AT THE SAME TIME, WE FACE THE MAJOR
ENVIRONMENTAL THREAT OF CLIMATE CHANGE, WHICH MAKES
THE WAY FORWARD LESS CERTAIN.

HOLISTIC APPROACH
No single solution will deliver the necessary changes. We need a mix of options
which focus on developing more energy
sources, using energy more efficiently
and reducing carbon intensity. Evidently,
the global energy market’s opportunities
belong to those who employ expertise in
a concerted manner across geographical
boundaries and throughout the operation’s life cycle.
Business strength in the energy industry
has many dimensions. It is now about how
a company identifies and seizes opportunities, pushes technology boundaries
safely and cost-efficiently, and meets or
exceeds increasing environmental requirements and expectations, all this while

GROWING COMPLEXITY
A key challenge facing the oil and gas
industry is therefore how to manage risk
in the face of this growing complexity.
There is a wide range of political, commercial, technical, human and environmental risks involved, requiring skills in
many disciplines. In addition to qualification, classification and verification
services, DNV offers distinctive risk consulting services related to the total enterprise as well as to specific areas, such as
Health, Safety and the Environment
(HSE), Asset Integrity, and Information
Technology. By integrating these services
across the value chain and throughout
an asset’s life, we create a comprehensive
approach designed to manage complex
>
challenges safely and responsibly.
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For example, during the past two years,
DNV has helped bring StatoilHydro closer to its vision of achieving world-class
operating and maintenance practices.
DNV is also heading up the work of harmonising industry HSE standards for the
Barents Sea, supported by the Norwegian
and Russian governments and industries.

ing from current production. As we have
seen, future exploration and production
activities will take place in deeper, colder
and harsher areas – and the reservoirs will
be more complex. The industry therefore
needs to make sure its solutions represent
best practices and the highest standards
at all times.

Our Offshore Classification services
experienced substantial growth in 2007,
with a long list of new drilling semisubmersibles, drillships, jack-ups and
FPSOs orders to DNV class, many aimed
at deep-water exploration and production
in key developing hydrocarbon provinces.
Our production capacity has been greatly
increased by establishing Service Centres
at key locations, enabling local approval
and extending survey capacity. The market
has responded positively to this initiative,
and the Resource Centre in Singapore,
among others, has been very successful.
Here, DNV was contracted to classify the
largest drilling jack-ups ever to be built
at Singaporean yards.

DNV assists in tackling frontier challenges,
from concept feasibility to the qualification of new technology and certification
of detailed designs, helping to break barriers with confidence. We manage a vast
number of joint industry projects aimed
at solving frontier challenges. Also, we are
involved in several deep and ultra-deep
water projects in Brazil, the Gulf of
Mexico, West Africa, the North Sea and
Asia, involving the use of novel technologies for subsea processing, pumping,
compression and pipeline transportation.

DNV’s involvement in the evolving LNG
industry has continued. More than 40%
of the current receiving terminals have
obtained guidance from DNV in order
to identify and manage both HSE and
business risks. Services range from the
verification of floating offshore LNG
facilities in Brazil and the USA to the
incorporation of business risks induced by
multiple users of import terminals in
Europe.
China National Petroleum Corporation
is now a world-leading integrated energy
corporation, and is China’s largest producer and provider of crude oil and natural gas. DNV is involved in several projects with this company, including the
provision of ISRS7 baseline assessments
and asset integrity management solutions.
FRONTIER CHALLENGES
New hydrocarbon discoveries have not
compensated for the reduction in the
world’s known oil and gas reserves result-

OUTLOOK
DNV aims to grow with the wider energy
industry and develop a truly global business with a significant presence in all the
major markets in which it operates. We
will cover industry-wide segments ranging
from upstream, midstream and downstream to pipeline transportation, power
generation and renewable energy, including contractors and suppliers to these
segments as well as authorities and
investors.
Significant efforts will be made to grow
in China, North America, Brazil, India
and Russia. DNV will also target selected
national oil companies due to their
increasing importance to the world’s
future energy supply.

trends
towards 2015
I

I

I

I

I
I

Life extension of mature fields enabled by Enhanced Oil Recovery (EOR)
and new ways of managing assets.
Capital spending will shift towards more technically challenging projects
in ultra-deep waters and Arctic regions.
Globalisation of the LNG market, with diversification of transportation
technologies.
Canadian oil sands production will increase rapidly and could be as high
as four million barrels/day by 2015.
Commercial large-scale Carbon, Capture and Storage (CCS) projects will be
operational in the USA, Canada and Norway.
Wind power will be established in many countries, with North America
and Asia accounting for the highest proportion of new capacity installed.

I

Partnering between national oil companies and international players.

I

Development will be restricted due to lack of competent people.

I

Significant local and regional environmental concerns.

I

Increasing stakeholder efforts to understand and manage risk and uncertainty.

For more information: www.dnv.com/research/technology
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Managing clean energy risks
The world’s need for a clean energy future is creating a unique challenge for politicians, industries and the
public at large. DNV’s in-depth experience of renewable energies has shown that a number of mitigating
efforts need to be decided upon and implemented. To reach this new paradigm as soon as possible, the risks
involved must be understood and managed.

The world is experiencing growing environmental concern and increasing
acknowledgement of the threat of climate
change. This has led both industry and
the authorities to act faster than ever, and
renewable energy has been assigned an
important role in reducing CO2 emissions
and the need for fossil fuels.

RISK MANAGEMENT SPEEDS UP
THE CLIMATE BATTLE
The development of renewable or lowemission energy projects is associated
with significant risks which may lead to
long decision-making times or a lack of
decisions. It is also a known fact that most
of the climate change efforts are suffering

TODAY, GOOD ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE IS INCREASINGLY
VIEWED AS A BUSINESS IMPERATIVE. THIS TREND IS EVIDENT
ACROSS THE ENERGY SECTOR AND IS REFLECTED IN EFFORTS TO
REDUCE THE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT OF TRADITIONAL OIL AND
GAS RELATED ACTIVITIES.

Significant investments in renewable
energies will continue at a rate that
depends on the price of competing energy sources, global warming threats and
available incentive schemes. Hydropower,
bio-fuels, heat generation from bio-mass
and wind energy are the most promising
alternative energy sources. The next generation of nuclear power plants is also
being considered. Acknowledging that
fossil fuels are needed to meet the world’s
energy demand, carbon capture and
storage from coal- and gas-fired plants
is another important tool for a cleaner
energy future. The key to success is a
united global effort, including governmental policies, financing mechanisms
and technological innovation. Energyreduction measures will also be key to
reducing greenhouse gas emissions relating to energy production, industrial and
private consumption and transportation.
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from a lack of maturity in terms of technology, economy, industry frame conditions, infrastructure and common acceptance criteria. Despite this extremely
complex reality, important and longterm decisions must be taken now and
on an uncertain basis. The question is
how to make intelligent choices for the
time ahead and how to manage the
opportunities and risks? This is what
DNV’s competencies support.
The application of methods such as DNV’s
systematic risk assessments and technology
qualification will help to prevent costly
mistakes and ensure transparent and efficient decision-making processes. This is
also achieved through the certification
of components, power plants and energy
systems, documenting that agreed requirements have been met and that the systems
will continue to operate with sufficient
safety and reliability.

COOPERATION PROJECTS
Due to our risk management approach,
global independence and in-depth
expertise, DNV has been an important
player in a number of renewable energy
and Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS)
projects. These involve both industries
and the authorities in the US, Norway,
UK, EU and China. For example, the
North Sea Basin Task Force will reveal
how and where carbon can be stored
under the North Sea, and Aker Kvaerner
is being helped to ensure that its new CCS
technology actually works as intended.
DNV also has a major share of the wind
turbine certification market and performs risk assessments of wind energy
projects in a number of countries.
Also, DNV is recognised as the leading
globally operating independent greenhouse-gas verifier, and was the first company to be accredited by the UN to verify
all major Clean Development Mechanism
projects.
Looking ahead, DNV will continue to
assist the global renewable energy and
CCS market with its services, and will
increase its focus to mirror the market’s
introduction of new cleaner technologies.
The aim is to grow tenfold by 2012, with
a corresponding increase in market impact and new services, technologies and
methodologies. The main focus areas will
be wind, CCS, nuclear, hydro, wave and
tidal power. Energy efficiency, clean coal
and alternate fuel are also predicted to
be major areas of opportunity in the
future.

Petrochemical

People, plants and processes
Today, as never before, the refining and chemical processing industries are being challenged to improve their
competitiveness while also improving their safety and environmental performance. Margins remain tight, assets
are ageing, and a number of well publicised accidents have reduced the confidence of various stakeholders in
the industry. New projects, whilst opening up additional opportunities, may also introduce unexpected risks.

In broad terms, 33% of current global
refinery investment is related to environmental and quality compliance matters,
while 33% is spent on upgrading facilities. The remaining 33% is split between
existing crude capacity and developing
new crude capacity. This investment has
to be carried out against an expectation
of improved environmental performance
relating to both products and production
processes.
POTENTIAL RISKS
Under these circumstances, management
of the risks associated with people, plants
and processes through the application of
effective risk management solutions and
the adoption of global best practices is

crucial. Everyone working in the downstream industry is well aware of the
potential risks to health, safety and the
environment. But businesses face a range
of risks that includes far more than just
accidents and incidents that may cause
physical harm.
Risk encompasses anything that will
adversely affect the performance of the
business. That could be a project which
falls behind schedule, a problem that
causes unplanned expensive downtime,
or external events that may take place in
the business environment and which the
company has not identified or planned
adequately for.

DNV has been working with a number
of clients around the world to help them
manage these risks and build trust and
confidence with their stakeholders.
Examples of such projects include the
development of a new process safety management system for a major refining company in Europe. Furthermore, DNV has
analysed the safety and production risks
associated with a major North American
refinery which was being reconfigured to
process Canadian oil sands output. Also,
DNV has performed a security of supply
analysis for one of the largest American
refining and shipping companies, and
independently verified the quality of materials and components used in the construction of a new refinery in South East Asia.
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Food and beverage

trends towards 2015
I

I

I

I

Consumer and retailers are trend setters: retailers are the first responders to consumer concerns and set the standards
that food suppliers must meet.
Increasing global and long-distance food trade: increased vertical integration of the value chain, and year-round consumer
demand for fresh produce and exotic products, will sustain the trend towards increasingly global food trading.
Traceability and transparency: consumers and authorities want to know how food is produced, and food vendors maintain
a focus on preventing food fraud and food safety scandals.
Concerns about production methods in the developed world: sustainably produced, ethical, socially-responsible, animalfriendly, organic, low-mileage food will be in great demand.

For more information: www.dnv.com/research/technology
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Food and beverage

Food for thought
As the food and beverage sector becomes more and more competitive and heavily scrutinised, companies are
faced with new challenges in providing safe, quality products, as well as meeting consumer and societal trends.

Globalisation and the development of
new markets and suppliers, as well as the
global sourcing of raw materials, have led
to extended and more complex supply
chains which affect the way global food
players operate. This causes consumers
to become more cautious when choosing
food products. In addition to increased
consumer awareness, national and international food-related incidents have created difficulties for many players in the
food and beverage industry. Guaranteeing
quality and safety at every step in the production chain has consequently become
essential in order to have a competitive
advantage in the global marketplace.
In response to globalisation, cost-effective production and reliable supply chain
management have become increasingly
important criteria for market success.
Today’s mergers, acquisitions and
alliances have clear motives – the main
ones being to increase cost efficiency
through synergies, to gain new market
opportunities, and to obtain and
strengthen brands. Increasingly, these
consolidation activities are cross-border
and even cross-continental. Managing
risk has become a central requirement
for those operating along the food production chain, from farmers, fishermen
and growers to food processors, retailers,
distributors, storage and transport companies, as well as brand owners.
INCREASED CONSUMER AWARENESS
Consumers are increasingly aware of the
quality, hygiene and safety issues surrounding what they eat or drink. While
the knowledge of food risks is increasing,
people are also becoming more aware of
the relationship between food and wellbeing. Self-gratification, nutritional value
and safety are all quality labels that con-

sumers focus on. This awareness covers
the whole range of issues surrounding
food and beverages – from the raw materials and the conditions in which they are
grown or raised to the reliability of the
technologies used during manufacturing
and processing and the storage and
transport systems.

entire supply chain. The complex food
network is why businesses and consumers
look to trustworthy companies to meet
their demands for guarantees. Companies
can earn this trust by being able to
demonstrate that they are diligent and
vigilant and that they have an effective,
rigorously maintained management

BUILDING AND MAINTAINING EFFICIENT AND SUSTAINABLE
SUPPLY CHAINS IS A MUST IN ORDER TO MAINTAIN A COMPETITIVE
PRESENCE IN THE MARKET.

CORPORATE REPUTATION
AN EMERGING ISSUE
A key issue for food and beverage companies is branding. A strong brand generates added value and strengthens the
market position. However, building and
sustaining a brand takes enormous investment without any promise of guaranteed
success. In today’s market, the complex
supply chains and outsourcing of the
manufacturing of branded products mean
less control over sourcing and processing.
With thousands of ingredients as well as
thousands of suppliers/manufacturers
in a production chain, it is evident that
managing risk has become a central requirement for food and beverage industry
players.

system covering all their processes. Such
companies have a wide-reaching risk
management approach and the certification to prove it. Certification to recognised national or international standards
ensures the implementation of best practices and communicates this to the business and consumer segment. Building
and maintaining efficient and sustainable
supply chains is a must in order to maintain a competitive presence in the market
and indeed ensure the survival of brands
as well as food and beverage players.

A QUESTION OF TRUST
Consumers’ and other stakeholders’
expectations impose effectiveness, transparency and sustainability through the
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Transportation

Reliability drive in transportation sectors
An increased demand for risk, safety and IT management services within the automotive, aviation, rail, road
and space industry sectors has been observed, primarily in Europe. Increasing market competition and stricter
safety and environmental regulations are expected to be central for all transportation sectors in the future.

AUTOMOTIVE
The automotive industry has gone through
significant changes in recent years.
Today’s industry is characterised by several factors, including an expanding global
market, quality, environmental impact
and reliability expectations.

There is also an increasing focus on
reduced emissions. Laws are being established around the world to limit both
vehicle emissions and environmental pollution from car manufacturing. The automotive industry will need to address these
issues.

Globalisation and consolidation have led
to significant changes in the automotive
industry in recent years. Such changes
will continue, with manufacturers shifting
production to locations worldwide and
engaging in far-reaching collaboration
and the joint development and production of vehicles.

DNV has over the years developed a series
of specialised skills and resources that represent invaluable assets in the context
of the ongoing re-orientation of the automotive industry. In 2008, DNV will
strengthen its position as an acknowledged leader in the automotive industry,
and help customers improve their supplier
capabilities.

Cost efficiency and reliability are increasingly important criteria for success in the
marketplace. Major corporations will gain
an increasing advantage in the years to
come. This will in turn lead to further
acquisitions, mergers and strategic
alliances.
Further, as design and production activities are moved to lower-cost locations
and companies continue to acquire and
divest, management of the supply chain
becomes a challenge of increasing geographic, cultural and organisational
diversity.
Software and electronics are essential
for automotive progress. Virtually all
innovation is based on these technologies,
and the ever-growing number of integrated software components in vehicles
is one of the largest challenges facing the
industry. This software is found increasingly in engine management and vehicle
safety systems, and must work reliably
and without one system interfering with
another.

AVIATION
The aviation industry is experiencing
rapid change and facing significant challenges. Traffic is growing, straining the
infrastructure and raising environmental
concerns. Competition is fierce, creating
pressures to reduce costs. In 2007, DNV
assisted aviation customers in achieving
sustainable growth and development
through managing risk, facilitating
improvements in capacity and developing organisational structures.
Airline safety is, amongst other factors,
dependent on the ability to assess and
prioritise risk factors. In 2007, in cooperation with Avinor and four airline companies, DNV developed a risk assessment
model for quantifying the probability of
aircraft hull loss during the approach/
landing and take-off/departure operations
at airports.

tions. The rail industry is facing challenges due to ageing rolling stocks and
infrastructure. Schemes for upgrading
and developing these elements have
been introduced, requiring the careful
planning and structured handling of
safety issues in order to optimise the
technical solutions, comply with safety
regulations and address the public’s
desire for safe transport.
ROAD
In 2007, DNV has provided risk, safety
and security services to various customers
in the road segment. The development,
maintenance and administration of road
systems, including bridges, tunnels and
motorways, continue to be critical elements in the transportation system. Safety
and securety are becoming even more
important in this sector.
SPACE
DNV continues to develop and deliver
services aimed at the space industry, taking the lead within third-party services
such as independent software verification
and validation of satellites. Quality, safety
and reliability are vital issues for the
aerospace industry, which sophisticated
manufacturing requires special attention
during the production process.

RAIL
Pressures on capacity and performance
have significant risk and safety implica-
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Healthcare

Improving patient safety ...
Patient safety is at the core of DNV’s risk management services for the healthcare sector.
Improving quality and patient safety is
key to reducing medical errors. The hospital environment is inherently risky, with
a continuous need to prevent contamination and infectious diseases, and to maintain the often very precarious health of
patients while also ensuring the safety of
staff and visitors.
Given the numerous highly publicised
cases of unnecessary deaths due to erroneous procedures, operations on wrong
organs and medication errors, the healthcare sector is increasingly engaged glob-

HEALTHCARE ROLE
DNV is in the process of attaining the role
of a recognised healthcare Accreditation
Organisation (AO), starting with the
crucial hospital sector. This increasingly
recognised role involves conducting a
formal, independent review, in accordance with national regulations, that
carries with it a monetary return to the
accredited organisations, usually in the
form of an insurance refund or insurance
rate reduction. DNV has taken steps to
position itself in this role in the USA, by
seeking government approval as an AO,

THE HEALTHCARE SECTOR IS BECOMING INCREASINGLY ENGAGED
GLOBALLY IN THE PURSUIT OF IMPROVED QUALITY,
PATIENT SAFETY AND CARE, WITH A HEIGHTENED UNDERSTANDING
OF RISK MANAGEMENT CONCEPTS.

ally in the pursuit of improved quality,
patient safety and care, with a heightened understanding of risk management
concepts.
While this pursuit is global, its execution
is with very few exceptions local, affected by the local healthcare governance
model. The various levels of maturity of
the healthcare sector worldwide present
an additional obstacle on the road to providing a uniform and consistent transfer
of knowledge and best practices.
DNV delivers the risk management tools
that hospitals and healthcare institutions
need to reduce the risk of malpractice in
particular and improve management in
general.
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and in the UK, where DNV has been
contracted by the National Health Service
(NHS) as a ‘risk partner’, by assessing
hundreds of hospitals controlled by the
NHS, developing standards and training
hospital staff to enhance patient care.
INTEGRATING ACCREDITATION
TO STANDARDS
When seeking approval as an Accreditation Organisation, DNV has applied
its own Healthcare Standard. DNV has
responded by developing and implementing its unique National Integrated
Accreditation for Healthcare Organisations programme. This hospital accreditation programme provides hospitals that
are seeking accreditation with a survey
process that integrates accreditation to

standards that comply with the Conditions
of Participation with ISO 9001 certification, the universally accepted international standard for a quality management
system.
DNV’s global presence enables hospitals
or related healthcare organisations to
benefit from the use of best practices
and benchmarking. This allows them to
excel in their quest for quality improvement and patient safety while utilising
the local resources that are well versed
in the local healthcare governance
requirements.
IMPROVING QUALITY AND SAFETY
DNV has been involved in improving
quality and patient safety in hospitals
and healthcare institutions through
various means:
I Hospital accreditation
I Hospital evaluation and rating
I Hospital management system
certification in accordance with
national voluntary schemes
I Hospital management system
certification to international standards
I Risk management tools/methodology
I Corporate Responsibility/sustainability/
fraud prevention profiles.
DNV carries out assessments and benchmarking, and recommends the most
effective programmes. These are run
in support of the existing management
teams to enable professional resources
and a wide breadth of knowledge to be
delivered as effectively as possible.

IT and telecoms

... and IT processes and systems
DNV works with large organisations in the IT and telecoms industry to ensure sustainable performance and
operational excellence. This helps them to manage risk and maximise business opportunities in this fast-growing
sector.
The IT and telecoms industry has proven
to be very turbulent. A period of explosive
growth in the 1990s was followed by recession and consolidation in the industry,
leading to a smaller number of truly global players. Over the past few years, the
industry has been revitalised. The growth
initially took place in Europe and North
America, but there is now a shift towards
emerging markets. Indian companies,
which have demonstrated aggressive
growth due to outsourcing from North
America and Europe, are now entering
these markets directly.
MORE COMPLEX VALUE CHAIN
The boundaries between the IT, telecoms
and media sectors are disappearing, and
these three industries are gradually converging to form one huge industry sector.
This makes for a market where the only
constant is change. Organisations are
struggling to find their place in an
increasingly complex value chain. More
global and cross-industry competition in
the communications market, including
new devices which have alternative uses

beyond phone calls, makes flexibility and
efficient processes essential to decrease
the time to market.
While the extensive use of IT-dependent
processes has undoubtedly improved
organisations’ business efficiency, it has
also increased those processes’ overall
complexity and potential to be a source
of vulnerability within organisations.
Furthermore, the continued trend towards
outsourcing is changing the face of system
integrators and IT service providers. In
order to meet customer expectations, they
need to offer outsourcing and BPO
(Business Process Outsourcing) solutions
on an increasing scale. This requires more
mature internal processes and a further
increase in personnel capabilities.
TAILOR-MADE SOLUTIONS
DNV’s objective in the IT and telecoms
sector is to help customers achieve sustainable performance through services
centred around process performance.
Basically, we provide three main types of

services. Our expertise related to corporate responsibility, risk management and
operational excellence can be incorporated into tailor-made effective solutions
that cover customer-specific needs. DNV
can help to bridge the gap between corporate governance and practical implementation in the engineering department
and on the factory floor worldwide. DNV
provides solutions within four delivery
modes: assessment, consulting, certification and training.
OUTLOOK
More demanding customers and other
stakeholders, more software in increasingly sophisticated products, a shorter time
to market, a more complex and continuously changing value chain and greater
outsourcing and globalisation will heighten the business risks in the IT and telecoms sector. This, combined with higher
accountability for company directors, will
increase the need for professional service
providers with world-class expertise.
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Finance

Managing risks in the financial
services sector
Cost control, software quality and reliability, time to market, compliance and knowledge management are
often viewed as risks – and opportunities – in the financial services sector. DNV provides independent advice
and services to manage these risks and exploit these opportunities.
The financial services industry is one of
the industries most affected by globalisation. The continued trend towards
mergers and acquisitions in the market,
and especially the rapid consolidation
in the European financial industry, has
resulted in a global market.

systems. These standardised work processes and systems need to be flexible in order
to facilitate the increased customer focus
which is evident in both private and
retail market segments.

IT spending in the financial services
industry is expected to continue to grow
over the years to come. Regulatory
requirements continue to be a major
driver for IT spending. Changes in these
requirements force financial institutions
to alter their processes and IT systems in
order to achieve compliance.

FOCUS ON PROCESS PERFORMANCE
In the European marketplace, DNV is one
of the main providers of software process
improvement services. These services
focus on increasing the quality, efficiency
and predictability of IT-related processes.
Given the focus on cost efficiency and
standardisation and the continued outsourcing trend, the demand for these
services is expected to remain high.

Partly driven by the merger and acquisition trend, there is a continued interest
in achieving cost efficiencies. Back office
integration and the outsourcing of application development are key strategies, and
call for increased attention to be paid to
the standardisation of work processes and

Our services in the area of IT architecture and information management offer
customers the means to get a grip on
their IT landscape. We have successfully
worked with numerous world-class
customers in the finance industry, including BNP Paribas, Fortis Group and AXA.
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DNV is BNP Paribas’ strategic partner in
the definition and deployment of a large
process improvement programme
throughout the group’s main IT entities.
DNV is in charge of assessing the capability and maturity of these entities, of defining the improvement action plan and of
supporting the deployment of new
processes and/or enhancements.
Our consultants work with BNP Paribas
at different maturity levels in various
business areas, including Insurance,
System Information Group, Retail
Banking, Lease Group, Securities, and
Corporate and Investment Banking.

CROSS INDUSTRY SERVICES
One of DNV’s most important diversifiers is the provision of its diverse range of
services, including certification, software, research, consulting and training. With
the objective to deliver services with impact, DNV works to provide a service offering
that creates value in today’s rapid business environment.

Certification

Transcending boundaries
Globalisation and sustainability issues impose new demands on companies. Markets may expand but so does
the responsibility, not to mention stakeholder security. But critical risks can lead to opportunities if responsible
solutions are successfully applied to mitigate risks, provide transparency and build trust across the boundaries.

Stakeholders are increasingly concerned
about requiring companies to show
compliance with, and even go beyond,
standard rules and regulations and a
commitment to act as a responsible party.
In turn, companies are cascading this
demand for compliance down throughout the supply chain. DNV continues to
deliver and develop its certification services to meet customer needs. Examples
of current services are:

Through Risk Based Certification™,
DNV is able to combine an assessment
of compliance with standards with an
evaluation of company-critical processes
that are key to business success.
PRODUCT CERTIFICATION
Most countries have rules and regulations
related to safety for almost all products.
The focus on environmental aspects is
growing, ranging from the use of haz-

STAKEHOLDERS ARE INCREASINGLY CONCERNED
ABOUT REQUIRING COMPANIES TO SHOW COMPLIANCE WITH
STANDARD RULES AND REGULATIONS AND A COMMITMENT
TO ACT AS A RESPONSIBLE PARTY.

MANAGEMENT
SYSTEM CERTIFICATION
The management systems address internal processes related to individual areas,
like quality, environment, health and
safety, information security and others.
Many of our customers are looking for
management system certification, and
companies are increasingly looking to
create one management system to ensure
quality across the whole enterprise. This
underscores the importance of systematically managing and improving internal
processes to reach strategic goals and
operate responsibly in relation to customers, employees and other stake-holders.
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ardous substances to energy efficiency
and recycling.
DNV has a long tradition of providing
product certification services, such as
CE- marking and certification according
to national regulatory schemes. Due to
the growing integration of economies
and globalisation of consumer preferences, global trade increased considerably in 2007. We see a need for both
voluntary and regulatory certification
regimes in 2008, especially in the developing markets.

CLIMATE CHANGE
DNV has specialised in delivering independent, third party services for climate
change activities, and has over the past
few years been engaged in a number of
diverse validation, verification and certification activities. DNV has developed
methodologies to ensure transparent,
reliable and credible audit results, and
we are accredited under the most important international schemes for verification
of carbon inventories and offset projects,
such as the Clean Development
Mechanism and Joint Implementation
under the Kyoto protocol, the EU
Emissions Trading Scheme, the
Californian Climate Action Registry,
and the Chicago Climate Exchange.
CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY
There is an increasing demand for
Corporate Responsibility (CR) services,
reflecting the emphasis on issues such as
supply chain management, ethical behaviour, and the implementation of codes of
conduct and principles such as the Global
Compact in business and society worldwide. Rating, the verification of sustainability reports and supply chain management are important parts of DNV’s service portfolio for providing complete
solutions to customers.
Acknowledging the importance of CR
to managing risk as well as managing
business opportunities is vital for adding
value to our customers. DNV will make
strong efforts to meet market needs and
stand out when delivering CR solutions
to more customers in more countries in
2008.

Software

Matching solutions to customers’ needs
Today’s competitive business environment requires companies to become more and more agile. The ability to
act and change rapidly constitutes a huge business advantage. DNV Software offers solutions for good business
and environmental performance, quality control and continuous learning within an organisation.
DNV Software is an independent business
unit within DNV that develops innovative
software solutions for the maritime, offshore and process industries. It has developed a strategy for the next five years,
with main focus on strengthening its core
areas and stimulating progress. An important challenge is to make sure that the
unit’s development is market-driven,
enabling customers to be even more
efficient in their daily operations.
Traditionally, DNV Software’s portfolio
has dealt with strength assessment and
risk management. During 2007, DNV
Software revamped its strategy. The 2008–
2012 strategy aims at building profitability
by shifting the focus from extensive
development activities to the strengthening of existing products and solutions and
by capitalising on existing strongholds
when moving into the asset integrity software markets. DNV Software will build its
new strategy on six industry positions:
I

Yards – become a supplier with a global
impact on integrated design and work

I

I

I

I

I

process solutions for the early design
phase of shipbuilding.
Offshore engineering – become the
world’s leading provider of strength
assessment software to the offshore
industry.
Process risk – become the world’s
leading provider of integrated process
risk analysis and assessment tools for the
design and operation of process plants.
Ship owners – deliver software for ship
operation management focusing on
hull integrity and environmental
accounting systems.
Offshore integrity – deliver software
for the integrity management of offshore pipeline systems and fixed and
floating offshore structures.
Plant integrity – deliver software for
the integrity management of refineries,
petrochemical plants and onshore
pipelines.

DNV is committed to enhancing its software offerings for environmental and sustainable operations design. As an example, in order to meet the rising demand

for integrated software solutions in the
shipping and energy industries and be
positioned to accommodate China’s ambitious plans for technology development
and innovation, a new DNV Software production centre has been established in
Shanghai. This centre will mainly focus on
two areas: general project delivery capacity
and environmental performance systems.
The Environmental Performance System
(EPS) strengthens DNV’s overall offering
to its customers and helps them put their
environmental commitments into practice.
The solution, offered to DNV customers
as a web service, will help companies to
measure environmental performance
through a web-based reporting tool that
supports the Global Reporting Initiative
guidelines and ISO 14001. When resource
usage data from company records are
entered, the EPS can calculate emissions
to the environment using formulas verified
by DNV. By benchmarking the EPS results
against the prevailing acceptance criteria,
organisations may obtain new insight
into their biggest areas for improvement.
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Research and innovation

Shaping the future
Every year, DNV brings a wealth of technology and innovation to customers worldwide through its global
organisation. DNV Research and Innovation is the unit within DNV that ensures the development of knowledge,
technology and prototypes of future tools and services for the benefit of DNV customers and society at large.
International business is undergoing
dramatic changes due to the powerful mix
of globalisation and advances in information and communication technology.
Companies must manage their product
and service lines under conditions that
increasingly often disrupt ‘business as usual’. Understanding the accelerating pace
of technology development and leverag-

COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
Building a strong network and cooperation
with selected research clusters around the
world is becoming increasingly important
as extensive harvesting from universities
and institutes and cooperation on joint
industry projects in key markets contribute
to the faster development of high-quality
knowledge and services.

UNDERSTANDING THE ACCELERATING PACE
OF TECHNOLOGY DEVELOPMENT AND LEVERAGING
THE RIGHT TECHNOLOGY AT THE RIGHT TIME ARE BECOMING
CRUCIAL FOR COMMERCIAL SUCCESS.
ing the right technology at the right time
are becoming crucial for commercial success. Current examples of important
research topics in DNV are:
I Maritime transport – where environmental concerns are balanced against
cost benefit considerations.
I Energy – with attention focused on
security of energy supply, sustainability
and risk management.
I Materials and surfaces – targeting corrosion protection, risks posed by nanotechnology, and water quality issues.
I Information processes and technology –
at the interface between technology
and organisations.
I Biorisk management – with the focus
on developing methodologies to effectively manage the hazards posed by
biological agents.
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During 2007, DNV’s cooperation with
NTNU (the Norwegian University of
Science and Technology) was considerably
extended, a cooperation agreement was
signed with Ohio State University in the
USA, and DNV established its own
research unit in Ohio. A cooperation
agreement was also signed with NTUA,
the Technical University of Athens, in
Greece. DNV plans to establish its own
research unit in Athens in 2008.
SCIENCE TO SERVICE
In order to smooth the difficult transition
phase from a research result into a successful service in the market, we have
designed a piloting process in which the
researchers work closely with a DNV business area to test out the service in the
market, further improve it and develop

the right expertise and delivery processes
before moving to global delivery.
As an example, in the biorisk (biosafety
and biosecurity) area, DNV has developed a comprehensive set of assessment
methods, tools and training materials to
help laboratories around the world
responsibly handle and store pathogens
that could represent a considerable risk
to society. These services underwent a
piloting stage in 2007 and will be further
complemented in 2008. Two other major
initiatives under way are the Arctic programme, which focuses on knowledge
and techniques relevant for industrial
activities in the Arctic, and a project
related to next generation computational
tools.
TECHNOLOGY OUTLOOK
Looking further ahead, which global
trends will be most important for the
industry sectors served by DNV? And
how will these trends relate to technology
adaptation and development in these
sectors? Our publication ‘Technology
Outlook 2015 – DNV Research and
Innovation’s assessment of developing
trends’ describes and analyses important
social and technological trends.
Much of the technology that will have
been adopted in 2015 is already being
developed, but we believe that the
strength of the trends mentioned in
Technology Outlook will spur the development of many new and disruptive
technologies.
For more information:
www.dnv.com/research

Cross-disciplinary consulting services

Reconciling people, systems and risk
DNV provides services to safely and responsibly improve business performance. Our key differentiation factor
is advanced cross-disciplinary competence within management and technology.
Drawing on decades of experience from
high-risk and capital-intensive industries,
DNV provides integrated risk management
solutions relating to oil and gas installations, transportation systems, process
facilities, information and communication technology (ICT), food safety and
patient safety. Examples of current crossdisciplinary consulting services are:
ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT
Complexity, uncertainty and change are
prevalent within all business functions.
DNV’s Enterprise Risk Management
(ERM) service supports sustainability
and increases the value of enterprises
by supporting decision-making, reducing
the likelihood of surprises and improving
the ability to meet objectives.
With DNV’s ERM service, customers are
helped to identify, understand and manage risks within a project, a part of the
organisation or a particular subject area.
Also, it is possible to achieve a complete
overview of an organisation’s total risk
exposure.

SAFETY, HEALTH AND
ENVIRONMENTAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Compliance only with legal requirements
for SHE performance is no longer sufficient for forward-thinking organisations.
DNV’s approach balances economical,
social and environmental objectives.
The traditional idea of ‘value creation’
is redefined from purely maximising
shareholders economic returns, to the
wider agenda of honouring the interests
of society at large.
By applying risk-based methods, in-depth
industry insight and advanced software
tools, we ensure that threats are identified
and risks are managed in a cost-effective
manner. DNV works with customers to
develop, implement, maintain and continually improve best practices in managing safety, health and environmental risks.
OPERATIONS EXCELLENCE
Maximum value is achieved from facilities, equipment and people in a safe and
responsible manner that does not compromise safety or the environment. DNV
applies a wide range of methodologies,

tools and techniques to consistently build
solutions which ensure that specific production goals are met at the lowest possible cost and in compliance with safety and
environmental requirements. Our services
range from assessment and benchmarking,
through management and implementation
to advanced materials technology investigations.
CONSULTING
The failure of IT-dependent systems may
lead to catastrophic events with critical
business consequences, putting trust and
credibility at risk. Organisations need to
mitigate IT risk; when they invest in IT,
they want safe and cost-transparent solutions which are specific to their individual
needs and compliant with regulatory constraints. Potential issues and vulnerabilities
must be identified at an early stage and
controlled using rigorous risk management processes. DNV’s services portfolio
addresses these needs, with a focus on
getting a grip on the IT landscape and
improving IT processes and systems and
knowledge management.
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Training

Training with impact
One of DNV’s most important diversifiers is the competence level of our employees. Not only do over 75% of
them hold a university degree but, by putting their knowledge into practice each and every day and learning
from these experiences, they provide DNV with an extraordinary amount of expertise.
That high level of expertise is what
enables us to deliver real added value to
our customers in our core businesses. We
want to develop knowledge and competence and share these with our customers:
not only in technical or consulting assignments but also in professional training.
DNV professionals deliver high-end training in over 35 countries, including Korea,
China and Vietnam, and this has attracted
positive customer response. On average
every workday over twenty classrooms are
filled with students taking part in training
developed and provided by a DNV trainer.
Our courses vary in content and cover:
I Quality systems and standards
Courses in the areas of quality systems,
environment, safety, project management, automotive, IT compliance and
risk management.
I High level IT training
Training that provides state-of the-art
knowledge and fundamental insights
into strategic IT topics such as IT
architecture, business intelligence,
security and IT management.
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Knowledge management
One-day introduction courses and
intensive five-day Master classes to help
organisations manage their information,
knowledge and competences effectively.
I Technical training
A variety of technical courses with a
special focus on helping customers use
DNV’s software products and customised solutions for the maritime, offshore and process industries.

a pilot to start off the DNV Academy in
The Netherlands. All four business areas
provide training in The Netherlands,
making it a good place to start the experiment. Joint marketing materials were
developed, and support is in the process
of being organised across the business
areas. In 2008, the DNV Academy will
present itself as a real provider of highend professional training in The
Netherlands.

DNV ACADEMY
In late 2006, the Executive Board decided
that all DNV’s commercial training activities should be placed under one label:
the DNV Academy. This would create
visibility and a firm basis for becoming
a renowned global provider of high-value
professional training.

Based on these experiences and a plan
developed by the steering committee, the
Executive Board decided in the autumn of
2007 to pursue this idea. A DNV Academy
manager will be appointed; he or she will
initiate and support local initiatives to
start working together under one label in
ten countries around the world. To support this, marketing materials and quality
standards will be developed and made
available to the industries we serve. The
aim is to ensure that DNV is recognised
as one of the leading providers of professional training through the DNV
Academy.

In 2007, this initiative started with the
appointment of a steering committee
consisting of representatives of all DNV’s
business areas. Together they developed
a joint idea of what the DNV Academy
could and should be. They also initiated

CORPORATE FOCUS AREAS
DNV introduced a new organisational structure at the beginning of 2007 to gear
up for the growth required to meet the targets in the strategy. From a corporate
perspective, the goal is to ensure that DNV has an organisation that facilitates such
growth, and is able to capitalise on internal resources and expertise, and to create
new business opportunities in a proactive, sustainable manner.

Taking care of our people

40

DNV ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Taking care of our people

Living our values
Ensuring the competence of our employees and their commitment to our vision and values has been and will
remain a priority for DNV.

In February 2007, DNV’s new vision, ‘Global impact for a safe and
sustainable future’ was announced. The new vision was developed
in parallel with the strategy for 2006–2010. The process of defining it involved the Executive Board and management groups, as
well as thorough tests with employees in locations around the
world.
The vision outlines the ambition – global impact – and direction
– for a safe and sustainable future – for DNV for years to come,
and gives the energy and motivation to move the organisation
forward. The change is rooted in the belief that in addition to
its long-term focus on safety and quality, DNV must prioritise
addressing two of the world’s most pressing concerns: safeguarding the environment and balancing the needs of business and
society.
DNV’s values have also been reformulated and refocused to
provide a clearer description of what has brought DNV its worldwide credibility and recognition, and what is necessary to strive
for in the future. DNV’s purpose, ‘To safeguard life, property
and the environment’, remains the same.
DNV’s values are:
I We build trust and confidence
I We never compromise on quality or integrity
I We are committed to teamwork and innovation
I We care for our customers and each other
The vision shall be embraced and implemented throughout the
organisation, both on a business unit and individual level. The
vision shall be used to develop business opportunities, to plan
and prioritise resources, and to guide discussions in regular
meetings. Understanding the vision shall help employees understand who the people in DNV are, what they do and why they
do it. Therefore, all employees have been encouraged to think
about how what they do on a daily basis contributes to DNV
making a global impact.
STRONG PERSONNEL GROWTH
At the end of 2007, DNV reached a total of 7 691 employees,
a net growth of 14% for the year. The budget is to increase the
number of staff by 15% in 2008. At the same time, the DNV-wide
turnover rate of 10% is still higher than desired, though it varies
widely among the business areas.

This strong growth presents other challenges for the organisation.
Much effort is directed toward recruiting and hiring, as well as
to ensure that the number of ‘early leavers’ is minimised by
welcoming newcomers in a proper way and bringing them up
to speed more quickly.
DIVERSITY
New DNV employees are more diverse in terms of age and
nationality. In total, 98 nationalities are represented among
DNV employees, with 57 nationalities among managers. The
percentage of female staff remained the same as in 2006 at 31%,
but the percentage of female managers continued to increase
to 16%. At year-end, 12% of all staff – and 9% of managers
(an increase from only 3% in 2006) – reported to a female
manager. The number of women in the Senior Management
Group also increased to 7 of 67 (from 5 in 2006).
FOCUS ON INTRODUCTION PHASE
One of Corporate Human Resources’ initiatives to help retain
DNV’s talented workforce is the development of a better introduction process for employees’ first year with DNV. The improved
process includes an overview of activities to be carried out, a revamped version of the DNV-wide introduction course and handson tools and material for line managers and Human Resources
to use locally.
The new DNV-wide course is called ‘We in DNV – Introduction
Course’. It was piloted in November and December 2007 in
Houston and Høvik. The course takes an organisational perspective with the anchoring point being DNV’s purpose, values and
vision. The goal is for new employees to understand the organisation as a whole, think across business areas, and understand
the synergies between DNV’s many activities and services. The
intent is to ensure that DNV has one corporate culture and that
employees share the same values. Every new employee should
attend the course within a year of starting work at DNV.
NEW EXPECTATIONS TO LEADERS
The quality of management also plays a key role in whether or
not employees stay with an organisation. Therefore, DNV has
begun a comprehensive and coordinated effort to further develop
leadership performance. ‘New Expectations to Leaders’, which
will be used in the assessment and development of managers,
as well as succession planning, were presented at the Senior
Management Group meeting in 2007.
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THE INTERNATIONAL EMPLOYEE PARTICIPATION IN DNV’S GOVERNING BODIES IS UNPRECEDENTED FOR
A NORWEGIAN COMPANY. DNV EMPHASISES THAT EMPLOYEES FROM ALL OVER THE WORLD ARE HEARD
AND REPRESENTED. THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS CONTAINS EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVES WHO ARE BASED
IN NORWAY, FRANCE AND CHINA, AND THE COUNCIL HAS EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVES WHO WORK IN
ITALY, INDIA, CHINA AND NORWAY.

The expectations to leaders are:
I Respect and care
I Foresight
I Customer focus
I Result orientation
For each expectation, a set of desired behaviours has been
defined. A tailor-made DNV 360-degree assessment tool has
been made available and rolled out in the organisation for
use in the development of managers.
EMPLOYEE RELATIONS
DNV employees worldwide are a key stakeholder group for
DNV, so it is important that they participate actively in DNV’s
governing bodies. Therefore, the Board of Directors was extended
in 2007 to include four employee representatives elected by and
amongst employees around the world to ensure a broad representation. After the first worldwide elections, the Board of
Directors now has employee representatives from Norway (two),
Europe (one, from France) and the Worldwide constituency
(one, from China). The DNV Council has six employee representatives who work in Italy, India, China and Norway.
Employee participation in the strategy development process also
increased in 2007. For the first time ever, four employee-elected
representatives attended the annual Senior Management Group
(SMG) meeting. The representatives were invited to challenge the
working groups and take part in the discussions. Before the meeting, each representative had participated in regional meetings
with members of the Executive Board to discuss DNV strategy.
The plan is for this type of communication across DNV to continue. It is useful for the employee representatives to listen to
and understand managers’ views, as well as for Executive Board
members to get input directly from employee representatives.
2007 PEOPLE SATISFACTION SURVEY
DNV conducted a worldwide People Satisfaction Survey in the
third quarter of 2007. The overall response rate was remarkably
high at 89%.
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The overall results in 2007 were positive and show an improvement compared to 2004 in spite of the strong growth, high
workload and the reorganisation in 2006. New employees,
those who have been with DNV for less than two years, make
up a large percentage of respondents that are very satisfied.
Strengths shown are:
I Commitment to DNV’s Purpose, Values and Vision
I Competence development on the job and meaningful
work
I Immediate managers respect their employees
I DNV strives to maintain a safe workplace
I DNV cares about its customers
Improvement areas include:
I Access to job related internal information
I Expectation setting and performance feedback
from immediate managers
I Compensation system
I Focus on continuous quality improvement
Employees at all levels of the organisation are involved in identifying improvement areas specific to their local issues – and in
making the improvements. Most improvement actions based on
the results will be carried out through the business areas, independent business units and corporate units. The Executive
Board will ensure that information about the survey results are
shared throughout DNV and that actions are identified and
implemented.
Some of the areas for improvement highlighted by the 2007
People Satisfaction Survey were already being addressed in 2007,
such as the development of leadership and management. In
addition, 80% of DNV employees receive regular performance
and career development reviews. Meanwhile, the work being
done in the business areas to promote competence development
in a more structured way gave positive results in the survey.

Taking care of our people

DNV WORK FORCE BY EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT
Number of employees
Full time, permanent DNV employees (Class A)* 7 245
DNV Employees – long-term contract (Class C)

446

Subcontractors, non-DNV employees

2 777

Extra personnel, non-DNV employees

571

* Approximately 30% of DNV employees (Class A) are covered by collective
bargaining agreements. DNV’s management has taken active steps to allow
employees to participate in DNV’s governing bodies and strategy development
process.

DNV full-time and part-time employees (Class A) generally have the same
benefits per salary grade per country. Some benefits vary between permanent
and temporary employees, e.g. eligibility for bonus.

DNV IN THE WORLD

1
2
3

Region

Number of employees1 Females %2

Turnover %3

Expatriate %4 Local management %5

Africa

76

25.0

16.7

11.8

36.4

Americas

906

33.6

15.3

2.9

74.8

Asia/Oceania

1 977

28.5

8.2

10.5

62.6

Europe

1 892

36.5

10.7

2.7

88.7

Middle East

218

23.9

10.6

12.4

12.0

Nordic/Baltic countries

375

33.6

6.4

1.1

90.7

Norway

2 247

30.4

6.3

1.1

92.5

Number of Class A and C employees
Percentage of females
Percentage turnover (calculated from Class A employees)

4
5

Percentage of expatriates
Local managers – managers who are native to country

DNV WORKFORCE BY AGE AND TURNOVER

1

Age groups *

Number of employees1

Turnover %2

Under 30

1 596

13.0

31–40
41–50
51–60
over 60

2 665
1 936
1 116
378

11.0
7.8
4.7
2.8

Number of Class A and C employees

2

Percentage turnover (calculated from Class A employees).
Turnover by gender is 9.4% females and 9% males
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Safety and health

Managing our own risks
DNV’s purpose – to safeguard life, property and the environment – brings with it the responsibility to pay extra
attention to the safety and health of our employees.

In 2007, DNV performed a gap analysis of the safety and health
elements of the management system against OHSAS 18001.
Processes and activities to close the identified gaps were
designed and will be implemented throughout the organisation
in 2008.
The People Satisfaction Survey showed that 95% of employees
believe DNV strives to maintain a safe work place. There are differences in how safety issues are perceived in different parts of
the world, and DNV is taking these differences into consideration when developing local safety improvement programmes.
In 2007, DNV Maritime launched a new safety improvement
programme in China. Safety specialists visit the yards to assess
local conditions and discuss daily safety challenges with surveyors. Together with the surveyors, the main hazards are identified
at each site and preventive and corrective actions are agreed on
and implemented.
Car driving is the most common cause of work-related accidents
in DNV. Consequently, numerous initiatives have been taken to
reduce this risk.
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Visits to customer sites and offices are an important part of the
execution of DNV’s services and sometimes require travel to
challenging destinations. Risks related to employee safety are
closely monitored in geographical areas suffering from war, terrorist threats, high crime rates, serious epidemics or natural disasters, and this information is shared throughout the organisation. DNV has entered into an agreement which ensures that
employees will be evacuated in situations that are critical due to
either a medical condition or civil unrest.
DNV supplies malaria self-test kits to employees when they travel
to affected areas. The key issue with malaria, however, is not only
treatment but also prevention. As part of DNV Angola’s SHE
programme, Malaria Awareness Training was given to employees
and their family members in June.
2007 was a very busy year in DNV, and employees often felt the
pressure. As a people business, DNV depends on the well-being
of its employees and is strengthening its processes for protecting
them.

Safety and health

Approximately one third of all long-term sick leave in Norway is
stress-related. Stress scanning, with the opportunity for individual consultations for employees with high stress scores, has produced positive results. Stress scanning will be implemented for
all employees in Norway, and similar programmes are being
run in several other countries where stress has been identified
as significant challenge.

were stress-related. The sickness absence rate has been unchanged
over the past two years and is considered to be satisfactory. Of
the 394 incidents, 306 have been followed up and closed while
88 are being reviewed.
The number of incident reports per employee is expected to
continue growing as the process is embraced throughout the
organisation. The number of incidents per million hours worked
varies for each region. To some extent, these differences are
assumed to reflect differences in reporting culture.

In 2007, 394 incidents were reported, 352 of which were workrelated. Most accidents were caused by employees slipping,
tripping or falling, and 40% of the occupational health issues

SAFETY AND HEALTH STATISTICS
Fatal Accidents
Accident
Lost time accident
(Harm to people,absence >8hrs)
Injury accident
(Harm to people, absence <8hrs)
Occupational health issue, with absence
LTA
SAI
Sickness Absence Rate (%)

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

0

0

0

0

1*

39

31

27

32

41

58
3.7
65.4
2.5

41
0
2.8
37.6
2.3

48
10
2.3
32.8
2.3

61
10
2.8
24.3
2.0

66
14
3.1
50.8
2.0

Occupational Health Issue: work environment conditions (including psychosocial work environment and ergonomics) where exposure may result in illness
LTA (Lost Time Accident) frequency: number of Lost Time Accidents/million hours worked
SAI (Severity Accident Index): number of days absence due to Lost Time Accidents/million hours worked
Sickness Absence Rate (%): (sickness absence/number of hours worked)*100
*A DNV Petroleum Services surveyor died in a road accident on the motorway between Singapore and Kuala Lumpur.

NUMBER OF INCIDENTS PER REGION/MILLION WORKED HOURS
12

10

8

6

4

2

0
Africa
Lost time accidents,

Americas

Asia/Oceania

Injury accidents and

Europe

Middle East

Nordic/Baltic

Norway

Occupational health issues per million hours worked, by region
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Enhancing environmental awareness
DNV’s approach to safeguarding the environment is threefold; a focus on a positive global impact on the
environment through our services, continuously improving the environmental footprint of our operations,
and helping our employees improve their personal environmental footprint.
In 2007, DNV launched ‘WE do’, an initiative designed to increase
environmental awareness among employees and help them act
in a more environmentally friendly manner in their daily lives.
DNV has allocated NOK 40 million in 2008 to partially finance
environmental measures initiated by DNV employees. ‘WE do’
will finance up to two thirds of the cost of private environmental
measures, with the maximum grant per employee limited to
NOK 10 000. This initiative will be reported on in 2008.

ronmental management system show DNV’s commitment to
action to address climate change and other environmental
issues.

During the past year, DNV has continued to join businesses,
NGOs and other stakeholders in putting the environment on
the agenda. At the Global Compact Leaders Summit in July
2007, DNV signed the statement headed “Caring for Climate:
The Business Leadership Platform” and thereby expressed the
urgent need for businesses, governments and citizens to take
steps to address climate change.

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
In 2007, the focus was on implementing an Environmental
Management System in compliance with ISO 14001. Energy
consumption and waste handling are important areas of attention, but in many countries targets have also been set to reduce
business travel. DNV aims to improve environmental awareness
in general throughout the organisation. Al Gore’s film An
Inconvenient Truth has therefore been shown in most of the
company’s offices around the world, and in some countries the
employees’ family members have also been invited to watch. In
addition, several other awareness activities have been initiated
in many countries.

The launch of DNV’s ‘WE do’ initiative, our focus on providing
environmental services that address climate change, and our
work to ensure continuous improvements through our envi-

A pilot for monitoring and reporting environmental performance has been started in Norway using DNV’s own software, the
Environmental Performance System (EPS). The environmental
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performance indicators established are based on an environmental aspect assessment, environmental objectives, legal
requirements and the GRI reporting requirements.
ENERGY CONSUMPTION
A survey of five DNV offices (Høvik, Rio de Janeiro, London,
Singapore and Houston), covering approximately 32% of DNV’s
employees, has been conducted in order to map energy consumption.
The average energy consumption per person in the selected
offices was 12 115 kWh in 2007, (a decrease from 14 040 kWh
in 2006). Of this, 13% was renewable energy produced largely
by a heat pump at Høvik (12% in 2006). When hydropower is
included, renewable energy constitutes 82% of consumption
(77% in 2006).
EMISSIONS
The emissions from energy use per person per year at the selected
offices were 2 300 kg CO2 , 3.8 kg NO2 and 5.5 kg SO2.
The large decrease in specific emissions in Norway is due to a
shift to renewable energy. The increase in specific emissions in
Singapore is due to a shift from gas to oil. The increase in specific
emissions in Houston is due to higher electricity consumption
and updated emission factors specific to Houston.

DNV TAKES ITS OWN ENVIRONMENTAL
PERFORMANCE SERIOUSLY
AND PLANS TO BE READY FOR ENVIRONMENTAL
CERTIFICATION BY THE END OF 2008.

WASTE HANDLING
DNV Petroleum Services (DNVPS) laboratories reported the
disposal of 117 tonnes of hazardous waste in 2007 (an increase
from 112 tonnes in 2006), of which 97% was delivered to
licensed waste-handling facilities, 2% consisted of oil that was
burned off to the air, and 1% was diluted and disposed of in
the sewage system.
A survey of waste handling at DNV’s offices at Høvik has also
been conducted. The waste per employee was measured to
be 0.3 tonnes per year over the past three years.
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ENERGY CONSUMPTION
Energy consumption (kWh/person)
2005
16 283
9 778
13 793
1 407
15 789
14 923

Høvik
London
Singapore
Rio de Janeiro
Houston
Average five locations

2006
15 919
10 593
14 212
1 812
7 521
14 040

Non-renewable
2007

Renewable 2007
ex. hydropower

Hydropower
2007

3%
59%
100%
50%
94%
18%

15%
14%
0%
0%
6%
13%

82%
27%
0%
50%
0%
69%

2007
14 197
7 687
10 502
1 095
8 394
12 115

EMISSIONS TO AIR PER LOCATION
kg CO2/
person/year

kg SO2/
person/year

2005

2006

2007

2005

2006

2007

2005

2006

2007

252
1 890
4 712
0
3 547

252
1 890
4 712
0
3 337

145
977
5 881
0
4 566

0.24
2.39
4.46
0.00
1.29

0.24
2.39
4.46
0.00
1.21

0.14
2.14
6.30
0.00
10.49

0.40
7.62
7.43
0.00
0.13

0.40
7.62
7.43
0.00
0.12

0.23
2.55
13.65
0.00
11.21

2 080.15

2 038.01

2 313.82

1.67

1.66

3.81

3.12

3.11

5.53

Høvik
London
Singapore
Rio de Janeiro
Houston
Total average
emission

kg NO2/
person/year

The total average emissions for 2006 have been corrected compared to those previously reported due to improved reporting practices.

WASTE HANDLING
Chemical, oil and other hazardous waste from DNVPS laboratories in 2007
1% 2%

5%
39%

56%
97%

Chemicals
Waste oil
Other hazardous waste

Collected by licensed contractors
Oil burned off to the air
Diluted and disposed of sewage
system

WASTE PER EMPLOYEES AT DNV´S HEAD OFFICE IN OSLO
Type of waste
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Quantity
tonnes/year

Low classified paper
High classified paper
Cardboard
Electronic equipment
Furniture

0.00
119.00
46.00
5.00
0.00

Organic disposal
Metal
Bricks, concrete, special
building materials

32.00
42.00
185.00

Oil
Oil rags (inflammable)
Glass
Rest disposal
Total waste
Total waste per person

2.50
0.00
3.00
202.00
636.50
0.30
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Description of separation and handling
Recycled
Heat recovered
Recycled
Separated and delivered to waste handling approved by the authorities
All furniture disposed of in 2007 has been sold to external subcontractor.
Nothing was sent to waste disposal

Separated and delivered to approved waste handling

Corporate social responsibility

Beyond business
DNV considers corporate social responsibility (CSR) to be a continous commitment and critical element in its
work – one that we take as seriously as our financial bottom line.
DNV’s vision for a sustainable future is translated into action
when working with our customers and in our own operations.
DNV’s CSR Board uses a risk assessment approach to identify,
prioritise and implement actions for important CSR issues in
areas such as corporate governance, ethical business practices,
the environment, transparency and accountability.
As highlighted in the next section, special efforts have been made
in 2007 to manage risks connected to fraud and corruption.
DNV’s Ombudsman represents a safety valve for employees
reporting those ethics cases that are not handled through the
normal line management route. Many of the approaches made
to the Ombudsman are still to Human Resource management
and have been passed on accordingly. Other approaches have
concerned ethical dilemmas on which the Ombudsman has
given advice. A growing number of approaches relate to challenges associated with entering or withdrawing from business
in certain countries where the safety of employees is at stake or
where corrupt business practices are common.
DNV actively supports several national and international initiatives and associations that focus on sustainable development
and the role of business in society; principally:
I The UN Global Compact
I Transparency International
I The Global Reporting Initiative
I The World Business Council for Sustainable Development
(WBCSD).

DNV’s commitment to the UN Global Compact principles is
shown throughout this report and DNV complies with Transparency International’s guidelines in its work to combat corruption. DNV is an organisational stakeholder of the GRI and continuously works to meet the transparency promoted by the GRI
guidelines. DNV’s membership of the WBCSD provides an
excellent platform for contributing to work and dialogues on
sustainable development and the role of business in society.
PARTNERSHIP WITH THE RED CROSS
In January 2007, DNV’s partnership with the Red Cross was
extended for a new period of three years. The partnership’s
focus is on providing safe drinking water and improved sanitation to vulnerable people. The aim is also to develop expertise
in both organisations through the exchange of knowledge in
areas of common interest.
In 2007, DNV continued to support water and sanitation projects
in China and Kenya. New in 2007 was the support given to a
water and sanitation project in Belize, extending our reach into
Latin America. As a result of these programmes, approximately
7 400 people have gained access to clean water and improved
sanitation. Competence has been exchanged in new areas.
DNV has assisted the Red Cross contingency measures for rescue
operations at sea. The Red Cross has shared its expertise in
employee safety. DNV has carried out an audit of water projects
in China and continued to provide assistance on IT management to an ambulance centre in Serbia.

DNV ANNUAL REPORT 2007

49

Corporate risks

Preventing fraud and corruption
Fraud and corruption cases can have a direct impact on profit and costs and a negative impact on society
at large. In addition, such cases can influence brand value and customer and employee loyalty.

Recognising this challenge, DNV has developed a Fraud &
Corruption Resistance assessment approach that is based
upon the following initiatives and guidelines for best practice.
I
I
I
I
I

The UN Global Compact Principles regarding
Anti-corruption
OECD Business Approaches to Combating Corrupt Practices
Transparency International’s Business Principles for
Countering Bribery
The COSO Internal Control Framework
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, section 404.

The requirements and recommendations have been translated
into elements of a management system. The assessment tool is
structured around the ISO improvement loop and consists of
five key activities: strategy and policy setting; planning; implementation and operation; measuring and monitoring;
management review.
The assessment generates a profile and a snapshot of how resistant an organisation, corporation or entity is to the effects and
impact of fraud and corruption and benchmarks these against
widely accepted conventions, principles and guidelines in the
field of fraud and corruption prevention.
DNV ASSESSMENT
At the beginning of 2007, DNV assessed the ability of its own
management systems to resist fraud and corruption using this
tool. The assessment team conducted 33 interviews with 51 participants at DNV’s head office in Norway (Oslo), in DNV Brazil (Rio
de Janeiro and Sao Paulo) and DNV Singapore. The assessment
covered all levels of the organisation and business areas.
The tool provided an impression of how well developed the
DNV management system is with regard to fraud and corruption
prevention and established a basis for further improvements.
The assessment showed a high score for elements such as management of incidents. It indicated, however, that DNV could be
more proactive with regard to risk assessment and the implementation of controls and training and awareness programmes
to combat fraud and corruption.
In 2007, a significant focus was put on improving the awareness
of and training to prevent internal fraud and corruption. New
guidelines that support DNV’s anti-corruption instructions have
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been developed. These describe the Best Practices and include
practical examples of what is considered acceptable or unacceptable in business relationships with customers and suppliers. The
guidelines are based on a survey among DNV Country Chairs,
best practices as described by the Confederation of Norwegian
Enterprise (NHO), Transparency International’s Business Principles for Countering Bribery, and the ICC Commission on AntiCorruption.
DEALING WITH DILEMMAS
The anti-corruption instructions and guidelines deal with several
difficult topics that require personal judgement which may be
influenced by local business practices and culture. As these
documents cannot cover all workplace situations, a workshop
programme has also been developed to provide further guidance
to employees when dealing with dilemmas. The objective of the
dilemma training programme is to encourage transparency and
increase the interest in and awareness of picking up, reflecting
and deciding on operational dilemmas that employees are faced
with in the organisation. The programme is based on workshops
and a short e-primer that presents some dilemmas in order to
trigger discussions. The programme is planned to be rolled out
in 2008.

KEY CORPORATE RISKS
IDENTIFIED BY DNV
I
I

Attracting and retaining qualified staff
Serious accident involving DNV-classed ship or
drilling unit

I

Staff security/safety in hostile environments

I

Ethical cases

I

Currency fluctuations and volatility of financial
investments

I

Data security

I

Acquisition failures.

DNV’S GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
DNV is a private foundation and there are no governmental representatives in any
of its decision-making bodies. All DNV governing bodies are structured in such a
way that no individual group of clients or other parties has controlling influence
on the decision-making process.

Council, Board of Directors, Committees

Council, Board of Directors, Committees
THE COUNCIL

Niksa Padovan

Chairman
Westye Høegh, Oslo
Vice Chairman
Gunvor Ulstein, Ulsteinvik
Honorary member
Erik F. Lorentzen, Oslo
Members appointed by
Norwegian Shipowners
Association
Terje J.K. Andersen, Ålesund
Elisabeth Grieg, Oslo
Herbjørn Hansson, Sandefjord
Trond Harald Klaveness, Oslo
Garup Meidell, Oslo
Kristine Skeie, Kopervik
Anette S. Olsen, Oslo
Ingar Skaug, Oslo
Member appointed by
Association of Fishingboat
Owners
Inge Halstensen, Bekkjarvik
Members appointed by
Norwegian Oil Industry Forum
Anders Mørland, Stavanger
Jorunn Sætre, Tananger
Tore Torvund, Oslo
Johan Nic. Vold, Tananger
Per Terje Vold, Stavanger
Members appointed by
Central Association of Marine
Underwriters
Bjørn Eidem, Oslo
Bjørn Hildan, Oslo
Helle Hammer, Oslo
Claes Isacson, Arendal
Douglas Jacobsohn, Oslo
Georg Scheel, Oslo
Trygve Seglem, Haugesund
Members appointed by
Confederation of Norwegian
Business and Industry
Finn Bergesen Jr., Oslo
Karl Erik Kjelstad, Oslo
Jan Erik Korssjøen, Kongsberg
Erling Øverland, Stavanger
Members Other Shipping
Peter Anker, Oslo
Dan Sten Olsson, Gothenburg
Members appointed by
The Council
Birgit Aagaard-Svendsen,
Copenhagen
Jon Fredrik Baksaas, Oslo
Klaus Kjærulff, Denmark
Dr. C. Thomas Rehder, Hamburg
Gunn Wærsted, Oslo
Members appointed by and from
Det Norske Veritas’ employees
Marit Sætre Cruickshanks
Anita D’Souza, Mumbai
Arve A. Kvien, Bergen
Nicola Privato, Milan
Odd Sund
Ning Zhou, Shanghai

THE CONTROL COMMITTEE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Chairman
Atle Bergshaven
Vice Chairman
Caroline Maury Devine
Members
Tom Ruud
John H. Wiik
Axel C. Eitzen
Mary Grace Anderson
Audun Brandsæter
Sille Grjotheim
Yan Ma
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Chairman
Erling Øverland
Members
Herbjørn Hansson
Georg Scheel

THE ELECTION COMMITTEE
Chairman
Westye Høegh
Members
Jon Fredrik Baksaas
Trond Harald Klaveness
Gunn Wærsted
Johan Nic. Vold

THE NORDIC COMMITTEE
FOR SAFETY AT SEA
Chairman
Knut L. Arnesen,
Wilh. Wilhelmsen ASA
Secretary
Odd P. Torset, Det Norske Veritas AS
DENMARK
Christian Breinholt, Søfartsstyrelsen
Kim Bomholt Nielsen, Carl Bro A/S
Carl-Erik Egeberg,
Man B & W Diesel A/S
Niels Chr. Engbjerg,
Søværnets Materiell Kommando
Flemming Sandstrøm, DFDS A/S
Mogens Fynbo,
Dampskibsselskabet Torm A/S
Jeppe Guld, TrygVesta
Óli Hans Hammer Olsen,
Faroes Maritime Authority
Jan de Kat, A.P. Møller-Mærsk A/S
Lars Lundegaard, DS Norden A/S
Hans Henrik Petersen,
Danmarks Rederiforening
Preben Terndrup Pedersen,
Danmarks Tekniske Universitet
Tommy Thomassen,
A.P. Møller-Mærsk A/S
FINLAND
Juhani Ahonius, Finstaship Oy/Ab
Bo-Erik Blomqvist, Aker Yards Oy
Björn G. Fagerström,
Fortum Oil and Gas Oy
Tony Öhman, Viking Line Abp
Marcus Lindfors,
Lundqvist Rederierna
Mikko Niini
Leif Nordlund, Alandia-Bolagen
Erik Skogström, Aker Finnyards OY
Petri Varsta,
Helsinki University of Technology
Paavo Wihuri, Sjöfartsverket
SWEDEN
Bertil Andersson, Laurin Maritime AB
Christer Bruzelius,
Finnlines Ship Management AB
Per Croner, Wallenius Marine AB
Johan Franson, Sjöfartsverket
Sten G. F. Göthberg, The Swedish
Association of Marine Underwriters
Göran Hammarberg
Roger Karlsson,
Marinvest Shipping AB
Örjan Larsson, B & N Rederi AB
Jan Eric Nilsson, Rederi AB Gotland
Harry Robertsson, Stena Rederi AB
Olle Rutgersson,
Chalmers Lindholmen
Nils Sjökvist, Wallenius Marine AB
Peter Stenberg,
Broström Ship Management AB
Peter Stålberg, The Swedish Club

Anders Ulfvarson,
Chalmers Tekniska Högskola

Carl Arne Carlsen, DNV (Secretary)

THE GERMAN COMMITTEE
NORWAY
Knut L. Arnesen,
Wilh. Wilhelmsen ASA
Karl Johan Bakken,
Farstad Shipping ASA
Jan A. Berntzen, Kristian Gerhard
Jebsen Skipsrederi A/S
Erik Bratvold,
Norsk Sjømannsforbund
Kåre Breivik, StatoilHydro ASA
Torstein Dehn,
Nordic Maritime Services AS
Lars Gathe, Elkem ASA
Terje C. Gløersen,
Norges Rederiforbund
Hans Richard Hansen,
Teekay Marine Services AS
Nils Chr. Høy-Petersen,
Klaveness Maritime Logistics AS
Bjørn Haave,
Norsk Sjøoffisersforbund
Eivind Holte, Saga Shipholding
(Norway) AS
Steinar S. Kulen, Aker Yards Florø AS
Henrik Lian, Jahre-Wallem AS
Jan D. Lorentz, Odfjell SE
Torgeir Moan, Inst. For Marine
Konstruksjoner, NTNU
Niels C. Møller,
Borgestad Shipping AS
Dragos Rauta, Intertanko
Geir Sekkesæter,
Barber Ship Management AS
Stig Sandanger Riise,
Aker Yards Project AS
Henry A. Svendsen,
Grieg Billabong AS
Svein Sørensen, Color Line Marine AS
Claus Thornberg, BW Offshore AS
Tore Ulstein,
Ulstein Mekaniske Verksted AS
Even Ulving, V-Ships Norway AS
Oddvar Aam, Marintek A/S
Yngvil Åsheim,
Höegh Fleet Services AS

THE RIG OWNERS’ COMMITTEE
Chairman
Mike Hall, Transocean
Members
Alan Quintero,
Atwood Oceanics, Inc.
Joe Glass, CalDive International
Yang Yexin,
China Oilfield Services Ltd.
Li Jizha, China Oilfield Services Ltd.
Charles Keaton, GlobalSantaFe
Anders Tegelstrøm, Cotemar
John Vecchio,
Diamond Offshore Drilling Inc.
Helge Haakonsen,
Fred. Olsen Energy ASA
Gregers Kudsk, Mærsk Contractors
Arun Pushkarna,
National Drilling Co., UAE
Jim Gormanson,
Noble Drilling Services Inc.
Frank Tollefsen, Ocean Rig AS
Arve Grasdal, Odfjell Drilling AS
Gustavo Adolfo Villela de Castro,
Petrobras Brasileiro SA
Helge Krafft, Petrojarl ASA
Eiliv Johannessen, Polycrest
Russ Krohn, Pride International
Ian Young, Prosafe Offshore Ltd.
Bob Shetti, Rowan Companies, Inc.
Marco Toninelli, Saipem Spa
Kåre Syvertsen, Sevan Marine ASA
Einar Bekkevold, SeaDrill ASA
Tom Kennedy, Stena Drilling
Tore Berg, Thule Drilling ASA
Siggi Ludwig, Workfox BV

Chairman
Thomas Rehder,
Carsten Rehder Schiffsmakler u.
Reederei GmbH & Co.
Members
Nikolaus H. Schües jr.,
Reederei F. Laeisz GmbH
Jürgen Kennemann,
Aker Yards, Germany
Ian Beveridge,
Bernhard Schulte GmbH & Co. KG
Jan-Wilhelm Schuchmann,
Bugsier-, Reederei- &
Bergungsgesellschaft mbH & Co.
Albert Schumacher,
E.R. Schiffahrt GmbH & Cie.
Tom Jacob,
Ernst Jacob (GmbH & Co. KG)
Fred Garbe, Flensburger SchiffbauGesellschaft mbH & Co. KG
Mr Sierk, Flensburger SchiffbauGesellschaft mbH & Co. KG
Frank Jungmann, German Tanker
Shipping GmbH & Co.
Peter Harren, Harren & Partner
Ship Management GmbH & Co. KG
Klaus F. Bunnemann,
Hermann Dauelsberg GmbH & Co.
Lambert Kruse, Meyer Werft GmbH
Roland F. Höger,
Komrowski Befrachtungskontor KG
(GmbH & Co.)
Werner Lüken,
Lloyd Werft Bremerhaven GmbH
Jürgen Wehr,
Oskar Wehr KG (GmbH & Co.)
Christian Fritzen,
Marine Services GmbH
Peter Rybarczyk, Reederei “Nord”
Klaus E. Oldendorff GmbH
Bernd Peterson, Reederei Hans
Peterson & Söhne GmbH & Co. KG
Stefan Patjens,
Reederei Stefan Patjens e.K.
Dr Eckel, Blohm & Voss GmbH

THE GREEK COMMITTEE
Chairman
Christos Kanellakis,
Alpha Tankers & Freighters Int.
Vice Chairmen
Stathes J. Kulukundis,
Rethymnis & Kulukundis Ltd.
Theodoros Veniamis,
Golden Union Shipping Co. S.A.
Members
Nicolas A. Pappadakis,
Antares Shipmanagement S.A.
John Angelicoussis,
Kristen Navigation Inc.
Nicos I. Manias,
Arcadia Shipmanagement Co. Ltd.
Evangelos Marinakis,
Capital Ship Management Corp.
Nicolas H. Vafias,
Brave Maritime Corporation Inc.
Adamantios Lemos,
Unisea Maritime Ltd.
Anastasios Papagiannopoulos,
Common Progress Compania
Naviera S.A.
John Coustas,
Danaos Shipping Co. Ltd.
George Procopiou,
Dynacom Tankers Management Ltd.
Spyros Karnessis,
Elka Shipping (London) Ltd.
Andonis Lemos, Enesel S.A.
Victor Restis,
Enterprises Shipping & Trading S.A.
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Michael C. Phostiropoulos,
Fairsky Shipping & Trading S.A.
Ghassan R. Ghandour,
Gulf Marine Management S.A.
Michael Nicholas Papaioannou,
Helikon Shipping Enterprises
Dimitri Dragazis,
John Latsis (London) Ltd.
Andreas Martinos,
Minerva Marine Inc.
Ulysses Perantzakis,
Naftomar Shipping & Trading Co.
Melina Travlos,
Neptune Lines Shipping &
Management Enterprises S.A.
Spyros M. Polemis,
Seacrest Shipping Co. Ltd.
Vassilis Laliotis, Seaworld
Management & Trading Inc.
Alexander Kedros, Southern Shipping
& Finance Co. Ltd.
George Gratsos,
Standard Bulk Transport Corp.
Genie Adrianopoulos,
Tropis Shipping Co. Ltd.
Nikolas P. Tsakos,
Tsakos Shipping & Trading S.A.
Anthony Paul Palios,
Victoria Steamship Co. Ltd.
Ioannis Kourmatzis, DNV (Secretary)

THE SOUTH ASIAN
COMMITTEE
Chairman
K.M. Sheth,
The Great Eastern Shipping Co. Ltd.
Members
D.T. Joseph, Ministry of Shipping,
Government of India
G.S. Sahni,
Directorate General of Shipping
Ashok V. Chowgule,
Chowgule Steamship Co. Pvt. Ltd.
A. Mehta, Varun Shipping Co. Ltd.
A.R. Ramakrishnan,
Essar Shipping Ltd.
H.K. Mittal, Mercator Lines Ltd.
S.S. Rangnekar, The Shipping
Corporation of India Ltd.
R.L. Pai, Reliance Industries Ltd.
Rishi Agarwal, ABG Shipyard Ltd.
A. Qadir, West Asia Maritime Ltd.
M. Jitendran, Cochin Shipyard Ltd.
Ajit Tewari, Hindustan Shipyard Ltd.
S. Madhan,
Good Earth Maritime Ltd.
Rohet Tolani, Tolani Shipping Co. Ltd.
M.P.B. Yapa, Colombo Dockyard Ltd.

THE IRANIAN COMMITTEE
Chairman
Souri,
National Iranian Tanker Co. (NITC)
Members
A. Taheri Motlagh,
Ports & Shipping Org. (P.S.O.)
S.M. Momeni,
Ports & Shipping Org. (P.S.O.)
Estiri, Ports & Shipping Org. (P.S.O.)
Abbasnejad,
Ports & Shipping Org. (P.S.O.)
J. Mayahi,
National Iranian Tanker Co. (NITC)
Taghizadeh,
National Iranian Tanker Co. (NITC)
Dadjmar, Islamic Republic of Iran
Shipping Lines (IRISL)
Nabipour, Islamic Republic of Iran
Shipping Lines (IRISL)
Gh. Golparvar, Islamic Republic of
Iran Shipping Lines (IRISL)
Safarali, Bonyad Shipping Co.
J. Khalili, Khazar Shipping Co.
Athaide, Irano Hind Shipping Co.

Tafazoli,
IRISL Marine Engineering Services
Banayei,
Iran Marine Industrial Co. (SADRA)
Khooban,
Iran Marine Industrial Co. (SADRA)
Saeedi, ISOICO
Saeedi, Valfajr Shipping Co.
Captain Golzani,
Qeshm Bonyad Ship Management
Keshavarzi,
Pars Petrochemical Shipping
Captain Khoshroo, Arya Shipping

THE KOREAN COMMITTEE
Chairman
Jang, Won Gab,
STX Shipbuilding Co., Ltd.
Honorary Chairman
Wang, Sang Eun,
Pan Continental Shipping Co., Ltd.
Members
Carl-Johan Hagman,
EUKOR Car Carriers Inc.
Noh, Jeong Ik,
Hyundai Merchant Marine Co., Ltd.
Lee, Jin Bang,
Korea Line Corporation
Lee, Jeong Hwa,
SK Shipping Co., Ltd.
Hwang, Sung Hyuk, Hwang & Co.
Ki, Won Kang, Daewoo Shipbuilding
& Marine Engineering Co., Ltd.
Park, Kyu Won, Hanjin Heavy
Industries & Construction Co., Ltd.
Choi, Kil Seon,
Hyundai Heavy Industries Co., Ltd.
Song, Jae Byoung,
Hyundai Mipo Dockyard Co., Ltd.
Kang, Soo Hyun, Hyundai Samho
Heavy Industries Co., Ltd.
Kim, Jing Wan,
Samsung Heavy Industries Co., Ltd.
Sohn, Pan Du,
SLS Shipbuilding Co., Ltd.
Yu, Kwan Hong,
Sung Dong Shipbuilding & Marine
Engineering Co., Ltd.
Kim, Ho Chung,
Daehan Shipbuilding Co., Ltd.

THE NORTH AMERICAN
COMMITTEE
Chairman
Harri Kulovaara,
Royal Caribbean International
Vice Chairman
Peter Curtis,
Seaspan Ship Management
Members
Mel J. Dennett,
Admanthos Shipping Agency, Inc.
Brian G. Constable,
APL Maritime Ltd.
Arthur L. Regan,
Arlington Tankers LLC
Steven Ho,
Fairmont Shipping (Canada) Ltd.
Tom Paterson, Fednav Ltd.
John P. Tavlarios,
General Maritime Corporation
William O. Gray, Gray Maritime
Per Heidenreich, Per Heidenreich
Tom Ward,
International Marine Consultants Ltd.
Graham Westgarth,
Teekay Marine Services
Michael Wilson,
Laurin Maritime (America) Inc.
Paul D. Sclavounos, Massachusetts
Institute of Technology
Stephen Carmel, Maersk Line, Ltd.
Colin Veitch, Norwegian Cruise Line

Cameron Mackey, OMI Corporation
John C. A. Koo,
Orient Steamship (Canada) Co., Ltd.
RADM Salerno,
United States Coast Guard

THE SOUTH AMERICAN
COMMITTEE
Chairman
Erling S. Lorentzen,
Lorentzen Empreendimentos S/A,
Rio de Janeiro
Members
Carlos Alberto Carpanelli,
Antares Naviera, Buenos Aires
Juan Carlos Lopez Mena,
BUQUEBUS, Buenos Aires
Eliezer Batista da Silva,
FIRJAN, Rio de Janeiro
Agenor Junqueira Leite, Transpetro
Ozíres Silva, Univ. de Santo Amaro
Haakon Lorentzen, Lorentzen
Empreendimentos S/A, Rio de Janeiro
João Carlos França de Luca,
Repsol YPF, Rio de Janeiro
Kenhitiro Kurihara,
KROMAV Engenharia LTDA
Ariovaldo Rocha,
Sinaval, Rio de Janeiro
Sven Von Appen,
Ultragas Group, Santiago

THE SOUTH EAST ASIAN
COMMITTEE
Chairman
Chiau Beng Choo, Keppel Offshore
& Marine Ltd., Singapore
Members
Robertus Sumantri, Altus Shipping
and Logistics Pte Ltd., Singapore
Peng Yen Koay,
IMC Shipping Co Pte Ltd., Singapore
Trevor Smith, BW Shipping Managers
Pte Ltd., Singapore
John Bruce Rae-Smith,
Swire Pacific Offshore Ltd., Singapore
Ragnar Nielsen,
Masterbulk Pte Ltd., Singapore
Teik Poh Goh,
APL Co. Pte Ltd., Singapore
Alastair McGregor, Tanker Pacific
Management (S) Pte Ltd, Singapore
Ngee Sheng Choy, GBLT
Shipmanagement Pte Ltd, Singapore
Nik Mohd Zain,
Nepline Berhad, Malaysia
Ahmad Sufian (Dato), Essem
Holdings (M) Sdn. Bhd., Malaysia
Azhar Abbas Shamsul (Dato),
MISC Bhd, Malaysia
Nils-Goran Nordh,
Dynamar B.V., Malaysia
Sumate Tanthuwanit,
Regional Container Lines Public
Co. Ltd., Thailand
Gustaf Gronberg,
Star Cruise Sdn Bhd, Malaysia

THE UK COMMITTEE
Chairman
Jan Kopernicki, Shell International
Trading and Shipping Company Ltd
Members
Amir Azizan, AET (UK) Ltd
Jim Clench,
Saga Shipping Company Ltd
Dimitrios Fafalios, Fafalios Ltd
Jesper Kjaedegaard,
The Maersk Company
Alexander Kulukundis,
Rethymnis & Kulukundis Ltd
Hans Laurin,
Laurin Maritime (UK) Ltd

Vladimir Lebedev, Novoship (UK) Ltd
Ravi Mehrotra, Foresight Ltd
George Mouskas,
Zela Shipping Co Ltd
Spyros Polemis,
Seacrest Shipping Co Ltd
Henrik von Platen,
Samco (Services) Ltd
Hugh Williams, Graig Shipping PLC
Morten Hoegh, Leif Hoegh (UK) Ltd
Jörg Beiler, DNV
Henrik O. Madsen, DNV
Tor E. Svensen, DNV
Michael Lavidas, DNV (Secretary)

THE PIPELINE COMMITTEE
Chairman
Andrew Palmer,
University of Singapore
Members
Kjell Arlid Arnfinnsen, Ptil
Alan Black, Acergy
Tim Crome, Technip
Meyrick Hadfield, HSE
Jørgen Vestergård Sørensen, Mærsk
Evgeni Kayma, GAZPROM
Seng Teo, BP
Shinji Kojima, JFE Steel
John Lawson, Chevron Texaco
Theo Koeppe, Europipe
Henri Godinot, Total
Colin McKinnon, JP Kenny
Daniel Karunakaran, Subsea7
Arjan Korver, Allseas
Birgit Søvik Opheim, StatoilHydro
Massimo Pulici, Saipem
Peter Tait, Corus
Frederico Tintori, Dalmine
Jens Erik Thygessen, DONG
Tanja Schmidt, VM Tubes
David Bruton, Atkins
Leif Collberg, DNV
Kjell Eriksen, DNV
Bjørn-Andreas Hugaas, DNV
Kim Mørk, DNV (Secretary)

THE DNV FERRY COMMITTEE
Chairman
Håkan Enlund,
Aker Finnyards Oy, Finland
Ex-officio Member
Karl Morten Wiklund,
DNV Høvik, Norway
AUSTRALIA, N.Z. & OCEANIA
Robert Clifford,
INCAT Australia, Australia
John Szeto, AMD Marine Consulting,
Australia/China
Michael Grainger,
Liferaft Systems Australia, Australia
Ian Graham, Interisland Line /
TOLL Shipping, Australia
CHINA, JAPAN & KOREA
Taketsune Matsumura, Mitsui Eng.
& Shipbuilding Co. Ltd., Japan
David Wong, First Ferry, Hong Kong
Young Ryeol Joo,
Samsung Heavy Ind. Co. Ltd., Korea
SOUTH EAST ASIA
Ramon G. Villordon,
Supercat Fast Ferry Corp., Philippines
SOUTH EUROPE
Tommaso Micangeli, Fincantieri, Italy
Alexander P. Panagopulos,
Superfast Ferries S.A., Greece
Oner Cem Oktay,
Istanbul Deniz Otobusleri, Turkey
Francesco Visimberga,
V.Ships Leisure S.A.M., Monaco
Pierre Denneulin,
Brittany Ferries, France
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CENTRAL EUROPE
Mike Simpson,
Hart, Fenton & Company Ltd., UK
Wolfgang Bühr,
Flensburger Schiffbau, Germany
Christoph Krackhardt,
SIEMENS AG, Germany
Wilco van der Linden,
Wärtsilä Propulsion Netherlands B.V.,
The Netherlands
Günther Becker, KG Seetouristik
GmbH & Co, Germany
NORDIC & BALTIC
Svein Sørensen,
Color Line Marine AS, Norway
Harry Robertsson,
Stena Rederi AB, Sweden
Asbjørn Tolo, Fjellstrand, Norway
Håkan Enlund,
Aker Finnyards Oy, Finland
Stefan Gordin,
Marioff Corporation Oy, Finland
Anders Ørgård Hansen,
Ole Steen Knudsen A/S, Denmark
Fredrik Johansson, Tillberg Design
AB, Sweden
AMERICA & CANADA
C. Mitchell McLean,
Bay Ferries Ltd., Canada
Trafford Taylor,
Manta Nautical Corp., Canada
Observer
Len Roueche, INTERFERRY, Canada
Secretary
Mads Magnussen,
DNV Høvik, Norway

THE NAVAL SURFACE CRAFT
TECHNICAL COMMITTEE
Chairman
Jan Henrik Eriksen, DNV Norway
Vice Chairman
Marnix Krikke, Defence Material
Organisation, The Netherlands
Members – Navies
Rijo Carola, Portuguese Navy
Torstein Krabbedal,
Norwegian Defence Material
Certification Authority
Klaus Sørensen,
Defence Material Service Denmark
Kwah Peng San,
Republic of Singapore Navy
Kevin Watson, South African Navy
Mikael Wendel, Royal Swedish Navy
Steve Marshall, UK MoD
Philippe Cauneau,
Ministry of Defence/DGA, France
Michael Mechanicos,
Royal Australian Navy
Sergio Simone, Italian Navy
Jean-Paul Marcel, The Belgian Navy
Members – Yards
Stefano Ferraris, Fincantieri, Italy
Chris A. Hicks, Northrop Grumman
Ship Systems, USA
Francisco Vilchez, Navantia, Spain
Nick Pattison, VT Shipbuilding, UK
Emídio Veloso,
Arsenal do Alfeite, Portugal
Klaus Bruckmann, ThyssenKrupp
Marine Systems, Germany
Nere G. Skomedal,
Umoe Mandal, Norway
John Nilsson, Kockums AB, Sweden
Ching Eng Tan,
Singapore Technologies Marine
Robert Viergever, Royal Schelde
Shipbuilding, The Netherlands
Secretary
Magnar Eide, DNV Norway
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THE CYPRUS TECHNICAL
COMMITTEE
Chairman
R. Thompson, Unicom Management
Services (Cyprus) Ltd.
Vice Chairman
Capt. D. Price, V. Ships Ltd.
Members
C. Christofides,
Admibros Ship Management Ltd.
Capt. A. Cohen,
Antares Shipping Co. Ltd.
E. Bucknall,
Columbia Shipmanagement Ltd.
A. Josephides,
Cyprus Shipping Council
Capt. A. Constantinou,
Department of Merchant Shipping
P. Waller,
Dobson Fleet Management Ltd.
P. Hunter,
Dobson Fleet Management Ltd.
Arthur McWhinnie,
Hanseatic Shipping Co. Ltd.
William Garbutt,
Hanseatic Shipping Co. Ltd.
Capt. J. Lissow,
Interorient Navigation Co. Ltd.
A. Brown,
Interorient Navigation Co. Ltd.
Capt. E. Adami,
Intership Navigation Co. Ltd.
Z. Siokouros,
Louis Ship Management Ltd.
Capt. J. Josephides,
Marlow Navigation Co. Ltd.
Capt. E. Koch, Oesterreichischer
Lloyd Ship Management (Cyprus) Ltd.
E. Derlagen, Reederei “Nord”
Klaus E. Oldendorff Ltd.
S. Boeros, Reederei “Nord”
Klaus E. Oldendorff Ltd.
L. Papazoglou,
Synergy Marine Limited
V. Puri, Synergy Marine Limited
O. Kalinin, Unicom Management
Services (Cyprus) Ltd.
Secretary
Abhijit Das, DNV

THE GREEK TECHNICAL
COMMITTEE
Chairman
S. Hatzigrigoris,
Kristen Navigation Inc.
Vice Chairman
C. Tseretopoulos,
Thenamaris Ships Management Inc.
Members
N. Maroulis,
Alpha Tankers & Freighters Int.
P. Labrinakos,
Alpha Tankers & Freighters Int.
L. Zissimatos,
Anangel Maritime Services Inc.
A. Xanthinakis,
Arcadia Shipmanagement Co. Ltd.
H. Giantzikis,
Arcadia Shipmanagement Co. Ltd.
S. Digenis
S. Mavrelos,
Capital Shipmanagement Corp.
G. Poularas, Bernhard Schulte (Hellas)
C. Vlachos, Consolidated Marine
Management Inc.
A. Valmas, Enesel S.A.
S. Bourboulis, Euronav Ship
Management (Hellas) Ltd.
H. Prokopakis,
Danaos Shipping Co. Ltd.
S. Tsonakis,
Eastern Mediterranean Maritime Ltd.
G. Sarris,
Enterprises Shipping & Trading S.A.
A. Vlassakis,
European Navigation Inc.
P. Perakis,
Fairsky Shipping & Trading S.A.

A. Faraklas,
Chartworld Shipping Corp.
C. Andreadis,
Golden Union Shipping Co. S.A.
S. Kotronis,
Gulf Marine Management SA
H. Vlachodimitris,
Halkidon Shipping Corp.
P. Koutris, Kristen Marine S.A.
S. Klimis,
Kyklades Maritime Corporation
C. Lympritis,
Laskaridis Shipping Co. Ltd.
T. Eleftheriou,
Marine Management Services M.O.
S. Daniolos, Minerva Marine Inc.
M. Vassilikos, Neptun Lines Shipping
and Managing Enterprises S.A.
A. Apostolou,
Quintana Management LLC
G. Laou,
Transmed Shipping and Trading S.A.
M. Adamis,
OSG Ship Management (GR) Ltd.
A. Spyrantis, Sun Enterprises Ltd.
J. Skoutas, Superfast Ferries S.A.
G. Goumopoulos,
Top Tanker Management Inc.
Y. Drossos,
Tsakos Shipping & Trading S.A.
Secretary
Nikolaos Boussounis, DNV

THE JAPANESE TECHNICAL
COMMITTEE
Chairman
Prof. Dr. Tetsuya Yao,
Osaka University
Members
Prof. Dr. Toichi Fukasawa,
Kanazawa Institute of Technology
Shiro Imai, Nippon Steel Corporation
Takeshi Kamada,
Shin-Kurushima Dockyard Co., Ltd.
Saburo Kawachi,
Sumitomo Heavy Industries Marine &
Engineering Co., Ltd.
Katsumi Kawaichi, Mitsubishi Heavy
Industries, Ltd., Nagasaki Shipyard &
Machinery Works
Akira Kuramoto,
Tsuneishi Corporation
Yoshitaka Maeno,
Sanoyas Hishino Meisho Corporation
Shigehiro Mori,
Oshima Shipbuilding Co., Ltd.
Yoshiyuki Nakajima,
IHI Marine United Inc.
Goro Nishiyama,
Kawasaki Shipbuilding Corporation
Katsuyoshi Nishimura, Mitsui
Engineering & Shipbuilding Co., Ltd.
Hirofumi Morikawa, Kobe Steel, Ltd.
Prof. Emeritus, Dr. Masahiro
Toyosada, Kyushu University
Kohta Shibasaki,
Universal Shipbuilding Corporation
Prof. Masahiko Fujikubo,
Hiroshima University

THE JAPANESE OWNERS’
TECHNICAL COMMITTEE
Chairman
Makoto Taniguchi,
M.O. Ship Tech Inc., Tokyo
Members
Kenji Yokota,
Mitsui O.S.K. Lines, Tokyo
Norio Tsutsumi,
Kawasaki Kisen Kaisha, Ltd., Tokyo
Kazutoshi Sakamoto, “K” Line Ship
Management Co. Ltd., Tokyo
Taizo Yoshida,
Nippon Yusen Kaisha, Tokyo
Tomoyuki Matsubara,
Nippon Yusen Kaisha, Tokyo

THE KOREAN TECHNICAL
COMMITTEE
Members – Yards
S.S. Shin, STX Shipbuilding Co., Ltd.
M.S. Koh, STX Shipbuilding Co., Ltd.
Y.M. Lee, Daewoo Shipbuilding &
Marine Engineering Co., Ltd.
I.S. You, Daewoo Shipbuilding &
Marine Engineering Co., Ltd.
M.S. Kim, Daewoo Shipbuilding &
Marine Engineering Co., Ltd.
H.S. Bong, Hanjin Heavy Industries &
Construction Co., Ltd.
Y.N. Kim, Hanjin Heavy Industries &
Construction Co., Ltd.
C.H. Lee,
Hyundai Heavy Industries Co., Ltd.
J.S. Kim,
Hyundai Heavy Industries Co., Ltd.
J.K. Ha,
Hyundai Heavy Industries Co., Ltd.
H.J. Kim,
Hyundai Heavy Industries Co., Ltd.
E.S. Kang,
Hyundai Mipo Dockyard Co., Ltd.
C.H. Yoon,
Hyundai Mipo Dockyard Co., Ltd.
C.H. Park,
Samsung Heavy Industries Co., Ltd.
Y.S. Bae,
Samsung Heavy Industries Co., Ltd.
J.Y. Kim,
Samsung Heavy Industries Co., Ltd.
H.S. Shim, Hyundai Samho Heavy
Industries Co., Ltd.
M.S. Lee, Hyundai Samho Heavy
Industries Co., Ltd.
S.S. Jang, Sungdong Shipbuilding &
Marine Engineering Co., Ltd.
Y.H. Nam, SPP Shipbuilding Co., Ltd.
P.D. Sohn, SLS Shipbuilding Co. Ltd.
S.K. Oh, SLS Shipbuilding Co. Ltd.
I.K. Jeon,
Daehan Shipbuilding Co. Ltd.

THE POLISH TECHNICAL
COMMITTEE
Chairman
Leszek Trachimowicz,
Polish Steamship (PZM)
Members
Jerzy Wrobel, Unitrans
Tadeusz Zwierzynski, PGNiG
Jan Paszkowski,
Remontowa Shiprepair Yard
Wlodzimierz Miadowicz,
Polish Baltic Shipping (PZB)
Jerzy Orzechowski, Unity Line Ltd
Jacek Manczak,
H. Cegielski-Poznan S.A.
Prof. Tadeusz Jastrzebski,
Technical University of Szczecin
Prof. Krzysztof Rosochowicz,
Technical University of Gdansk
Bogdan Szczesny,
Euroafrica Shipping Lines Co. Ltd.
Andrzej Buczkowski,
Gdansk Shipyard
Jarle Rasmussen, Vestland Marine
Wlodzimierz Mikstacki, Chipolbrok
Bill Williams,
STAR Reefers Poland Sp. z o.o.
Antonius Voorham, SMT
Shipmanagement & Transport ltd
Jaroslaw Flont, Northern Shipyard
Jacek Tatarowicz,
Szczecin Shipyard Nova
Secretary
John Lyng, DNV

THE GERMAN TECHNICAL
COMMITTEE
Chairman
Prof. Dr.-Ing. Stefan Krüger,
Technische Universität HamburgHarburg
Members
Andreas Amelang

Council, Board of Directors, Committees

Horst-Dieter Spang,
Carsten Rehder Schiffsmakler u.
Reederei GmbH & Co.
Hans Huisman,
E.R. Schiffahrt GmbH & Cie.
Paul A. Thomson,
F.H. Bertling Reederei GmbH
Wolfgang Bühr,
Flensburger Schiffbau-Gesellschaft
mbH & Co. KG
Capt. Richard von Berlepsch,
Hapag Lloyd Container Linie GmbH
Heiko Felderhoff, Harren & Partner
Ship Management GmbH & Co. KG
Jochen Busch, Meyer Werft GmbH
Frank W. Heidrich,
Ocean Shipmanagement GmbH
Oliver Schneider,
Peter Döhle Schiffahrts-KG
Kurt Zisser, Komrowski Befrachtungskontor KG (GmbH & Co.)
Stefan Bülow,
John T. Essberger GmbH & Co. KG
Thorsten Beiler,
Lloyd Werft Bremerhaven GmbH
Alfred Soerensen,
Marlow Shipmanagement
Deutschland GmbH & Co. KG
Capt. M.M. Jolly,
Neu Seeschiffahrt GmbH
Klaus Bruckmann,
Nordseewerke GmbH
Dieter Grundmann,
Oskar Wehr KG (GmbH & Co.)
Harald Schlotfeldt,
Reederei F. Laeisz GmbH
Hartmut Kunst, Reederei Hans
Peterson & Söhne GmbH & Co. KG
Heino Eckerich,
Reederei Stefan Patjens e.K.
Secretary
Jörg Langkabel, DNV

CHINA TECHNICAL
COMMITTEE
NORTH CHINA
Li, Jian Hong, COSCO Group
Li, Xun Ke,
China Oilfield Service Limited (OSL)
Sun, Bo, Dalian Shipbuilding Heavy
Industry Co., Ltd
Chen, Qing, QingDao Beihai
Shipbuilding Heavy Industry Co., Ltd
Li, Tian Bao, Bohai Shipbuilding
Heavy Industry Co., Ltd
He, Rong Guang,
CSSC Bohai Shipyard
Hou, Zhi Ting,
Sea Fortune Shipping(S) Pte.Ltd
Franco Tian, ADANI Shipping
Li, Yu Ping, COSCO Dalian
Wang, Guo Rong, COSCO Bulk
Rui, Shi Liang, Glory Wealth Shipping
Services Co., Ltd

CENTRAL CHINA
Zhou, Jian Neng, Hudong-Zhonghua
Shipbuilding(Group) Co., Ltd
Lu, Jian Wei,
Jiangnan Shipyard(Group) Co., Ltd
Nan, Da Qing,
Jiangnan Shipyard (Group) Co., Ltd
Hui, Ming, Shanghai Shipyard
Ye, Xiao Jian,
China Shipping (Group) Company
Chen, Min Jun, Shanghai
Waigaoqiao Shipbuilding Co., Ltd
Xu, Kai, Nantong COSCO KHI Ship
Engineering Co., Ltd.
John Coffin,
Graig Ship Management Ltd.
Li, Xue Qiang, China Shipping
Container Liners Co., Ltd
Han, Cheng Min,
COSCO Container Lines
Chen, Jian,
China Shipping Development Co.,
Ltd. Tanker Company
Liang, Xiao Lei, Sinopacific
Shipbuilding Group Co., Ltd
Wang, Xing Ru,
COSCO Shipyard Group Co., Ltd
Chen, Qiang, Rongsheng Shipyard
Hu, Jin Gen,
ChengXi Shipyard Co., Ltd
Lee, Tai Kwee,
Keppel Nantong Shipyard Co., Ltd
Hu, An Kang, MARIC
Hu, Jin-Tao, SDARI
Peng, Yong He Lin, Hai,
Nanjing Oil Co.
Ren, Yuan Lin, JiangSu Yanzijiang
Shipbuilding Co., Ltd
Ge, Biao, Nanjing Jinling Shipyard
Yuan, Kai Fei,
New Century Shipbuilding Co., Ltd
SOUTH CHINA & TAIWAN
Han, Guang De, Guangzhou
Shipyard International Co., Ltd.
Li, Yi Wen, China Shipping
Development Co., Ltd. Tramp Co.
David Liu, Yangming Marine
Transport Corporation
F.C. Chang
C.K. Ong, Far Eastern Group U-Ming
Marine Transport Corporation
Stephen Pan,
World-Wide Shipping Agency Ltd
James S.C Tai, OOCL
C.C Liu, Parakou Group
Huang Shao Jie, AMCL
Wang Ko-Hsuan,
China Shipbuilding Corporation
Su, Hsin Chi, TMT Co. Ltd

THE PACIFIC TECHNICAL
COMMITTEE
Chairman
George Jennings,
PLM TEC – Marine Dept.

Vice Chairman
Robert Hedley,
Teekay Shipping (Canada) Ltd.
Members
Dave McMillan, Aker Marine Inc.
Jan Bakke, Barber Moss Ship
Management AS (Sea Launch Corp)
Capt. M. M. Jolly,
Blue Ocean Ship Mgmt.
Charles Leung,
Fairmont Shipping (Canada) Ltd.
Spencer Schilling, Jr.,
Herbert Engineering Corp.
Tom Ward,
International Marine Consultants Ltd.
Mario Ramirez-Gaston, Kristian
Gerhard Jensen Skipsrederi A/S
C.H. Pow,
Oak Maritime (Canada) Inc.
Paul Kung, Pacrim Martec Co.
John Gunnar, Princess Cruises
Robert Allan, Robert Allan Ltd.
Peter Jackson,
Seaspan Ship Management Ltd.
K.H. Lee, Teh-Hu Shipping Ltd.
Jim Lawson,
Transport Canada Pacific Region
USCG representative,
United States Coast Guard
David Koo,
Valles Steamship (Canada) Ltd
Marcus Davidson,
Vancouver Shipyards Ltd.

PASSENGER SHIP TECHNICAL
COMMITTEE MIAMI
Members
Capt. William Wright,
Royal Caribbean Cruises Ltd.
Greg Purdy, Royal Caribbean
International & Celebrity Cruises
Gunnar Bjoern, Royal Caribbean
International & Celebrity Cruises
John Krousouloudis, Celebrity Cruises
Chris Foong, NCL (Bahamas) Ltd.
Minas Myrtidis, NCL (Bahamas) Ltd.
Niklas Peterstam, NCL (Bahamas) Ltd.
Brendan Corrigan,
Carnival Cruise Lines
Capt. Domenico Rognoni,
Carnival Cruise Lines
Fabio DiMarco, Disney Cruise Line

UAE TECHNICAL COMMITTEE
Members
Dhai Hussain,
Abu Dhabi National Oil Company
Mohammed Sulieman,
Abu Dhabi National Oil Company
Zeid A. Zakaria,
Abu Dhabi National Oil Company
Rajendra Bedi,
Abu Dhabi National Tanker Co.
Rolf Ericsson,
Arab Shipbuilding & Repair Yard Co.

Capt. M.A.S. Ansari,
D&K Shipping Ltd.
Debasis Bose, D&K Shipping Ltd.
Lalit Kapoor, Dubai Dry Docks
Yousuf M.A. Kazim,
Dubai Ports Authority
Omar Kalban, E-Marine
David Short, Emirates Marine Services
Yusr H. Sultan,
Emirates National Oil Co. Ltd.
A. Ramamurty,
Emirates Trading Agency
ElRasheed Shamseldin,
Fal Shipping Company Ltd.
Odd Moe,
Gulf Agency Company (Dubai)
Ovijit Roy, Gulf Energy Maritme
Simon Barham,
Gulf Navigation Ship Management
G. K. Venkatsubramanian,
Gulf Navigation Ship Management
Thomas Arakal,
International Tanker Management
K. M. Achaiah,
International Tanker Management
R.S.Panwar,
International Tanker Management
Lars Modin, International Tanker
Management Holding Ltd.
Mahmood G.Abdullah,
Kuwait Oil Tanker Co.
J. Iyer,
Livestock Transport & Trading Co.
Robert Houston,
Mideast Ship Management Ltd.
Abdul Hadi-Juhani,
National Chemical Carriers Ltd.
Samir Bailouni,
National Gas Shipping Co.
A.N.Lodhi,
National Iranian Tanker Co.
Mohammed Odeh,
National Marine Services Co.
Ron Clark, Nico Middle East Ltd.
M. Moghaddamifard,
Oasis Freight Agency (LLC)
Essa Abdullah Yateem, Port Affairs
Capt. Tamer Masoud, Port of Fujairah
Capt. Mousa Murad, Port of Fujairah
Ranjit Singh,
Qatar Shipping Company
Bill Johnstone, Salvage Association
Patrick Cannie,
Scandinavian Underwriters Agency
A. Mansourzadeh,
Simatech Shipping L.L.C.
Brandon Laing,
Swire Pacific Offshore Dubai LLC
Ahmed Younes Abu Taha,
United Arab Shipping Company
Majid Al Sani,
Vela International Marine Ltd.

ADVISORY BOARDS OF DNV INDUSTRY UNITS HOLDING ACCREDITATIONS FROM NATIONAL ACCREDITATION BODIES
ARGENTINA
Chair
Carlos Ríos, Carlos Ríos y Asociados
Members
Hugo Untersander, AACAM
Rómulo Estevarena, CPIN
Eduardo Grasetti
Ricardo Espinosa, ADECUA
Edgardo Devoto, DNV
Julio Martinoli, DNV (Secretary)

AUSTRALIA
Chair
Thomas Vogth-Eriksen, DNV
Members
Chris Winder, University of NSW

Dietrich Schulz, Aymroad Pty Ltd
Mal Beavis, Vesbia Management
Barry Lee, Tyco Industries
Bill Birch,
NZ Chemical Industry Council
Yngve Amundsen, DNV

BELGIUM/
THE NETHERLANDS/
LUXEMBURG (BENELUX)
AND UK/IRELAND
CERTIFICATION COMMITTEE
FOR AQSC
Chair (rotating chairs)
John Darby
Paul van den Heuvel

Members
Arthur Dransfield
Douglas Milne
Jonathan Foot
Gerrit Langelaar
Bert Blom
Ger R. Bosch
Geert Vansteenkiste
Tom Backelin, DNV
Erie Koek

BRAZIL
Chair
Luiz Antônio Abbdalla de Moura
Vice Chair
Maria Antonietta Cervetto

Members
Benedito Carlos Gazzaneo
Marcelo Theoto Rocha
Mauricio Venturin, DNV
Adriano Duarte, DNV (Secretary)

CHINA
Chair
Xiaoyin Guo
Members
Jiansheng Yang
Zhenwei Wu
Hui Zhou
Zhu Jibao
Zhang Hong
Zhongjun Li
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DENMARK
Chair
Jens Peter Høiseth, DNV
Members
Ole Rudkilde, Grundfos A/S
Torkil Vase, Danfos A/S
Carsten Bøg,
Grafisk Arbejdsgiverforening
Christian Overgård, Optiroc
Arne Remmen, Aalborg Universitet
Jesper Løye Hejl, TBI A/S
Rikke Topp Petersen, DNV
Annette Kromann, DNV
COE FOR TYPE APPROVALS
OF WIND TURBINES
(PRODUCT CERTIFICATION
EN 45011/IEC GUIDE 65
ACCREDITATION BY RVA)
Chair
Strange Skriver, Danish Wind Turbine
Owners’ Association
Members
Ole Kjær, Bonus Energy A/S
Jørgen Lemming,
Danish Energy Agency / Risø
John T. Olesen/Ole Sønderby,
Vestas Wind Systems A/S
Frank A. Olsen/Leo E. Jensen,
DONG A/S
Henk Kouwenhoven, NUON
Truels Kjær, Codan Forsikring
DNV GLOBAL WIND ENERGY
COMMITTEE
Chair
Huub den Rooijen, Shell Wind Energy
Members
Steve Ackon, E.ON Energy UK
Georg Barton, E.ON Energy Germany
Thorsten Fastenau,
Plambeck Neue Energie
Michael Hannibal,
Siemens Wind Power
Peter Hjuler Jensen, Risø
Kim Ahle, DONG Energy
Jim McSorley, BP Alternative Energy
Finn Gunnar Nielsen, Norsk Hydro
Ángeles Santamaria, Iberdrola SA
Tom Sexton, Marsh
Bogislaw von Langenn-Steinkeller,
WPD
Russel D. Young, Vestas Wind System
Bjoern Schilling, Dexia
Niels Møller Jensen, Vattenfall
Elisabeth Tørstad, DNV
Tove Feld, DNV (Secretary)

FINLAND AND BALTIC STATES
COMMITTEE FOR SAFEGUARDING
IMPARTIALITY (ADVISORY BOARD)
Chair
Kimmo Haarala, DNV
Members
Hannu Nilsen
Olle Löfgren
Aniitta Seppänen, Stora Enso Oyj
Markku Nieminen, Okmetic Oyj

FRANCE
Chair
Jacques Mangon, RHF
Members
Alain Loppinet, Ex-Total
Raymond Nyer, RNC Conseil
Serge Roux, Mazars & Guérard
Alain Chassagne, Alstom Power
Pierre Bescond, Ex-Prospace
Jean-Louis Chemin,
Partenaire Environnement
Josiane Creuzet, Agence de l’Eau
Francois du Fou de Kerdaniel, STIIC
Lydie Raveleau-Richet, FM Logistic
Frédéric Herbreteau, TRIGO
Eric Salaün, DNV
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GERMANY/AUSTRIA/
SWITZERLAND
Chair
Dr. Peter Fratz
Members
Jens Schröder, Europipe GmbH
Frank Samuels,
ThyssenKrupp Mannex GmbH
Norbert Manderla
Michael Marggraf, Shell Deutschland
Oil GmbH, Rheinland Raffinerie
Ariane Iffland,
Mannesmannröhren Mülheim GmbH
Dirk Kremkow,
Renk AG, Werk Rheine

HONG KONG
Chair
Wilson K. Tsui
Members
Thomas Lau
T.P. Kwong
T.S. Wan
Chris Lau
Gavin Chau
Franko Lee

INDIA
Chair
Neelkanta Krishna Kumar, DNV
Members
Jayanta Kumar Nanda,
T.P.U.T. Welding India Private Limited,
Mumbai
Ratan Kumar Shah,
Thai Acrylic Fibre Co. Ltd., Mumbai
Subhash Nagindas Shah,
ABB Limited, Maneja
Brij Mohan Kataria,
GKN Sinter Metals Ltd., Pune (retired)
Rajiv Khurana, Triaksha Technologies
Pvt. Ltd., Gurgaon
Rabindra Mukhopadhyay,
HASETRI, Rajasthan
Rashid Kadimi, Allanasons Ltd.,Processed Foods Group, Mumbai
Iyer Balasubramaniam Veera
Raghavan, Perfumatics Chemicals
Exports Pvt. Ltd., Mumbai
Bidyut Kumar Datta,
Bharat Petroleum Corporation
Limited, Mumbai
Sanjay Bahl,
Tata Consultancy Services, New Delhi
Duraiswami Katchapeswara Moorthy,
DNV (Secretary)

ITALY
AQSC CERTIFICATION COMMITTEE
Chair
Giovanni Florio,
FS ITALCERTIFER Scpa
Honorary Chair
Alfredo De Vito
Members
Roberto Ruggeri, ABB
Daniela Vitolo, ABI
Francesco Benedetti, AGI
Livio Antonelli, AIDIC
Giampaolo Albertini,
ALBERTINI S.p.A.
Bruno Maineri, APB
Vincenzo Nuzzolo,
MBDA Italia S.p.A.
Sandro Benini, ANIE
Alessandro D’Ambrosi, ANIEM
Lorenzo Renzulli, AIOP
Andrea Maserati,
ASSINTEL (AXIOMA)
Massimo Ramunni, ASSOCARTA
Bruno Di Franco, Associazione
Nazionale Consulenti Lavoro
Marino Lamperti,
FEDERAZIONE GOMMA PLASTICA
Livio Pascali, ATECAP

Marco Cattabiani,
CONFETRA (Fagioli)
Antonio Gatti,
UNICREDIT BANCA D’IMPRESA
Alberto De Rossi, FEDERACCIAI
(Acciaierie Venete S.p.A.)
Guido Mesolella,
FEDERAZIONE UNION TESSILE
Probo Cecchi, FERRARI S.p.A.
Giuseppe Sassi, FINCANTIERI Cantieri
Navali Italiani S.p.A.
Alfonso De Cristofaro
Luigi Perissich, CSIT
Giovanni Treviso, AISCRIS
Alessandro Verdelli, OICE
Francesco Carraro
AESC/ASSC CERTIFICATION
COMMITTEE
Chair
Alessandro Segale,
Università degli Studi di Milano
Members
Laura Brida, APPA Bolzano
Ezio Dalsass, Assindustria Trento
Andrea Cini, Azienda USL n°5 Pisa
Paolo Scarso Borioli,
FIAT PARTECIPAZIONI S.p.A.
Fabio Iraldo, IEFE - Università Bocconi
Cesare Baldini, ITALGAS S.p.A.
Sergio Malcevschi,
Università degli Studi di Pavia
Pierpaolo Masciocchi,
Confcommercio
Paolo Cesco, FISE Assoambiente
PRODUCT CERTIFICATION
COMMITTEE
Chair
Giovanni Florio,
FS ITALCERTIFER Scpa
Members
Marino Melissano, AltroCONSUMO
Mauro Rivara,
Autostrada dei Fiori S.p.A.
Andrea Artoni, CONAD
Sergio Coletti, Sis Nord S.r.l.
Sergio Dall’Osso,
Coop. Terremerse S.c.a.r.l.
Enrico Fiorani,
TETRA PAK CARTA S.p.A.
Fernando Tateo,
Università di Agraria di Milano

JAPAN
Chair
Hiraku Yanagida, DNV
Members
Shigeru Ueda,
Japan Productivity Center for
Socio-Economic Development
Kaoru Kawabe,
Kawasaki Shipbuilding Corporation,
Kobe Shipyard
Takahiro Seki, Mitsubishi Gas
Chemical Company Inc.
Tsunehisa Takabayashi,
The Furukawa Electric Co., Ltd.
Tsuneo Narumiya,
Asahi Broadcasting Corporation
Etsuko Akiba, Nippon Association of
Consumer Specialists

KOREA
Chair
Ahn, In Kyoon, DNV
Members
Choi, Jae Wook, Korea University
Oh, Boong Sup,
Neville-Clarke Korea Co., Ltd.
Shin, Yong Ho,
Hyundai Merchant Marine Co., Ltd.
Yoon, Seok Choon, CJ Co., Ltd.
Yang, Keun Dae,
KMG Consultancy Co., Ltd.
Kwon, Hyuck Myun,
Korea Occupational Safety and
Health Agency (KOSHA)

Choi, Woan Gyoon, EMS NGO
Yang, In-Mog, Ecosian Co., Ltd.
Shim, Tae Kyu, DNV

NORWAY
Chair
Ørnulf Tvedt
Members
Hilde Ranheim
Sverre Nielsen
Jan-Henry Hansen
Torill F. Tandberg
Viktor Berg
Gunnar Sem, DNV

SPAIN
Chair
Luis Gutièrrez de Soto, DNV
Members
Buenaventura Guamis,
Universidad Autónoma de Barcelona
Luis Cañada Vicinay, Vicinay Cadenas
Anna Riera,
Unió Catalana d’Hospitals
Carme Sabater, Coordinadora
d’Usuaris de la Sanitat i Consum
Dolors Masoliver,
Generalitat de Catalunya
Francesc Fransi,
Generalitat de Catalunya
Francesc Baldrich, Grupo Bonmacor
Lars Appel, DNV (Secretary)

SWEDEN
Chair
Staffan Arve, DNV
Members
Dan Wiklund, NCC
Leif Trogen, Svenska Bankföreningen
Åsa Bergström, Recip AB
Anders Johnson, Naturvårdsverket
Anders Wetterling,
Stora Enso Nymölla AB
Jimmy Nilsson, DNV
Anders Wingqvist, DNV

TAIWAN
Chair
Yu, Shuh Woei
Members
Lee, George
Chou, Steven
Yang, C.H.
Lin, Chun-Nan

USA
Chair
Larry Montano, Chevron Phillips
Chemical Company LP
Members
Paul Donnelly, Baker Atlas/INTEQ
Jim Hudson, Bechtel Corporation
R.A. Maddocks, Lockhead Martin
Space Mission Systems & Services
Ted Mercer, Grant Prideco

Management teams and senior managers

Management teams and senior managers
EXECUTIVE BOARD
Henrik O. Madsen
Tor E. Svensen
Peter Bjerager
Remi Eriksen
Annie Combelles
Jostein Furnes
Cecilie B. Heuch

CEO’S OFFICE
Tore Høifødt, Communications
Sven Mollekleiv,
Relations and CSR
Sverre Alvik, Professional Assistant

Odd P. Torset,
Nordic and Baltic
Bjørn Kj. Haugland,
Greater China

MARITIME UNITS
Espen Cramer,
Maritime Solutions
Tore Morten Wetterhus,
DNV Petroleum Services
Jon Rysst,
Maritime Technology and Production
Centre

DNV INDUSTRY
CORPORATE UNITS
Corporate HR and SHE
Cecilie B. Heuch, CHROO
Einar Venold
Magne Berg, SHE & People Processes
Yngvar Sjoner, Org. Man. Dev.
Corporate Finance
Jostein Furnes, CFO
Lars Erik Luthman, Corp. Controller
Cato Rindal, CIO
Torolf Aadnesen, Investm./Real Est.
Amund W. Skou, Legal
Gro Hilde Kind, Audit

DNV MARITIME
Management Group
Tor E. Svensen, COO
Per Marius Berrefjord,
Strategy & Business Development
Karl Mathiesen,
Planning & Review
Wilhelm Magelssen,
Marketing & Business Relations
Olav Nortun,
Technical Director &
Quality Management
Gunnar Rostad,
Human Resource & Organization
Regional Managers
Trond Hodne, Japan
Blaine Collins,
North and South America
Eivind Grøstad, Middle East
Helge Kjeøy, South East Asia and
Australia/NZ
Ioannis Kourmatzis,
Southern Europe
Paal Johansen, Korea
Jörg Beiler,
Northern Europe and Africa

Peter Bjerager, COO
Thormod Fjell, Finance
Kari Sunde, Human Resources
Renato Grottola, Market
Jahn Henry Løvaas,
Industries & Services
Lars Henrik Brockhoff, Management
Systems Certification
Luc Larmuseau,
Climate Change Services
Directors of Operations
Peer Christian Anderssen, Norway
Aad van den Bos (acting),
North & West Europe
Rune Torhaug,
Central & South Europe
Richard Stolk,
North & Central America
Mauricio Venturin,
South America
Thomas Vogth-Eriksen,
Asia & Australia
Neelkanta Krishna Kumar,
India & Middle East

DNV ENERGY
Remi Eriksen, COO
Kjell Einar Eriksson,
Services and Technology
Development
David Walker,
Business Development
Lars Kjønø, Finance
Jørn Lunde, HR and SHE&Q
Directors of Operations
Jose Paulo Pontes,
Americas and West Africa
Magne Tørhaug,
Nordic and Eurasia
Hari Vamadevan,
Europe and North Africa

Einar Tore Moe,
Asia and Middle East
Carl Arne Carlsen,
Offshore Classification
Elisabeth Heggelund Tørstad,
Cleaner Energy and Utilities

DNV IT GLOBAL SERVICES
Annie Combelles, COO
David Sutcliffe, Finance
Patrick Demont,
Human Resources
Alain Bloch, Global Sales
Kenneth Vareide,
Business Development Maritime
& Energy
Directors of Operations
Sophie Balous, France
Siegfried Raschke, Germany
Johan den Biggelaar,
The Netherlands
Nicolas Martin-Vivaldi, Sweden

INDEPENDENT BUSINESS UNITS
Elisabeth Harstad,
DNV Research & Innovation
Elling Rishoff, DNV Software

SENIOR VICE PRESIDENTS
Torolf Aadnesen
Tom Backelin
Pål Gudmund Bergan
Per Marius Berrefjord
Peter Bjerager
Paul Stewart Campbell
Carl Arne Carlsen
Remi Eriksen
Jostein Furnes
Eivind Grøstad
Elisabeth Harstad
Tore Høifødt
Ioannis Kourmatzis
Kåre Kristoffersen
John Lyng
Jahn Henry Løvaas
Henrik O. Madsen
Wilhelm Magelssen
Sven Mollekleiv
Olav Nortun
Jose Paulo Pontes
Gunnar Rostad
Jon Rysst
Gudmundur Sigurthorsson
Amund W. Skou
Wiggo Smeby
Tor Egil Svensen

Odd Per Torset
Magne Tørhaug
Kristen Ulveseter
Andrew Westwood

VICE PRESIDENTS
Patrick Adamcik
Torger Baardseth
Henrik Bach
Joerg Beiler
Nikolaos Boussounis
Einar Brubakk
Blaine E Collins
Annie Combelles
Yehuda A Dror
Knut A. Døhlie
Aage Andreas Enghaug
Haakon Eriksen
Kjell E. Eriksson
Svein Flogeland
Renato Grottola
Luis Gutierrez de Soto
Bjørn Kj. Haugland
Bjørgulf Haukelid
Cecilie B. Heuch
Jan Einar Horne
Sangem Hsu
Helge Kjeøy
Lars Kjønø
Jan V. Koren
Oddmund Kvernvold
Michael Lavidas
Inge Lotsberg
Edvard Lysne
Einar Tore Moe
Vittore Marangon
Luiz F. Oliveira
Eric Douglas Pape
Ole T. Rengård
Elling Rishoff
Magne A. Røe
Odd G. Tonby
Einar O. Venold
Thomas Vogth-Eriksen
David Walker
Karl Morten Wiklund
Thor Winther
Erik Østby
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Financial review

Financial review
KEY FIGURES

(Amounts in NOK million)

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

Profitability:

Income statement:
Operating revenue
Depreciation
Operating profit
Net financial income (expenses)
Profit before tax
Profit for the year

8 126
166
873
(1)
872
536

7 297
140
794
31
826
546

6 683
136
750
49
799
528

5 945
116
483
(52)
432
223

5 753
116
582
0
582
402

Fixed assets
Current assets
Total assets

2 120
4 803
6 922

2 027
4 362
6 389

2 026
3 435
5 461

1 637
2 684
4 321

1 888
2 381
4 269

Equity
Provisions and long-term liabilities
Current liabilities

4 492
409
2 021

3 895
536
1 958

3 239
634
1 588

2 699
517
1 105

2 169
980
1 120

Purchase of tangible fixed assets
Working capital
Cash flow

176
2 781
749

112
2 403
710

139
1 847
678

126
1 579
397

130
1 261
485

Number of employees

7 691

6 765

6 095

6 236

5 989

Balance sheet:

Cash flow items, working
capital and investments:

FINANCIAL RATIOS:

10.7%
10.7%
6.6%
14.4%
20.8%

10.9%
11.3%
7.5%
15.3%
23.1%

11.2%
12.0%
7.9%
16.4%
26.9%

8.1%
7.3%
3.8%
11.9%
17.7%

10.1%
10.1%
7.0%
15.2%
29.6%

Liquidity:
Current ratio
Liquidity reserves
Liquidity cover

2.4
2 344
33.1%

2.2
2 032
31.9%

2.2
1 510
26.0%

2.4
999
18.7%

2.1
852
16.9%

64.9%

61.0%

59.3%

62.5%

50.8%

Leverage:
Equity ratio
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Operating margin:
Operating profit x 100/
Operating revenue
Pre-tax profit margin:
Profit before tax x 100/
Operating revenue
Net profit margin:
Profit for the year x 100/
Operating revenue
Return on total assets:
(Operating profit
+ Financial income) x 100/
Average total assets
Return on equity:
Profit before tax x 100/
Average equity
Liquidity:
Cash flow:
Profit before tax
+ Depreciation
– Taxes payable
Current ratio:
Current assets/
Current liabilities

Profitability:
Operating margin
Pre tax profit margin
Net profit margin
Return on total assets
Return on equity

DEFINITION OF RATIOS:

Liquidity reserves:
Cash and bank deposits
+ Short-term financial
investments
Liquidity cover:
Liquidity reserves x 100/
(Total operating expenses
– Depreciation)
Leverage:
Equity ratio:
Equity x 100/ Total assets

Financial review

INCOME STATEMENT

1 January–31 December

(Amounts in NOK million)

STIFTELSEN
DET NORSKE VERITAS

DET NORSKE VERITAS
GROUP

2007

2006

2005

Note

2007

2006

2005

0.4
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

Operating revenue
Sales revenue
Gain on sale of business activities

8 125.6
0.0

7 297.4
0.0

6 474.7
208.5

0.4

0.0

0.0

Total operating revenue

3

8 125.6

7 297.4

6 683.2

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

Operating expenses
Payroll expenses
Depreciation
Write down of goodwill
Other operating expenses

4,6,7
12,13,15
12
5

4 385.0
150.4
15.8
2 701.6

3 850.6
140.2
0.0
2 512.5

3 622.3
136.2
0.0
2 174.2

0.4

0.0

0.0

Operating profit

872.8

794.1

750.5

508.5
(0.8)

50.1
(0.6)

27.9
(0.5)

Financial income and expenses
Financial income
Financial expenses

86.1
(87.1)

112.0
(80.6)

54.0
(5.2)

507.7

49.5

27.4

Net financial income (expenses)

(1.0)

31.4

48.8

508.1

49.5

27.4

Profit before tax

871.8

825.5

799.3

(14.1)

(9.6)

(8.2)

Tax expense

(335.6)

(279.7)

(271.1)

494.0

39.9

19.2

Profit (loss) for the year

536.2

545.8

528.2

Of this minority interests
Of this majority interests

0.0
536.2

0.2
545.6

2.2
526.0

8

10
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BALANCE SHEET

as per 31 December

(Amounts in NOK million)

STIFTELSEN
DET NORSKE VERITAS
2007

2006

2005

DET NORSKE VERITAS
GROUP
ASSETS

Note

2007

2006

2005

10
12
13

130.4
104.6
8.3

198.6
159.7
0.0

273.9
102.8
0.0

0.4
0.0
0.0

3.5
0.0
0.0

4.4
0.0
0.0

Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets
Deferred tax assets
Goodwill
Other intangible assets

0.4

3.5

4.4

Total intangible fixed assets

243.3

358.3

376.7

6.5
0.0

6.8
0.0

6.7
0.0

Tangible fixed assets
Land, buildings and other property
Office equipment, fixtures and fittings

901.7
277.3

884.3
253.7

909.2
253.9

6.5

6.8

6.7

Total tangible fixed assets

15

1 179.0

1 138.0

1 163.1

240.0
0.0
1.4
0.0
0.2

240.0
0.0
1.3
0.0
0.3

240.0
0.0
3.2
0.0
0.3

Financial fixed assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in associates
Long-term shareholdings
Prepaid pension
Other long-term receivables

2
14
16
7
18

0.0
43.7
15.3
372.9
265.3

0.0
27.6
16.2
234.3
252.5

0.0
20.0
20.0
206.2
240.2

241.6

241.6

243.5

Total financial fixed assets

697.2

530.6

486.4

248.5

251.8

254.6

Total fixed assets

2 119.5

2 026.9

2 026.2

1 718.6
660.4
217.4

1 525.5
580.6
225.1

1 364.5
414.0
146.6

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

Current assets
Debtors
Trade debtors
Work in progress
Other debtors

0.0

0.0

0.0

Total debtors

2 596.4

2 331.2

1 925.1

938.6

438.7

390.1

Short-term financial investments

1 528.7

1 303.5

632.7

1.5

2.0

5.2

677.5

727.1

877.0

940.1

440.7

395.3

Total current assets

4 802.6

4 361.8

3 434.8

1 188.6

692.5

649.9

TOTAL ASSETS

6 922.1

6 388.7

5 461.0
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Cash and bank deposits
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BALANCE SHEET

as per 31 December

(Amounts in NOK million)

STIFTELSEN
DET NORSKE VERITAS
2007

2006

DET NORSKE VERITAS
GROUP

2005

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Note

2007

2006

2005

283.5

283.5

283.5

283.5

283.5

283.5

Equity
Paid-in capital
Foundation capital

875.0

381.0

341.1

Retained earnings
Other equity

4 208.5

3 611.2

2 944.3

0.0

0.0

0.0

Minority interests

0.0

0.0

11.4

1 158.5

664.5

624.6

22

4 492.0

3 894.7

3 239.2

7
10

233.9
21.1
153.9

376.2
8.7
150.7

495.2
9.6
129.4

408.9

535.6

634.2

5.6
221.6
285.8
246.3
1 261.9

4.5
213.4
220.1
204.1
1 316.3

0.5
178.9
201.3
195.4
1 011.5

Total equity

0.0
0.0
17.0

0.0
0.0
16.9

0.0
0.0
16.8

Liabilities
Provisions
Pension liabilities
Deferred tax
Other provisions

17.0

16.9

16.8

Total provisions

0.0
0.0
11.1
0.0
2.0

0.0
0.0
8.7
0.0
2.4

0.0
0.0
6.5
0.0
2.0

Current liabilities
Overdrafts
Trade creditors
Tax payable
Public duties payable
Other short-term liabilities

13.1

11.1

8.5

Total current liabilities

2 021.2

1 958.4

1 587.6

30.1

28.0

25.3

Total liabilities

2 430.1

2 494.0

2 221.8

1 188.6

692.5

649.9

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

6 922.1

6 388.7

5 461.0

17

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF STIFTELSEN DET NORSKE VERITAS
Høvik, 17 April 2008

ATLE BERGSHAVEN Chairman

YAN MA

JOHN H. WIIK

NIKSA PADOVAN

C. MAURY DEVINE

TOM RUUD

SILLE GRJOTHEIM

HENRIK O. MADSEN
AUDUN BRANDSÆTER

AXEL C. EITZEN

MARY GRACE ANDERSON

President
and Chief Executive Officer

DNV ANNUAL REPORT 2007

61

Financial review

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

1 January–31 December

(Amounts in NOK million)

STIFTELSEN
DET NORSKE VERITAS

62

2007

2006

2005

508.1
(0.4)
0.0
0.0
(11.1)

49.5
0.0
0.0
0.0
(8.7)

27.4
0.0
0.0
0.0
(6.5)

0.0
2.1

0.0
2.8

0.0
0.5

498.7

43.6

21.4

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.7
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
(0.1)
0.0
0.0
1.9

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.6

0.7

1.8

0.0

DET NORSKE VERITAS
GROUP
2007

2006

2005

871.8
(0.4)
0.0
166.2
(289.1)

825.5
(18.9)
0.0
140.2
(256.1)

799.3
(4.4)
(208.5)
136.2
(256.6)

(264.7)
(146.0)

(296.0)
288.6

(250.6)
322.9

337.8

683.3

538.3

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS
Acquisitions
Divestments
Investments in tangible fixed assets
Sale of tangible fixed assets (sales value)
Currency effects on tangible fixed assets
Change in other investments

(8.5)
0.0
(176.1)
9.9
26.6
(15.2)

(109.7)
0.0
(111.9)
50.8
8.2
(3.8)

(121.3)
216.6
(139.1)
28.3
(6.4)
(6.1)

0.6

Net cash flow from investments

(163.3)

(166.4)

(28.0)

0.0

0.0

CASH FLOW FROM CAPITAL TRANSACTIONS
Change in overdrafts

1.1

4.0

0.5

0.0

0.0

0.0

Net cash flow from capital transactions

1.1

4.0

0.5

498.7
0.7
0.0

43.6
1.8
0.0

21.4
0.6
0.0

LIQUIDITY
Net cash flow from operations
Net cash flow from investments
Net cash flow from capital transactions

337.8
(163.3)
1.1

683.3
(166.4)
4.0

538.3
(28.0)
0.5

499.4

45.4

22.0

Net change in liquidity during the year

175.6

520.9

510.8

440.7

395.3

373.3

Liquidity at 1 January

2 030.6

1 509.7

998.9

940.1

440.7

395.3

Liquidity at 31 December

2 206.2

2 030.6

1 509.7
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CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Profit before tax
Gain/loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets
Gain on divestments
Depreciation
Tax payable
Change in work in progress, trade
debtors and trade creditors
Change in other accruals
Net cash flow from operations
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Notes to the financial statements
1. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the Norwegian Accounting Act of 1998 and generally accepted
accounting principles in Norway.

CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES
The consolidated statements include Stiftelsen Det Norske Veritas
and all companies in which Stiftelsen Det Norske Veritas directly or
indirectly has actual control. The group accounts show Det Norske
Veritas’ consolidated income statement, balance sheet and statement
of cash flow as a single economic entity. Subsidiaries follow the same
accounting principles as the parent company. Intercompany
transactions have been eliminated in the consolidated accounts.
Acquired subsidiaries are reported in the financial statements on the
basis of the parent company’s acquisition cost. The cost of the shares
in the parent company’s books is eliminated against the equity in the
subsidiary at the date of acquisition. The acquisition cost is allocated
by attributing fair values to the identifiable assets and liabilities
acquired. Surplus value in excess of the fair value of identifiable net
assets is reported in the balance sheet as goodwill. Goodwill is
amortised linearly through the income statement over its expected
useful economic life.

and possible amortisation of surplus value caused by the cost of
shares being higher than the acquired share of equity. In the income
statement, the share of profit is stated as financial income/ financial
expenses.
When the Group’s share of a loss exceeds the Group’s investment
in an associate, the amount carried in the Group’s balance sheet is
reduced to zero and further losses are not recognised unless the
Group has an obligation to cover any such loss.
In the parent account, dividends, group contributions and other
distributions are recognised in the same year as they are recognised
in the subsidiary financial statement. If dividends / group contribution
exceed withheld profits after acquisition, the excess amount represents
repayment of invested capital, and the distribution will be deducted
from the recorded value of the acquisition in the balance sheet for
the parent company.

USE OF ESTIMATES
The management has used estimates and assumptions that have
affected assets, liabilities, income, expenses and information on
potential liabilities in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in Norway.

The allocation of costs in a business combination is changed if new
information on the fair value becomes available and is applicable
on the date when control is assumed. The allocation may be altered
until the annual accounts are presented or prior to the expiry of a
12-month period.

REVENUE RECOGNITION AND WORK IN PROGRESS
Revenue from sale of services is recognised according to the
percentage of completion method. Work in progress is recognised
at estimated sales value. Movement in work in progress is included
in operating revenue.

TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN SUBSIDIARIES
When translating the financial statements of the foreign subsidiaries
to Norwegian currency, the items in the income statement are
translated at the average exchange rate for the financial year. Assets
and liabilities in foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value
adjustments, are translated into NOK using the exchange rate
applicable on the balance sheet date. Exchange-rate differences are
recognised in equity.

Revenue from the sale of services is recognised in the income
statement according to the project’s level of completion provided
the outcome of the transaction can be estimated reliably. Progress
is measured as the number of hours spent compared to the total
number of hours estimated. When the outcome of the transaction
cannot be estimated reliably, only revenue equal to the project costs
that have been incurred will be recognised as revenue. The total
estimated loss on a contract will be recognised in the income
statement during the period when it is identified that a project will
generate a loss.

Forward exchange contracts related to hedging of net investments in
foreign subsidiaries are treated as hedging instruments where the
exchange rate differences of the hedging instrument are recognised
in the equity.

SUBSIDIARIES/ ASSOCIATES
Investments in subsidiaries are valued at the cost method in the
parent company accounts. The investment is valued as cost of
acquiring shares in the subsidiary, provided write down is not
required. Write down to fair value is carried out when the reduction
in value is caused by circumstances which may not be regarded as
incidental, and deemed necessary by generally accepted accounting
principles. Write downs are reversed when the cause of the initial
write down is no longer present.
An associate is an entity in which the Group has a significant
influence but does not control the management of its finances
and operations (normally when the Group owns 20–50% of the
company). Investments in associated companies are valued in
accordance with the equity method. The share of profits is based
on profits after tax in the associated company, less internal gains

CLASSIFICATION AND VALUATION OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES
Assets meant for permanent ownership or use are classified as fixed
assets. Other assets are classified as current assets. Receivables to be
paid within one year are always classified as current assets. Shortand long-term liabilities are classified correspondingly.
Current assets are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Short-term debt is recognised at nominal value at time of
establishment.
Fixed assets are valued at cost. However, if a decline in value is
expected not to be temporary, fixed assets are written down to
recoverable amount. Fixed assets with a limited useful economic life
are depreciated in accordance with a linear depreciation plan. Longterm debt is recognised at nominal value at time of establishment.

DEBTORS
Trade receivables and other current receivables are recorded in the
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
balance sheet at nominal value less provisions for doubtful debts.
Provisions for doubtful debts are calculated on the basis of individual
assessments. In addition, for the remainder of accounts receivables
outstanding balances, a general provision is made to cover expected
losses.

FOREIGN CURRENCY
Monetary items denominated in a foreign currency are translated at
the exchange rate at the balance sheet date. Financial instruments,
mainly forward exchange contracts and currency swaps, are used to
hedge all significant items denominated in the most common foreign
currencies. These hedges are included at market value at 31
December.

Intangible assets with an indefinite economic life are tested for
impairment at least once a year, either individually or as a part of
a cash-generating unit.

GOODWILL
The difference between the cost of an acquisition and the fair value
of net identifiable assets on the acquisition date is recognised as
goodwill. For investment in associates, goodwill is included in the
investment’s carrying amount.
Goodwill is recognised at cost in the balance sheet, minus any
accumulated depreciation. Goodwill is amortised linearly through
the income statement over its expected useful economic life.

Realised and unrealised currency effects are included on a net basis
in either other financial income or other financial expenses.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
Research and development costs are expensed when incurred.

Premiums paid for currency and interest rate options are capitalised
and amortised over the life of the contract.

PENSIONS
Pension costs and pension liabilities for the defined benefit plans
are estimated on the basis of linear earnings and assumptions of:
discount rate, projected annual salary adjustments, pension and
other payments from the national insurance fund, expected annual
return on plan assets and actuarial assumptions of deaths, voluntary
resignations etc. Plan assets are valued at fair value and deducted
from net pension liabilities in the balance sheet. Actuarial gains and
losses are recognised directly in the equity.

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS
Financial investments not regarded as long-term are classified as
current assets in the balance sheet. These short-term financial
investments are valued at market value at the balance sheet date
based on a portfolio assessment. Dividends and other distributions
are recognised as other financial income.
Long-term shareholdings where DNV does not exercise significant
influence are recognised at cost. Each investment is written down
to net realisable value if lower than cost.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are capitalised and depreciated over
the estimated useful economic life. Maintenance costs are expensed
as incurred, whereas improvement and upgrading are assigned to
the acquisition cost and depreciated along with the asset. If carrying
value of a non-current asset exceeds the estimated recoverable
amount, the asset is written down to the recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the greater of the net selling price and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets that have been acquired separately are carried at
cost. The costs of intangible assets acquired through an acquisition
are recognised at their fair value in the Group’s opening balance
sheet. Capitalised intangible assets are recognised at cost less any
amortisation and impairment losses.
Internally generated intangible assets are not capitalised but are
expensed as occurred.
The economic life is either definite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with a definite economic life are amortised over their economic
life and tested for impairment if there are any indications. The
amortisation method and period are assessed at least once a year.
Changes to the amortisation method and/or period are accounted
for as a change in estimate.
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TAX
The tax expense in the income statement includes taxes payable and
change in deferred taxes. Deferred taxes are calculated based on the
temporary differences existing between book values and tax values,
together with tax loss carry-forwards at the end of the accounting
period. Tax increasing and tax reducing temporary differences
expected to reverse in the same period are offset and calculated on
a net basis. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent utilisation
of these assets can be justified.
PROVISIONS
A provision is recognised when the Group has an obligation (legal or
self-imposed) as a result of a previous event, it is probable (more
likely than not) that a financial settlement will take place as a result
of this obligation and the size of the amount can be measured reliably.
If the effect is considerable, the provision is calculated by discounting
estimated future cash flows using a discount rate before tax that
reflects the market’s pricing of the time value of money and, if
relevant, risks specifically linked to the obligation.
If Det Norske Veritas Group is involved in litigation, and a claim has
been made, then provisions for these claims are made in the accounts
based on a best estimate of the validity and amount of the claim.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The cash flow statement is presented using the indirect method.
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash, bank deposits and other
short term, highly liquid investments with maturities of three months
or less.
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(Amounts in NOK million)

2. SUBSIDIARIES OF STIFTELSEN DET NORSKE VERITAS
Stiftelsen Det Norske Veritas owns 100% of the shares in Det Norske Veritas Holding AS.
Company

Business office

Share capital

Ownership

Book value

Bærum

240

100%

240.0

Det Norske Veritas Holding AS

Det Norske Veritas Holding AS owns two subsidiaries 100%, Det Norske Veritas AS and Det Norske Veritas Eiendom AS. Det Norske
Veritas AS has 95 subsidiaries. With the exception of some financial transactions, Det Norske Veritas is operating through Det Norske Veritas
Holding AS and its subsidiaries around the world.

3. OPERATING REVENUE
DET NORSKE VERITAS
GROUP
2007

2006

2005

Business area:
Maritime
Energy
Industry
IT Global Services
Other

3 686.5
2 045.8
1 908.9
264.0
220.4

3 169.0
1 759.8
1 900.0
246.5
222.1

2 676.4
1 465.2
2 001.4
140.1
400.1

Total operating revenue

8 125.6

7 297.4

6 683.2

Geographical area:
Nordic countries
Europe and Africa
Asia Pacific
North and South America

2 900.6
2 191.6
2 066.9
966.5

2 572.1
2 044.5
1 738.0
942.8

2 653.3
1 780.1
1 452.4
797.4

Total operating revenue

8 125.6

7 297.4

6 683.2

4. PAYROLL EXPENSES
STIFTELSEN
DET NORSKE VERITAS
2007

2006

2005

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0
0.0

DET NORSKE VERITAS
GROUP
2007

2006

2005

Salaries
Payroll tax
Pension costs
Other contributions

3 276.1
472.7
316.6
319.6

2 895.5
402.2
242.3
310.6

2 713.4
431.0
265.2
212.7

Total payroll expenses

4 385.0

3 850.6

3 622.3

Man years
Total incentive pay for 2007

7 085.0
146.0

5. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
STIFTELSEN
DET NORSKE VERITAS
2007

2006

2005

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

DET NORSKE VERITAS
GROUP
2007

2006

2005

Travel expenses
Hired assistance
ICT and communication expenses
Other expenses

640.0
465.5
243.3
1 352.8

558.0
470.6
223.9
1 260.0

497.2
377.8
208.3
1 090.9

Total other operating expenses

2 701.6

2 512.5

2 174.2
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(Amounts in NOK)

6. REMUNERATION AND LOANS TO PRESIDENT & CEO, EXECUTIVE BOARD, BOARD OF DIRECTORS
ETC.
President & Chief Executive Officer Henrik O. Madsen has an annual base salary of NOK 1 800 000, a functional allowance of NOK 1 100 000,
a pension allowance of NOK 110 000, a housing allowance of NOK 180 000, other benefits of NOK 150 000 and an incentive scheme with a
maximum payment of 10% of his annual base salary.
Madsen has a right to retire at 62 years with a yearly pension equal to 66% of his annual base salary at date of retirement.
Remuneration to the Executive Board for 2007:
Remunerations:
Salary & functional
allowance

Name
Henrik O. Madsen
Tor E. Svensen
Remi Eriksen
Peter Bjerager
Annie Combelles
Jostein Furnes
Cecilie B. Heuch

3
2
1
1
2
1
1

232
418
419
918
107
751
056

098
162
070
374
156
475
474

Housing
allowance
180 000
0
0
240 000
0
0
0

Other
benefits
262
160
173
223
98
242
143

307
636
795
872
355
422
869

Incentive pay
for 2007
136
160
104
46
125
107
68

Pension benefit earned/
cost to DNV

728
020
280
971
123
610
364

1 149
738
226
284
92
413
43

545
517
826
422
002
428
109

Loans to the Executive Board 31 Dec. 2007:
Name

Loans at 31 Dec. 2007:
Loan amount

Henrik O. Madsen
Tor E. Svensen
Remi Eriksen
Peter Bjerager
Annie Combelles
Jostein Furnes
Cecilie B. Heuch

3 571 200
667 000
0
1 961 658
0
2 641 322
0

Interest rate

Repayment
period

Security

2.50%
2.50%

Nov. 2028
Mar. 2028

Mortgage
Mortgage

2.50%

Nov. 2025

Mortgage

2.50%

Jul. 2031

Mortgage

Remuneration to the Board of Directors for 2007:
Name
Atle Bergshaven
C. Maury Devine
Mary Grace Anderson
John H. Wiik
Axel C. Eitzen
Tom Ruud
Audun Brandsæter
Knut Vågnes
Niksa Padovan
Sille Grjotheim
Yan Ma
David McKay (2 meetings)

Fees to the auditors for 2007:
Stiftelsen Det Norske Veritas
Group auditor other Norwegian entities
Group auditor non-Norwegian entities
Other auditors
Total
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Remuneration to the Control Committee for 2007:
Remuneration:
275 000
365 000 *
0 **
145 000
145 000
145 000
145 000
96 667
60 417
60 417
60 417
30 000

Remuneration:

Name
Erling Øverland
Herbjørn Hansson
Georg Scheel

72 000
49 000
49 000

* Including compensation for travel time, NOK 150 000
** NOK 235 000 in normal remuneration and compensation for
travel time have been donated to charity

Statutory audit

Tax consulting services

Other attest services

290 000
1 640 000
6 535 029
3 205 416

961 848
506 102
467 194

68 000

11 670 445

1 935 144

68 000
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(Amounts in NOK million)

7. PENSION COSTS, PLAN ASSETS AND DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION LIABILITIES
Det Norske Veritas has both defined benefit pension plans and contribution pension plans. The defined benefit pension plans are covered
through separate pension funds or through arrangements with insurance companies. The employees’ future pension benefits are based on
the employee’s salary level at the time of retirement and on the number of years of membership. The basis for calculating the pension cost
and the pension liabilities included in the accounts are shown in this note. Contribution to the Group’s pension plans are made in accordance
with common actuarial methods in the country where the pension plan is administered. Total pension costs for 2007 are NOK 316.6 million,
of which pension costs related to the defined benefit pension plans are NOK 168.9 million and pension costs related to the contribution
pension plans are NOK 147.7 million.
The Norwegian companies in the Group are subject to the Norwegian Pension Act. The companies’ pension schemes fulfil the requirements
of the law. Norwegian employees are covered either by the Norwegian contribution pension plan (mainly employees employed after
1 January 2005), or the defined benefit pension plan organised in two Norwegian pension funds (employees employed before 1 January
2005). The pension assets in the two Norwegian pension funds are invested as follows:
31 Dec. 07

31 Dec. 06

31 Dec. 05

Buildings and property
Mutual equity funds and hedge funds
Norwegian bonds and bond funds
Non-Norwegian bonds and bond funds
Bank accounts, other assets and liabilities

217.8
1 206.9
292.0
151.1
1 594.0

203.3
907.8
478.3
308.6
1 409.3

166.2
1 250.5
781.1
473.0
363.7

Total market value of plan assets

3 461.8

3 307.3

3 034.5

161.4

303.5

381.9

Market value of plan assets in Norway

Actual return on plan assets
Funded Norwegian defined
benefit pension plans

Net present value of this year’s pension contribution
Interest expense on pension liabilities
Expected return on plan assets
Payroll tax
Curtailment/pension plan changes
Net pension cost

Other defined benefit
pension plans

2007

2006

2005

2007

2006

2005

130.8
134.8
(165.4)
14.1
0.0

135.1
112.9
(136.6)
15.7
0.0

141.3
125.6
(157.3)
15.5
(15.6)

48.8
49.4
(41.2)
0.0
(2.4)

48.8
44.6
(38.1)
0.0
(33.0)

46.9
43.8
(33.4)
0.6
0.0

114.3

127.1

109.5

54.6

22.3

57.9

Plan assets and pension liabilities:
Funded Norwegian defined
benefit pension plans

Other defined benefit
pension plans

2007

2006

2005

2007

2006

2005

3 461.8
(3 071.2)
(17.7)

3 307.3
(3 038.2)
(34.8)

3 034.5
(2 790.0)
(38.3)

826.0
(1 059.9)
0.0

686.4
(1 062.6)
0.0

596.6
(1 082.3)
(9.5)

Net prepaid pension (liabilities)

372.9

234.3

206.2

(233.9)

(376.2)

(495.2)

Hereof recorded as plan assets
Hereof recorded as pension liabilities

372.9

234.3

206.2
(233.9)

(376.2)

(495.2)

Market value of plan assets
Actuarial present value of pension liabilities
Payroll tax

Effective from 2007, the assumptions for calculation of the pension liabilities in Norway have been changed. The consequence in 2007
is increased pension liabilities of NOK 50 million.
The calculation of the pension liabilities in Norway is based on the following assumptions:
Discount rate
Projected annual salary adjustment
Projected annual increase in pension benefit
Projected annual increase of Norwegian government basis pension
Expected annual return on plan assets

2007

2006

2005

5.0%
4.5%
2.5%
3.5%
5.5%

4.5%
4.0%
2.0%
3.0%
5.0%

4.0%
3.5%
1.5%
2.5%
4.5%

Ordinary retirement age in Det Norske Veritas is 67 years. Some managers and employees are entitled to retire before the age of 67.
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8. FINANCIAL INCOME AND FINANCIAL EXPENSES
STIFTELSEN
DET NORSKE VERITAS

DET NORSKE VERITAS
GROUP

2007

2006

2005

8.2
500.0
0.0
0.3
0.0
0.0
(0.8)

49.7
0.0
0.0
0.4
0.0
0.0
(0.6)

27.9
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
(0.5)

Return on financial investments
Dividend from subsidiaries
Profit from investment in associates
Net interest received from group companies
Other interest received
Currency gains (losses)
Other financial items

507.7

49.5

27.4

Net financial income (expenses)

2007

2006

2005

44.8
0.0
16.1
0.0
23.7
(46.9)
(38.7)

87.7
0.0
7.6
0.0
15.6
(24.1)
(55.4)

35.6
0.0
3.9
0.0
13.2
34.8
(38.7)

(1.0)

31.4

48.8

9. FINANCIAL MARKET RISK
The Group’s main financial market risks are liquidity risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and interest rate risk.
Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its liquidity risk on an ongoing basis. The liquidity planning considers the maturity of both the financial investments and
financial assets (eg accounts receivable, other financial assets) and projected cash flows from operations.
Foreign currency risk
The Group has revenue and expenses in 70 currencies. Of these, five currencies (NOK, EUR, USD, KRW and GBP) make up for approximately
75% of the total revenue. In many currencies DNV has a natural hedge through a balance of revenue and expenses. Major imbalances on the
balance sheet are hedged through forward exchange contracts.
DNV has forward exchange contracts in 22 currencies, totalling a net amount of approx. NOK 1 500 mill. The most important contracts are in
USD (43%), EUR (13%) and GBP (13%).
Credit risk
Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. There are no
significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group. With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group,
which comprise cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale financial investments and certain derivative instruments, the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arises from default of the counter-party, with a maximum exposure equal to the market value of these instruments.
Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s short term financial investments and
forward exchange contracts.
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10. TAX
STIFTELSEN
DET NORSKE VERITAS
2007

2006

2005

11.1
0.0
0.0

8.7
0.0
0.0

6.5
0.0
0.0

11.1

8.7

3.0
0.0

DET NORSKE VERITAS
GROUP
2007

2006

2005

Tax expense consists of:
Norwegian wealth tax
Norwegian income tax
Income tax outside Norway

11.1
53.1
224.9

8.7
48.6
198.8

6.5
128.9
121.1

6.5

Total tax payable

289.1

256.1

256.5

0.9
0.0

1.7
0.0

Change in deferred tax in Norway
Change in deferred tax outside Norway

38.4
8.1

7.6
16.0

(2.9)
17.5

3.0

0.9

1.7

Total change in deferred tax

46.5

23.6

14.6

14.1

9.6

8.2

Tax expense

335.6

279.7

271.1

Tax on profit at 28%
Tax effect of:
Foreign tax exempt branches
Wealth tax
Tax assets not recognised current year
Differences between tax rates in Norway and abroad
Permanent differences

244.1

231.1

223.8

(12.5)
11.1
17.3
15.9
59.7

(11.1)
8.7
23.3
18.6
9.1

(7.0)
6.5
18.6
11.3
17.9

Tax expense

335.6

279.7

271.1

0.2
0.0
0.0
(1.8)

(0.1)
0.0
0.0
(12.0)

(0.2)
0.0
0.0
(15.4)

Net tax-reducing/tax-increasing temporary differences:
Fixed assets
Current assets
Liabilities
Tax loss to be carried forward

(30.5)
22.3
(317.3)
(1.8)

(181.3)
4.2
(418.7)
(12.0)

(217.4)
(3.2)
(466.2)
(25.3)

(1.6)

(12.1)

(15.6)

Basis for deferred tax asset/liability

(327.3)

(607.8)

(712.1)

28%

28%

28%

Tax rates applied

10–43%

10–43%

10–43%

(0.4)

(3.5)

(4.4)

Deferred tax asset

(130.4)

(198.6)

(273.9)

0.0

0.0

0.0

21.1

8.7

9.6

Deferred tax liability
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11. CHANGES IN THE GROUP STRUCTURE

Company

Acquired

Acquisition
Cost

Norwegian Maritime Advisors AS
TÜV Healthcare Inc.

June 2007
July 2007

2.1
18.4

External
revenue incl.
in 2007 acct.
0.0
1.0

12. GOODWILL

Company/ business activity

Goodwill
Cost at 1 Jan.

Accum. depr.
1 Jan.

Reval.
effects

26.2
56.6
26.8
4.0
7.9
47.5
23.9
21.5

(9.7)
(24.2)
(4.9)
(1.6)
(3.5)
(6.3)
(2.8)
(1.8)

Rutherford Holding Ltd (Jardine Group)
CC Technologies Inc.
Tireno Innovations AG
Alpha Miljørådgivning
Primalux Technology
CIBIT B.V.
Echelon Consulting Ltd.
Quality-Laboratories Sweden AB Group
TÜV Healthcare Inc.
Total

214.5

(54.8)

This year’s
additions

This year’s
depr.

(1.5)
(3.2)
(0.6)
0.0
(0.5)
(1.1)
(0.7)
(1.3)
0.1

11.3

(5.3)
(9.9)
(5.4)
(0.8)
(1.4)
(9.3)
(4.6)
(4.1)
(1.1)

(8.7)

11.3

(41.9)

Write
down

Goodwill
31 Dec.

(15.8)

(15.8)

9.7
19.3
15.9
1.6
2.5
30.7
0.0
14.3
10.3
104.6

The goodwill is depreciated linearly over a 5 year period, based on an evaluation of the economic life of the intangible assets.
Due to lower financial results from Echelon Consulting Ltd. than assumed at time of the acquisition, the goodwill value on the balance sheet
has been written down with NOK 15.8 million in 2007.

13. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Company/ intangible assets
Norwegian Maritime Advisors AS – Technology
TÜV Healthcare Inc. – License
Total

Economic
life

This year’s
additions

This year’s
depr.

Book
value

5 years
5 years

2.0
7.1

(0.2)
(0.6)

1.8
6.5

9.1

(0.8)

8.3

14. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES
Det Norske Veritas Holding AS owns 50% of Coor Service Management AS. The investment is recognised in accordance with the equity
method in Det Norske Veritas Group accounts.
Opening balance 1 January 2007
Profit from investment in associates

27.6
16.1

Investment in associates 31 December 2007

43.7
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15. FIXED ASSETS

Cost at 1 January 2007
Revaluation effects
Additions in 2007
Disposals in 2007
Accumulated depreciation at 31 December 2007
Book value at 31 December 2007
Depreciation 2007
Economic life
Depreciation plan

Land, buildings
and other property

Office equipment,
fixtures and fittings

1 295.4
(4.6)
37.7
(0.3)
(426.5)

1 527.2
(15.3)
138.4
(9.2)
(1 363.8)

901.7

277.3

15.5

92.3

20–100 years
Linear

3–10 years
Linear

Det Norske Veritas Eiendom AS has a tenancy agreement with Det Norske Veritas Pension Fund for an office building in Stavanger. In 2007
the rent amounted to NOK 9.2 million. The tenancy agreement is nonterminable for 30 years starting in 1984.
Det Norske Veritas Pension Fund has an option to sell the property to Det Norske Veritas for NOK 147.0 million at the end of the period
(year 2014).

16. LONG-TERM SHAREHOLDINGS
Ownership
Company
Røisheim Eiendom AS
SMB Invest III ASA

4.1%
4.9%

Market
value

Book
value

1.1

0.3
1.1

Shares owned by Stiftelsen Det Norske Veritas
Hua-Eng-Wei International Testing Co.Ltd.
Ship Manoeuvring Simulator Center AS
Vité Inc.
TT Holding AS
SA Isoscope
Marintek AS
Hytrec AS
Kapnord Fond AS
Blade Test Centre AS

1.4
49.0%
34.6%
15.1%
11.3%
10.0%
9.0%
22.0%
4.7%
25.0%

6.8
1.8
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.7
4.6

Shares owned by subsidiaries

13.9

Total long-term shareholdings

15.3

17. OTHER SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES
DET NORSKE VERITAS
GROUP

Advances from customers
Accrued expenses
Accrued holiday allowances
Other short-term liabilities
Total other short-term liabilities

2007

2006

2005

543.3
442.0
220.2
56.4

468.7
597.9
186.9
62.8

291.8
480.1
171.6
68.0

1 261.9

1 316.3

1 011.5
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18. OTHER LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES
DET NORSKE VERITAS
GROUP
2007

2006

2005

Loans to employees
Other long-term receivables

67.4
197.9

64.0
188.5

64.4
175.8

Total other long-term receivables

265.3

252.5

240.2

19. CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS
Det Norske Veritas Holding AS has entered into an agreement for a corporate bank account system with DnB NOR Bank ASA, where most
of DNV’s legal entities participate. The agreement includes an overdraft facility of NOK 50 million.
Det Norske Veritas AS has entered into an agreement for a cash pool system with ABN Amro, where most of DNV’s legal entities in the Euro
countries participate. The agreement includes an overdraft facility of EUR 2.75 million, guaranteed by Det Norske Veritas Holding AS.
Det Norske Veritas AS has entered into an agreement for a cash pool system with Handelsbanken, where all legal entities in Sweden
participate. The agreement includes an overdraft facility of SEK 10 million.
Balances on bank accounts participating in the corporate bank account system/cash pooling systems are considered as internal assets or
liabilities vis-à-vis other DNV participants. For DNV on a consolidated basis, the net total balance of NOK 232.5 million with DnB NOR
Bank ASA, EUR 0.2 million with ABN Amro and SEK 13.2 million with Handelsbanken are included in Cash and bank deposits in the
balance sheet at 31 December.

20. BANK LOANS
Det Norske Veritas Holding AS has an agreement for a NOK 750 million multi-currency revolving credit facility with an international bank
syndicate. The facility expires in January 2009. The facility is undrawn as per year-end 2007.
The credit agreement supporting this facility includes a negative pledge clause, and also restricts Det Norske Veritas’ ability to freely dispose
of main real estate holdings and principal subsidiaries. The credit agreement further requires that DNV on a consolidated basis maintains a
certain minimum level of equity and that the net interest bearing debt does not exceed a set level relative to the equity. DNV was well within
these limits at year-end.

21. GUARANTEES
STIFTELSEN
DET NORSKE VERITAS
2007

2006

2005

0.0

0.0

0.0

DET NORSKE VERITAS
GROUP

Guarantee commitments
not included in the accounts

2007

2006

2005

26.7

18.2

20.6

22. EQUITY

Equity 31 December 2006

Foundation
capital

Other
equity

Stiftelsen
DNV

Subsidiaries of
Stiftelsen DNV

DNV
Group

283.5

381.0

664.5

3 230.2

3 894.7

75.2

75.2

Change in unrecognised net loss defined
benefit pension plans 2007
Tax effect from hedging of net investments
in foreign subsidiaries
Profit for the year
Equity 31 December 2007
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494.0

494.0

(14.1)
42.2

(14.1)
536.2

875.0

1 158.5

3 333.5

4 492.0
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Measuring performance
This annual report presents DNV’s financial, social and environmental performance in line with the Global
Reporting Initiative (GRI) guidelines. Our vision of a global impact for a safe and sustainable future is reflected
throughout the report and particular emphasis has been given to the global challenge involved in climate
change.

The selection of reporting parameters is based on an assessment
of materiality for all GRI indicators. Due regard has been given
to their relevance to DNV and DNV stakeholders. The indicators
reflect both opportunities and challenges for DNV as a professional service provider with the objective of safeguarding life,
property and the environment.

ciples generally accepted in Norway. Information on the accounting principles applied to subsidiaries is given in the notes to the
financial statements. Environmental performance indicators are
limited to five large sites covering approximately 32% of DNV’s
employees. DNV is continuously working to extend this environmental reporting to cover more sites.

DNV’s Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) work adopts a
risk-based approach when prioritising and defining activities to
ensure continuous improvement within focus areas such as corporate governance, ethics, transparency, health, safety and the
environment. These activities are reported upon. This report
also takes into account our reporting commitment to the UN
Global Compact and our communication of progress is integrated with the GRI content index.

The GRI content index shows where you can find information
on the main reporting elements and indicators of the GRI and
the UN Global Compact. In some cases, reference is made to
information that may be found on our web site: www.dnv.com.

DNV has applied the GRI guidelines (G3) in preparing this
annual report. The financial review has been prepared in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting prin-

74

DNV ANNUAL REPORT 2007

APPLICATION LEVEL
DNV has assessed this report against the criteria in the GRI
Application Levels and rates this report at Level C. This application level has been checked by the GRI. The annual financial
statements have been audited by Ernst & Young AS.

Global Reporting Initiative

GRI content index
UN GLOBAL
COMPACT
REFERENCE

G3 DISCLOSURES

PAGE/
COMMENT

STRATEGY AND PROFILE
GC 9

1.1

Statements from CEO and Board of Directors

pgs. 4–11

1.2
2.1–2.9

Description of key impacts, risks, and opportunities
Organisational profile

2.10

Awards received in the reporting period

pgs. 4–11, 16–38
2.1: Front cover
2.2: Fold out cover and pgs. 8–10
2.3: pgs. 65, 69
2.4: Back cover and pg. 64
2.5: Fold out cover and pg. 43
2.6: Fold out cover.
2.7: Fold out cover.
2.8: Fold out cover and pgs. 58–71
2.9: pgs. 69–70
www.dnv.com/news_events/news/
2007/dnvwinsbestinclassdouble.asp

3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5–3.11,
3.13

Reporting period
Date of most recent previous report
Reporting cycle
Contact point for questions regarding the report or its contents
Scope and boundary of report

3.12

Table identifying the location of the Standard
Disclosures in the report

4.1–4.4

Governance, Commitments & engagement

4.5–4.7

Governance, Commitments & engagement –
procedures and processes

4.8

Internally developed statements of mission or values,
codes of conduct, and principles

pg. 2–3
www.dnv.com/moreondnv/profile/
www.dnv.com/moreondnv/csr/

4.11–4.13

Principles, initiatives and associations supported by DNV

4.14–4.15

List of stakeholder groups engaged by the organization

4.11: www.dnv.com/moreondnv/
profile/about_us/she_policy.asp
4.12: pg. 49
4.13: pg. 49
4.14: pgs. 52–56
4.15: www.dnv.com/moreondnv/
profile/

2007
2006
Annual
Back cover
3.5: pg. 74
3.6: pgs. 63 and 65
3.7: pgs. 74–76
3.8: pg. 63
3.9: pg. 63
3.10: pg. 74
3.11: pg. 74
3.13: pg. 74
pgs. 75–76
4.1: pgs. 5, 7, 8, 42, 52–57
4.2: pg. 8
4.3: pg. 8
4.4: pgs. 42 and 51
www.dnv.com/moreondnv/profile/
4.5: pg. 66
4.6: www.dnv.com/moreondnv/
profile/
4.7: see above link

ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
GC 7, GC 9

EC1
EC2

GC 6

EC3
EC7
EC8

Direct economic value generated and distributed
Financial implications and other risks and opportunities
for the organization’s activities due to climate change
Coverage of the organization’s defined benefit plan obligations
Procedures for local hiring and proportion of senior
management hired from the local community
Development and impact of infrastructure investments and
services provided primarily for public benefit

pgs. 58–71
pgs. 13–14
pg. 67
pgs. 40–43
pgs. 38, 49

>
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GRI content index continued
UN GLOBAL
COMPACT
REFERENCE

G3 DISCLOSURES

GC
GC
GC
GC
GC
GC

EN3–EN4
EN16–EN17
EN20
EN22
EN23
EN24

PAGE/
COMMENT

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
8
8
8
8
8
8

GC 8

EN28

Energy consumption
Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions by weight
NOx, SOx, and other significant air emissions by type and weight
Total weight of waste by type and disposal method
Total number and volume of significant spills
Weight of transported, imported, exported, or treated waste
deemed hazardous
Significant fines and non-monetary sanctions

pgs. 46–48
pgs. 46–48
pgs. 46–48
pgs. 46–48
None
pgs. 46–48
No fines

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
LA1
GC 6
GC 3
GC 6

LA2

Total workforce by employment type, employment contract,
and region
Total number and rate of employee turnover by age group,
gender, and region

pg. 43
pg. 43

LA4

Percentage of employees covered by collective bargaining
agreements

30%

LA7

Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days, and
absenteeism, and number of work-related fatalities by region

pgs. 44–45

LA8

Serious diseases - Education, training, counselling, prevention,
and risk-control programs

pg. 44

LA11
LA12
LA13

Skills management and lifelong learning
Performance and career development reviews
Composition of governance bodies and diversity breakdown
of employees

pgs. 41–42
pgs. 41–42
pgs. 41–42, 52–57

HUMAN RIGHTS
GC 2, GC 3

HR5

Operations identified in which the right to exercise freedom
of association and collective bargaining may be at significant
risk and actions taken to support these rights

pg. 42

GC 10

SO2

Percentage and total number of business units analyzed for
risks related to corruption

pg. 50

SO5

Public policy positions and participation in public policy
development and lobbying

pg. 49

SO7

Total number of legal actions for anti-competitive behaviour,
anti-trust, and monopoly practices and their outcomes

None

SO8

Monetary value of significant fines and total number of nonmonetary sanctions for non-compliance with laws and regulations

None

SOCIETY

GC 10

I EC4, EC6, EC 9, LA3, LA5, LA6, LA9, LA10, LA14, SO1, SO3, SO4, SO6, HR2, HR3, HR4, EN5, EN6, EN7, EN18, EN29 and EN30:

Information not compiled for Annual Report 2007.
I EC5, HR1, HR6 – HR 9: Indicators not relevant to DNVs operations.

I EN1, EN2, EN8–EN15, EN19, EN21 and EN25–EN27: DNV is a professional service provider.

These indicators are not considered critical aspects in DNVs Environmental Management System.
I PR1–PR9: DNV is a professional service provider and has not applied the GRI product responsibility indicators to these services.
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“

DNV WORKS TO CONTINUOUSLY DEMONSTRATE RESPONSIBLE
PRACTICES ACCORDING TO THE UN GLOBAL COMPACT PRINCIPLES,
BOTH WITHIN OUR OWN ORGANISATION AND
THOSE OF OUR CUSTOMERS IN REALISING DNV’S PURPOSE
TO SAFEGUARD LIFE, PROPERTY AND THE ENVIRONMENT

”

Henrik O. Madsen, President and CEO
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